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In fiscal 2025, shareholders approved  
the change of the company’s name to

This subtle yet important change retains the iconic name 
recognition, reputation and equity the company has built over  

156 years while reflecting the full breadth of its portfolio.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The papers utilized in the production of this  
Annual Report are all certified for Forest 
Stewardship Council (FSC®) standards, which 
promote environmentally appropriate,  
socially beneficial and economically viable 
management of the world’s forests.  
This annual report was printed at a landfill- 
free, Sustainable Green Printing partnership  
(SGP)-certified facility.

Headquarters
The Campbell’s Company  
1 Campbell Place, Camden, NJ 08103-1799 
(856) 342-4800 • (856) 342-3878 (Fax)

Stock Exchange Listing
The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC  
Ticker Symbol: CPB

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare Trust Company, N.A. 
P.O. Box 43006 
Providence, RI 02940-3006 
1-800-780-3203

Independent Accountants 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Two Commerce Square 
2001 Market Street, Suite 1800 
Philadelphia, PA 19103-7042

Dividends
We have paid dividends since the company became public  
in 1954. Dividends are normally paid quarterly, near the end  
of January, April, July and October.

A dividend reinvestment plan is available to shareholders. For 
information about dividends or the dividend reinvestment 
plan, write to Dividend Reinvestment Plan Agent, The Campbell’s 
Company, P.O. Box 43006, Providence, RI 02940-3006.  
Or call: (781) 575-2723 or 1-800-780-3203.

Publications
For copies of the Annual Report, the SEC Form 10-K or other 
financial information, visit investor.thecampbellscompany.com.

For copies of Campbell’s Corporate Responsibility Report,  
write to Stewart Lindsay, Chief Sustainability Officer  
at csr_feedback@campbells.com.

Information Sources
Inquiries regarding our products may be addressed to 
Campbell’s Consumer Response Center at the Headquarters 
address or call 1-800-257-8443.

Investors and financial analysts may contact Rebecca Gardy, 
Senior Vice President, Chief Investor Relations Officer,  
at the Headquarters address or call (856) 342-6081.

Media and public relations inquiries should be directed  
to James Regan, Director of External Communications,  
at the Headquarters address or call (856) 219-6409.

Communications concerning share transfer, lost certificates, 
dividends and change of address, should be directed  
to Computershare Trust Company, N.A., 1-800-780-3203.

Shareholder Information Service
For the latest quarterly business results or other information 
requests such as dividend dates, shareholder programs  
or product news, visit investor.thecampbellscompany.com.

Campbell’s Brands
Product trademarks owned or licensed by The Campbell’s 
Company and/or its subsidiaries appearing in the narrative text 
of this report are italicized.

Impact. To read our Corporate Responsibility Report  
and learn more about our sustainability strategy, go  
to thecampbellscompany.com/our-impact.

Careers. To explore career opportunities, visit us at: 
careers.thecampbellscompany.com.

On the Web. Visit us at: thecampbellscompany.com 
for company news and information.

Instagram. Follow us: @TheCampbellsCo for stories  
about our company, programs and brands.

LinkedIn. For stories about our company and brands, follow 
us at: Linkedin.com/company/the-campbells-company
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CHAIR’S MESSAGE 

Fiscal 2025 was a landmark year for our company. 
In August 2024, we transferred our stock exchange 
listing to Nasdaq. In doing so, we aligned ourselves 
with some of the most successful and innovative 
companies in the world. This move not only improved 
our visibility among investors but gave us access  
to a broader shareholder base. Nasdaq’s advanced 
technology and analytics provide us with valuable 
insights and enable us to better navigate the evolving 
market environment. 

In November, shareholders approved changing our 
name to The Campbell’s Company, our first  
name change in more than 100 years. The company 
last changed its name in 1922 from Joseph  
Campbell Company to Campbell Soup Company  
to reflect our changing focus from canned fruits  
and vegetables to soup. Our new name reflects  
the full breadth of Campbell’s portfolio today while 
continuing to honor our heritage. 

In December, as part of our succession plan, the Board  
elected Mick Beekhuizen as the 15th President  
and CEO in the company’s distinguished history. 
Mick is an outstanding leader with the skills and 
vision to advance our strategy and build upon our 
track record of results. Since assuming the role,  
Mick has strengthened our operating model and 
leadership team to drive innovation and enhance  
our capabilities to better compete in a dynamic 
operating environment and deliver top-tier results. 

In June, we were deeply saddened by the passing  
of Mary Alice Dorrance Malone, who served on the 
Board since 1990. As a descendant of the company’s  
founder and a significant long-term shareholder,  
her contributions to grow and protect Campbell’s 
legacy were immeasurable. 

Following her passing, the Board elected Mary  
Alice Dorrance Malone, Jr. to succeed her mother  
as a director. Ms. Malone, Jr.’s blend of creative, 
analytical and entrepreneurial experience and her 
deep appreciation of Campbell’s history will be  
an asset to the Board.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like  
to recognize the continued focus and commitment 
demonstrated by all Campbell’s employees during  
this period of dynamic change for the food industry. 
We are also grateful to our customers and suppliers  
for their partnership.

To our shareholders, thank you for your continued 
support. I am confident we have the right team  
and strategy to navigate today’s challenges and 
capture future opportunities. We will remain 
relentless in transforming and evolving this great 
company while creating long-term value.

Keith R. McLoughlin
Chair of the Board
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I am honored to serve as the 15th leader 
in Campbell’s history — a role that 
carries a great responsibility to continue 
the legacy of this iconic company.  
Having helped shape our strategy in my 
previous roles, I am committed  
to building upon our strong foundation. 
With an exceptional team, amazing 
brands and fantastic food, we have  
a clear strategy for consistent, profitable 
growth that will help us deliver today, 
while building for the future.

In fiscal 2025, with resilience and focus, 
we navigated a range of macroeconomic 
issues — including shifting consumer 
behaviors, inflationary pressures and  
a rapidly changing trade and regulatory 
environment. Despite these headwinds, 
we made meaningful progress across 
multiple strategic fronts and continued  
to evolve our operating model for  
long-term success.

Although organic net sales1 declined 1% 
as a result of some of these challenges, 
adjusted earnings before interest  
and taxes1,2 (EBIT) increased 2% primarily 
due to the contribution of the Sovos 
Brands acquisition, while we had lower 
adjusted EBIT in the base business. 
Adjusted earnings per share1,2 (EPS) 
decreased 4%, primarily due to higher 
adjusted net interest expense, partially 
offset by the increase in adjusted 
EBIT. We continued to generate strong 
operating cash flow at $1.1 billion  
and remained focused on returning cash 
to shareholders with $459 million  
in dividends, including a 5% increase  
per share that we announced in  
the second quarter.

Our Meals & Beverages division is 
well-positioned to continue providing 
delicious and convenient offerings 
with excellent value. In March, we 
celebrated the one-year anniversary  
of our acquisition of Sovos Brands  
which included the premium market-
leading pasta sauce Rao’s. The business 
has been fully integrated and was 
accretive to earnings per share ahead  
of expectations. As at-home cooking 
behavior continues in fiscal 2026, we  
are capitalizing on the increased 
demand for our soups, broths and  
sauces and leveraging this trend  
to drive growth across the division.

In our Snacks division, we are confident  
in the strength of our portfolio and our 
long-term growth potential despite short- 
term category softness. We have the right  
team, brands and innovation pipeline 
to return this business to sustainable 
growth over time. We are sharpening  
our focus on our leading brands and have  
implemented a category model to manage  
the business, building on the proven 
success of the model in our Meals & 
Beverages division. We will continue 
to drive successful consumer-led 
innovation where our brands are well 
positioned to win.

To bring it all together and evolve  
with the dynamic operating environment, 
we launched our new Growth Office to 
better leverage our scale. This consumer- 
led, brand-powered and food-obsessed 
team is focused on elevating core 
commercial strengths in consumer 
insights, integrated marketing, innovation  
and revenue growth management to 
drive transformative results and achieve 
top-tier performance.  

Dear shareholders,
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Mick J. Beekhuizen 
President and Chief Executive Officer

We turn the page to fiscal 2026 with  
a strong foundation, a focus on execution 
and a growth mindset. As consumers 
become increasingly intentional in their 
food choices, it is more important than 
ever that we are equally intentional in how  
we engage them. Shifting consumer  
behaviors present us with opportunities, 
and I’m confident that we have  
the right people, the best portfolio and  
a clear strategy.

For 156 years, our company has 
successfully navigated change of all  
kinds, and we will continue to do so — 
leveraging our category leadership and  
innovation capabilities to keep our 
brands at the forefront of consumer 
trends. We will continue to invest  
in our brands, while maintaining a clear  
focus on improving efficiency and 
effectiveness across the organization,  
to drive sustainable, long-term growth.  

Thank you to the entire Campbell’s team, 
the Board, our consumers, customers, 
suppliers and shareholders. We will 
continue to deliver for you.

OUR STRATEGIC PLAN

Deliver for our
CUSTOMERS

Winning 
Execution

Deliver for our
PEOPLE

Top 
Team

Deliver for our
COMMUNITIES

Lasting 
Impact

Deliver for our
SHAREHOLDERS

Top-Tier 
Performance

Deliver for our
CONSUMERS

Best 
Portfolio

1 These amounts are adjusted for certain items not 
considered to be part of the ongoing business.  
For a reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measures, see  
pages 5 and 6. Percent changes are versus prior year.

2 Fiscal 2025 was a 53-week year. The additional week 
is estimated to have contributed 2% each to adjusted 
EBIT and adjusted EPS (or $0.06 per share) to fiscal 
2025 results. 4
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

In 2025, Net earnings attributable to The Campbell’s Company were impacted by the following: costs associated with cost savings and optimization 
initiatives of $125 million ($96 million after tax, or $.32 per share); gains of $11 million ($8 million after tax, or $.03 per share) associated with unrealized mark- 
to-market adjustments on outstanding undesignated commodity hedges; accelerated amortization expense of $20 million ($15 million after tax, or $.05  
per share) related to customer relationship intangible assets due to the loss of certain contract manufacturing customers; $25 million ($34 million after tax, 
or $.11 per share) loss on the sales of the Pop Secret popcorn and noosa yoghurt businesses; certain litigation expenses of $5 million ($5 million after tax,  
or $.02 per share); impairment charges of $176 million ($131 million after tax, or $.44 per share) related to the Snyder’s of Hanover, Late July and Allied brands 
trademarks; insurance recoveries of $1 million ($1 million after tax) related to a cybersecurity incident that was identified in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2023; 
and actuarial losses on pension and postretirement plans of $24 million ($18 million after tax, or $.06 per share).

In 2024, Net earnings attributable to The Campbell’s Company were impacted by the following: costs associated with cost savings and optimization 
initiatives of $109 million ($83 million after tax, or $.28 per share); losses of $22 million ($16 million after tax, or $.05 per share) associated with unrealized 
mark-to-market adjustments on outstanding undesignated commodity hedges; accelerated amortization expense of $27 million ($20 million after tax,  
or $.07 per share) related to customer relationship intangible assets due to the loss of certain contract manufacturing customers; certain litigation expenses 
of $5 million ($5 million after tax, or $.02 per share); impairment charges of $129 million ($98 million after tax, or $.33 per share) related to the Pop Secret  
and Allied brands trademarks; expenses of $3 million ($2 million after tax, or $.01 per share) related to a cybersecurity incident that was identified in the fourth  
quarter of fiscal 2023; actuarial losses on pension and postretirement plans of $33 million ($25 million after tax, or $.08 per share); and costs associated  
with the acquisition of Sovos Brands, Inc. of $128 million ($109 million after tax, or $.36 per share).

Net sales

(dollars  
in millions)

As 
Reported

Impact of 
Currency

Impact of 
Acquisition

2025

(reconciliations continued on opposite page)

$10,253 $17 $(772) $(166) $9,332

Estimated 
Impact of 
53rd Week

Organic 
Net Sales

Impact of 
Divestiture

Organic 
Net Sales

Net Sales,  
As Reported

Organic 
Net Sales

$(179) $9,457

As  
Reported

$9,636 6% (1%)

2025 2024

2024 % Change

$10,253
$3,119
30.4%
$1,124
$602
$2.01

Net sales
Gross profit

Percent of net sales 
Earnings before interest and taxes
Net earnings attributable to The Campbell’s Company

Per share — diluted 

$9,636 
$2,971
30.8%  
$1,000 
$567
$1.89

Net cash provided by operating activities 
Capital expenditures 
 Dividends per share

$1,131 
$426
$1.54

$1,185 
$517 
$1.48

Results of Operations 

 Other Information

RECONCILIATION OF GAAP AND NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES
The following information is provided to reconcile certain non-GAAP financial measures disclosed in the preceding pages to reported sales and earnings 
results. These non-GAAP financial measures are measures of performance not defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and 
should be considered in addition to, not in lieu of, GAAP reported measures. We believe that presenting certain non-GAAP financial measures facilitates 
comparison of our historical operating results and trends in our underlying operating results, and provides transparency on how we evaluate our business. 
For instance, we believe that organic net sales, which exclude the impact of currency, acquisitions, divestitures and the additional week in 2025, are a 
better indicator of our ongoing business performance. We also believe that financial information excluding certain transactions not considered to reflect 
the ongoing operating results improves the comparability of year-to-year earnings results. Consequently, we believe that investors may be able to better 
understand our earnings results if these transactions are excluded from the results. 

Net earnings attributable  
to The Campbell’s Company

Add: Net earnings (loss) attributable 
 to noncontrolling interests

Add: Taxes on earnings

Add: Interest, net

Earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT)

(dollars in millions)

Adjusted EBIT percent change 2025/2024

Net earnings attributable  
to The Campbell’s Company

Add: Net earnings (loss) attributable 
 to noncontrolling interests

Add: Taxes on earnings

Add: Interest, net

Earnings before interest and taxes

(dollars in millions)

Net earnings attributable to The Campbell’s Company, as reported

Costs associated with cost savings and optimization initiatives

Costs associated with acquisition

Commodity mark-to-market losses (gains)

Accelerated amortization

Impairment charges

Certain litigation expenses

Adjusted Net earnings attributable to The Campbell’s Company*

*The sum of per share amounts may not add due to rounding.

Cybersecurity incident costs (recoveries)

Charges associated with divestitures

Pension and postretirement actuarial losses 
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Net earnings attributable  
to The Campbell’s Company

Add: Net earnings (loss) attributable 
 to noncontrolling interests

Add: Taxes on earnings

Add: Interest, net

Earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT)

(dollars in millions)

2025

As 
Reported

$602

-

194

328

$1,124

Costs Associated 
with Cost Savings 
and Optimization

Initiatives

$96

-

29

-

$125

Commodity  
Mark-to-Market 

Gains

$(8)

-

(3)

-

$(11)

Accelerated 
Amortization

$15

-

5

-

$20

Charges 
Associated 

with 
Divestitures

$34

-

(9)

-

$25

Pension and 
Postretirement 
Actuarial Losses

$18

-

6

-

$24

Impairment
Charges

$131

-

45

-

$176

Certain 
Litigation 
Expenses

$5

-

-

-

$5

Cybersecurity 
Incident 

Recoveries

$(1)

-

-

-

$(1)

Adjusted

$892

-

267

328

$1,487

Adjusted EBIT percent change 2025/2024

Net earnings attributable  
to The Campbell’s Company

Add: Net earnings (loss) attributable 
 to noncontrolling interests

Add: Taxes on earnings

Add: Interest, net

Earnings before interest and taxes

As 
Reported(dollars in millions)

Costs Associated 
with Cost Savings 
and Optimization

Initiatives

Costs 
Associated

with 
Acquisition

Commodity  
Mark-to-Market 

Losses
Accelerated 

Amortization

Pension and
Postretirement

Actuarial Losses
Impairment 

Charges
Cybersecurity 
Incident Costs Adjusted

2024

$567 $83 $109$16 $20 $25$98 $2 $925

- - -- - -- - -

190 26 196 7 831 1 288

243 - (2)- - -- - 241

$1,000 $109 $126$22 $27 $33$129 $3 $1,454

2%

Certain 
Litigation 
Expenses

$5

-

-

-

$5

Net earnings attributable to The Campbell’s Company, as reported

Costs associated with cost savings and optimization initiatives

Costs associated with acquisition

Commodity mark-to-market losses (gains)

Accelerated amortization

Impairment charges

Certain litigation expenses

Adjusted Net earnings attributable to The Campbell’s Company*

*The sum of per share amounts may not add due to rounding.

Cybersecurity incident costs (recoveries)

Charges associated with divestitures

Pension and postretirement actuarial losses 

Diluted EPS Impact

2025

$2.01

.32

(.03)

.05

$2.97

.11

.44

-

-

.02

.06

Diluted EPS Impact

2024

$1.89

.36

.05

.07

$3.08

.08

.01

.33

.02

-

2025/2024

EPS % Change

(4%)

.28
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Mick J. Beekhuizen 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

Carrie L. Anderson
Executive Vice President and  
Chief Financial Officer

Charles A. Brawley, III
Executive Vice President, General Counsel  
and Corporate Secretary  

Risa Cretella 
Executive Vice President and President,  
Meals & Beverages

Elizabeth M. Duggan 
Executive Vice President and President,  
Snacks

Janda K. Lukin 
Executive Vice President and  
Chief Growth Officer

Diane Johnson May 
Executive Vice President and  
Chief People and Culture Officer

Daniel L. Poland 
Executive Vice President and Chief  
Enterprise Transformation Officer

Anthony J. Sanzio 
Executive Vice President and  
Chief Communications Officer

Keith R. McLoughlin 
Chair of the Board of The Campbell’s Company  
Former Chief Executive Officer of AB Electrolux

Mick J. Beekhuizen
President and Chief Executive Officer of  
The Campbell’s Company 

Fabiola R. Arredondo 
Managing Partner of Siempre Holdings 

Howard M. Averill 
Former Executive Vice President and  
Chief Financial Officer of Time Warner Inc. 

Bennett Dorrance, Jr. 
Managing Director for the DFE Trust Company 

Maria Teresa (Tessa) Hilado 
Former Executive Vice President and  
Chief Financial Officer of Allergan plc 

Grant H. Hill 
Co-owner and Vice Chairman  
of the Atlanta Hawks 

Sarah Hofstetter 
Chairwoman of Profitero, Ltd.

Marc B. Lautenbach 
Former President and Chief Executive Officer 
of Pitney Bowes Inc. 

Mary Alice Dorrance Malone, Jr.
Founder and Chief Brand Director  
of Malone Souliers

Kurt T. Schmidt 
Former President and Chief Executive Officer 
of Cronos Group Inc. 

Archbold D. van Beuren 
Chairman of Brandywine Trust Group  
and Retired Senior Vice President  
of The Campbell’s Company

BOARD OF DIRECTORS OPERATING COMMITTEE
(as of October 2025) (as of October 2025)
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
Form 10-K

_________________________________________________________________________________

☑ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the Fiscal Year Ended August 3, 2025

or
☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from _______________ to __________________
Commission File Number: 1-3822

THE CAMPBELL'S COMPANY
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

New Jersey 21-0419870
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

1 Campbell Place
Camden, New Jersey 08103-1799

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (856) 342-4800

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of Each Class Trading Symbol Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered

Capital Stock, par value $.0375 CPB The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. þ Yes ☐ No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act. ☐ Yes þ No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and 
(2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. þ Yes ☐ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to
Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was 
required to submit such files). þ Yes ☐ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting 
company or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and 
"emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☑ Accelerated filer ☐
Non-accelerated filer ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐

Emerging growth company ☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying 
with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its 
internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting 
firm that prepared or issued its audit report. ☑

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant 
included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based 
compensation received by any of the registrant's executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). ☐ Yes þ No
Based on the closing price on January 24, 2025 (the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter), the 

aggregate market value of capital stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was approximately $7,566,297,331. There were 297,992,525 
shares of capital stock outstanding as of September 10, 2025. 

Documents Incorporated by Reference
Portions of the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders are incorporated by reference into Part III.
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PART I

This Report contains "forward-looking" statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. 
These forward-looking statements reflect our current expectations regarding our future results of operations, economic 
performance, financial condition and achievements. These forward-looking statements can be identified by words such as 
"anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "plan," "pursue," "strategy," "target," "will" and similar expressions. One 
can also identify forward-looking statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts, and may 
reflect anticipated cost savings or implementation of our strategic plan. These statements reflect our current plans and 
expectations and are based on information currently available to us. They rely on several assumptions regarding future events 
and estimates which could be inaccurate and which are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties. Risks and uncertainties 
include, but are not limited to, those discussed in "Risk Factors" and in the "Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future 
Results" in "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in this Report. Our 
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are presented in 
"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" in this Report. 

Item 1. Business

The Company

Unless otherwise stated, the terms "we," "us," "our" and the "company" refer to The Campbell's Company and its 
consolidated subsidiaries.

�e are a manufacturer and marketer of high-quality, branded food and beverage products. �e organized as a business 
corporation under the laws of New �ersey on November 23, 1922� however, through predecessor organizations, we trace our 
heritage in the food business back to 1�69. Our principal executive offices are in Camden, New �ersey 0�103-1799.

On March 12, 2024, we completed the acquisition of Sovos Brands, Inc. (Sovos Brands) for total purchase consideration of 
�2.�99 billion. For additional information on this acquisition, see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

On May 30, 2023, we completed the sale of our Emerald nuts business. On August 26, 2024, we completed the sale of our 
Pop Secret popcorn business. On February 24, 2025, we completed the sale of our noosa yoghurt business. For additional 
information on the divestitures, see Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our operations, including reportable segments, are described below. Our locations, including manufacturing facilities, 
within each reporting segment are described in Item 2. Properties. 

Reportable Segments

 Our reportable segments are:

• Meals � Beverages, which consists of soup, simple meals and beverages products in retail and foodservice in the U.S. 
and Canada. The segment includes the following products: Campbell’s condensed and ready-to-serve soups� Swanson
broth and stocks� Pacific Foods broth, soups and non-dairy beverages� Prego pasta sauces� Pace Mexican sauces� 
SpaghettiOs pasta� Campbell’s gravies, beans and dinner sauces� Swanson canned poultry� V8 juices and beverages� 
Campbell's tomato juice� and as of March 12, 2024, Rao's pasta sauces, dry pasta, frozen entr�es, frozen pizza and 
soups� Michael Angelo’s frozen entr�es and pasta sauces� and noosa yogurts. The noosa yoghurt business was sold on 
February 24, 2025. The segment also includes snacking products in foodservice and Canada� and 

� Snacks, which consists of Pepperidge Farm cookies, crackers, fresh bakery and frozen products, including Goldfish
crackers, Snyder’s of Hanover pretzels, Lance sandwich crackers, Cape Cod potato chips, Kettle Brand potato chips, 
Late July snacks, Snack Factory pretzel crisps, and other snacking products in retail in the U.S. The segment also 
includes the snacking and meals and beverages retail business in Latin America. The segment also included the results 
of our Pop Secret popcorn business, which was sold on August 26, 2024 and our Emerald nuts business, which was 
sold on May 30, 2023.

 Beginning in 2026, the snacking and meals and beverages retail business in Latin America is managed under our Meals � 
Beverages segment.

�e refer to the following products as our "leadership brands": Campbell's condensed and ready-to-serve soups� Chunky
soups� Swanson broth, stocks and canned poultry� Pacific Foods broth, soups and non-dairy beverages� Prego pasta sauces� 
Pace Mexican sauces� V8 juices and beverages� Rao's pasta sauces, dry pasta, frozen entr�es, frozen pizza and soups� 
Pepperidge Farm cookies, crackers and fresh bakery� Goldfish crackers� Snyder's of Hanover pretzels� Lance sandwich 
crackers� Cape Cod potato chips� Kettle Brand potato chips� Late July snacks� and Snack Factory pretzel crisps.

See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations" for additional information regarding our reportable segments.
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�n�re�ients��������in���n���inis�e���ro�u�ts

The ingredients and packaging materials required for the manufacture of our food and beverage products are purchased 
from various suppliers, substantially all of which are located in �orth America. �e also purchase finished products from 
domestic and international suppliers. Many of these items are subject to price fluctuations from a number of factors, including 
but not limited to geopolitical conflicts, shifting global trade policies (including tariffs and retaliatory measures), import and 
export requirements, product scarcity, demand for raw materials, commodity market speculation, energy costs, currency 
fluctuations, supplier capacities, government-sponsored agricultural programs and other government policy, climate change, 
changes in crop size, cattle cycles, herd and flock disease, crop disease, crop pests, drought and excessive rain, temperature 
extremes and other adverse weather events, water scarcity, scarcity of suitable agricultural land, scarcity of organic ingredients, 
pandemics or other local or global health issues, environmental and other sustainability regulations and other factors that may 
be beyond our control. To help reduce some of this price volatility, we use a combination of purchase orders, short- and long-
term contracts, inventory management practices, alternative sourcing opportunities, supplier collaboration, various commodity 
risk management tools for most of our ingredients and packaging and other cost mitigation efforts, as applicable. Ingredient 
inventories are generally at a peak during the late fall and decline during the winter and spring. Since many ingredients of 
suitable quality are available in sufficient quantities only during certain seasons, we make commitments for the purchase of 
such ingredients in their respective seasons.

During 2025, we experienced some volatility in commodity and supply chain costs, including the costs of labor, raw 
materials, energy, fuel, packaging materials and finished products, with a moderate impact from tariffs in the fourth quarter. �e 
are unable to predict the extent to which tariffs may impact our ability to source ingredients, packaging materials and finished 
products in the future, and certain supply pressures may continue throughout 2026. In 2026, we expect more significant cost 
pressures primarily driven by tariff impacts. �e plan to reduce some of these costs and impacts over time through cost savings 
initiatives, inventory management practices, supplier collaboration, alternative sourcing opportunities, continued supply chain 
productivity initiatives, surgical pricing actions where necessary and other mitigation efforts.

Customers

In most of our markets, sales and merchandising activities are conducted through our own sales force and�or third-party 
brokers and distribution partners. Our products are generally resold to consumers through retail food chains, mass discounters, 
mass merchandisers, club stores, convenience stores, dollar stores, e-commerce and other retail, commercial and non-
commercial establishments. Our Snacks segment has a direct-store-delivery distribution model that uses independent contractor 
distributors. 

Our five largest customers accounted for approximately 4�� of our consolidated net sales in 2025, 2024, and 2023. Our 
largest customer, �al-Mart Stores, Inc. and its affiliates, accounted for approximately 2�� of our consolidated net sales in 
2025 and 22� in 2024 and 2023. �oth of our reportable segments sold products to �al-Mart Stores, Inc. or its affiliates. �o 
other customer accounted for �0� or more of our consolidated net sales.

�r��em�r�s��n���e��no�o��

As of September �0, 2025, we owned over 3,000 trademark registrations and applications in over �50 countries. �e 
believe our trademarks are of material importance to our business. Although the laws vary by jurisdiction, trademarks generally 
remain valid and can be renewed indefinitely as long as they are in use and�or their registrations are properly maintained, and 
they have not become generic. �e believe that our principal brands, including Campbell's, Cape Cod, Chunky, Goldfish, Kettle 
Brand, Lance, Late July, Milano, Pace, Pacific Foods, Pepperidge Farm, Prego, �ao's� Snack Factory, Snyder's of Hanover, 
SpaghettiOs, Swanson, and V8, are protected by trademark law in the major markets where they are used.

Although we own a number of valuable patents, we do not regard any segment of our business as being dependent upon 
any single patent or group of related patents. In addition, we own copyrights, both registered and unregistered, proprietary trade 
secrets, technology, know-how, processes and other intellectual property rights that are not registered.

Competition

�e operate in a highly competitive industry and experience competition in all of our categories. This competition arises 
from numerous competitors of varying sizes across multiple food and beverage categories, and includes producers of private 
label products, as well as other branded food and beverage manufacturers. Private label products are generally sold at lower 
prices than branded products. Competitors market and sell their products through traditional retailers and e-commerce. All of 
these competitors vie for trade merchandising support and consumer dollars. The number of competitors cannot be reliably 
estimated. Our principal areas of competition are brand recognition, taste, nutritional value, price, promotion, innovation, shelf 
space and customer service.
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Capital Expenditures

During 2025, our aggregate capital expenditures were $426 million. �e expect to spend approximately $420 million for 
capital projects in 2026. Major capital projects based on planned spend in 2026 include network optimization for both our 
Meals � �everages and Snacks businesses, information technology projects and wastewater initiatives. �e estimate that 
approximately $35 million of the capital expenditures anticipated during 2026 will be for upgrades to our Napoleon, Ohio 
wastewater treatment facility, with another approximately $20 million for other network wastewater initiatives.

�o�ernment �egulation

The manufacture and sale of consumer food products is highly regulated. In the U.S., our activities are subject to regulation 
by various federal government agencies, including the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), the Department of Agriculture, 
the Federal Trade Commission, the Department of �abor, the Department of Commerce, the Occupational Safety and �ealth 
Administration and the Environmental Protection Agency, as well as various state and local agencies. Our business is also 
regulated by similar agencies outside of the U.S. Additionally, we are subject to food ingredients regulations (including but not 
limited to Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FD�C) colors), labeling and packaging regulations (including but not limited to 
extended producer responsibility (EPR) regulations), data privacy and security regulations, tax and securities regulations, 
import regulations, accounting and reporting standards, and other financial laws and regulations. �e believe that we are in 
compliance with current laws and regulations in all material respects and do not expect that continued compliance with such 
laws and regulations will have a material effect on capital expenditures, earnings or our competitive position.

En�ironmental Matters

Of our $426 million in capital expenditures made during 2025, approximately $26 million were for compliance with 
environmental laws and regulations in the U.S. �e further estimate that approximately $35 million of the capital expenditures 
anticipated during 2026 will be for upgrades to our Napoleon, Ohio wastewater treatment facility, with another approximately 
$20 million for other network wastewater initiatives. Additionally, we anticipate spending approximately $6 million for 
compliance with U.S. environmental laws and regulations during 2026. �e believe that the continued compliance with existing 
environmental laws and regulations (both within the U.S. and elsewhere) will not have a material effect on capital expenditures, 
earnings or our competitive position. In addition, we continue to monitor existing and pending environmental laws and 
regulations within the U.S. and elsewhere relating to climate change, greenhouse gas emissions, energy and sustainability, 
including EPR laws and regulations. �hile the impact of these laws and regulations cannot be predicted with certainty, we do 
not believe that compliance with these laws and regulations will have a material effect on capital expenditures, earnings or our 
competitive position. See Note 1� to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding certain 
environmental matters.

Seasonality

Demand for soup products is seasonal, with the fall and winter months usually accounting for the highest sales volume.
Demand for our other products is generally evenly distributed throughout the year.

Human Capital Management

One of the four pillars of our strategic framework is to build a Top Team. To do this, we are committed to building a 
company where everyone is valued and supported to do their best work. �e believe that our employees are the driving force 
behind our success. Prioritizing attracting, developing and retaining world-class talent and cultivating a culture of belonging 
embodies our purpose, Co��e�ti�� people thro��h �oo� they lo�e� This approach also aligns with our Employee �alue 
Proposition, Make history with Campbell’s, to enhance our focus on building a winning team and culture. In accordance with 
our purpose and Employee �alue Proposition, we have brought together all of our corporate team members from our Snacks 
offices in Charlotte, North Carolina and Norwalk, Connecticut to our headquarters in Camden, New Jersey. This move has 
helped to foster closer collaboration and enhance decision-making, thereby enabling us to execute our business strategy. �e 
have also invested in other work experiences and wellness areas in our field locations. On August 3, 2025, we had 
approximately 13,700 full-time and part-time employees.

�rai�i��� �e�elopme�t a�� ���a�eme�t

�e invest in our employees through training and development programs to support our culture of continuous learning. Our 
developmental programs allow employees to focus on timely and topical development areas including leadership excellence, 
change management and functional capabilities. �e communicate frequently and transparently with our employees through 
regular company-wide and business unit check-ins, and we conduct employee engagement surveys that provide our employees 
with an opportunity to share anonymous feedback with management in a variety of areas including confidence in leadership, 
growth and career opportunities, alignment of work and overall engagement.
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�e provide market-based competitive compensation through our salary, annual incentive and long-term incentive 
programs, and a robust benefits package that promotes the overall well-being of our employees. �e provide a variety of 
resources and services to help our employees plan for retirement and provide a 4�1(k) plan with immediate vesting. �e 
benchmark and establish compensation structures based on competitive market data. Individual pay is based on various factors 
such as an employee's role, experience, job location and contributions. Performance discussions for salaried employees are 
conducted throughout the year to assess contributions and inform individual development plans. 

Our employees' health, safety and well-being are our top priorities. �e promote a strong culture of safety and prioritize 
keeping all our employees, contractors and visitors safe. To accomplish this, we employ comprehensive health, safety and 
environment management policies and standards throughout the organization. In addition, we strive to continuously improve 
our work processes, tools and metrics to reduce workplace injuries and enhance safety. 

�e provide a workplace that develops, supports and motivates our people. Our �ays to �ell-being Strategy provides 
information, education tools and resources to drive engagement and to help support our employees' physical, financial, 
professional, social and emotional well-being. As part of this focus on well-being, we emphasize the need for our employees to 
embrace healthy lifestyles and we offer a variety of wellness education opportunities for our employees. �e continue to 
modernize our workspaces and have a hybrid work policy to allow office-based employees to work remotely several days per 
week. 

Websites

Our primary corporate website can be found at www.thecampbellscompany.com. �e make available free of charge at the 
Investors portion of this website (under the ��inancials�SEC �ilings� caption) all of our reports (including amendments) filed 
or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including our annual 
reports on �orm 1�-�, our quarterly reports on �orm 1�-� and our current reports on �orm �-�. These reports are made 
available on the website as soon as reasonably practicable after their filing with, or furnishing to, the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC).

All websites appearing in this Annual Report on �orm 1�-� are inactive textual references only, and the information in, or 
accessible through, such websites is not incorporated into this Annual Report on �orm 1�-�, or into any of our other filings 
with the SEC.

Item 1A. 

In addition to the factors discussed elsewhere in this Report, the following risks and uncertainties could have a material 
adverse affect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Although the risks are organized and described 
separately, many of the risks are interrelated. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently 
deem immaterial also may impair our business operations and financial condition. 

�usiness and �perational �is�s

Deterioration of global macroeconomic conditions, including economic recession or slow growth or periods of higher 
inflation in �e� mar�ets ma� ad�ersel� affect consumer spending and demand for our products.

�lobal macroeconomic conditions can be uncertain and volatile. �e have in the past been, and may continue to be, 
adversely affected by changes in global macroeconomic conditions, including geopolitical conflicts, global supply chain 
challenges (including imposed and threatened tariffs by the U.S. and reciprocal tariffs by its trading partners), inflation, 
consumer spending patterns, recession, rising interest rates, energy availability and costs, labor shortages, pandemics or other 
local or global health issues. �olatility in financial markets and deterioration of global macroeconomic conditions could impact 
our business and results of operations in a number of ways, including but not limited to, the following:

� higher commodity prices and other increased input costs could continue due to supply chain shortages or supply chain 
disruptions, which may not be sufficiently mitigated�

� the scope, timing and duration of tariffs on imports and exports and any retaliatory measures on U.S. goods remain 
uncertain and could impact our business�

� the failure of third parties on which we rely, including but not limited to, those that supply our packaging, ingredients, 
equipment and other necessary operating materials, contract manufacturers and independent contractors, to meet their 
obligations to us, or significant disruptions in their ability to do so�

� a shift in consumer spending during periods of economic uncertainty or inflation that could result in consumers 
purchasing private label or other lower price products�
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� a change in demand for or availability of our products, as a result of retailers, distributors, or carriers modifying their 
inventory, fulfillment or shipping practices� 

� a disruption to our distribution capabilities or our distribution channels, including those of our suppliers, contract 
manufacturers, logistics service providers or independent distributors� and

� future volatility or disruption in the financial markets could negatively impact our liquidity or increase costs of 
borrowing.

These and other impacts of global macroeconomic conditions could also heighten many of the other risk factors discussed 
in this Item 1A, or in other reports we periodically file with the SEC. Our sensitivity to global macroeconomic conditions could 
materially impact our business, results of operations, financial condition, and liquidity.

Changes in global trade policies, including imposed and threatened tariffs by the U.S. and reciprocal tariffs by its 
trading partners, remain uncertain and could impact our financial condition or results of operations.

The current U.S. presidential administration has announced a wide range of tariffs on certain ingredients, inputs and 
imports from many countries, including Canada, Mexico, members of the European Union and the United �ingdom. The 
imposition of such tariffs have resulted in increased costs, including on ingredients, packaging, such as tinplate steel used to 
make cans, and other materials used to produce and distribute our products, and on finished products that we import. �e are 
continuing to monitor the rapidly evolving tariff and global trade policies and are working with our suppliers to mitigate 
potential impacts on our business. The extent and duration of the tariffs and the resulting impact on general economic 
conditions and on our business are uncertain and depend on various factors, such as recent legal challenges to the U.S.'s 
imposition of tariffs, negotiations between the U.S. and affected countries, the responses of other countries or regions, relief 
that may be granted, availability and cost of alternative sources of supply and demand for our products in affected markets. The 
uncertainty of the tariffs, including a potential increase in input costs and decrease in demand for our products, could heighten 
the other risks factors and uncertainties discussed in this Item 1A, or in other reports we periodically file with the SEC, and 
impact our financial condition or results of operations. Furthermore, our competitors may be less exposed to tariff impacts or in 
a better position to mitigate the increased costs of tariffs.

We may not be able to increase prices or sustain price increases to fully offset inflationary pressures on costs, such as 
raw and pac�aging materials, finished products, labor and distribution costs.

As a manufacturer of food and beverage products, we rely on plant labor, distribution resources and raw and packaging 
materials including tomatoes, tomato paste, grains, beef, poultry, dairy, olive oil, vegetable oil, wheat, potatoes and other 
vegetables, steel, aluminum, glass, paper and resin. �e also purchase finished products from domestic and international 
suppliers. Many of these items are subject to price fluctuations from a number of factors, including but not limited to 
geopolitical conflicts, shifting global trade policies (including tariffs and retaliatory measures), import and export requirements, 
product scarcity, demand for raw materials, commodity market speculation, energy costs, currency fluctuations, supplier 
capacities, government-sponsored agricultural programs and other government policy, climate change, changes in crop size, 
cattle cycles, herd and flock disease, crop disease, crop pests, drought and excessive rain, temperature extremes and other 
adverse weather events, water scarcity, scarcity of suitable agricultural land, scarcity of organic ingredients, pandemics or other 
local or global health issues, environmental and other sustainability regulations and other factors that may be beyond our 
control. 

�e try to mitigate some or all cost increases through increases in the selling prices of, or decreases in the packaging sizes 
of, some of our products. �igher product prices or smaller packaging sizes may result in reductions in sales volume. Consumers 
may be less willing to pay a price differential for our branded products and may increasingly purchase private label or other 
lower-priced offerings, or may forego some purchases altogether, during an economic downturn or times of increased 
inflationary pressure. To the extent that price increases or packaging size decreases are not sufficient to offset these increased 
costs adequately or in a timely manner, and�or if they result in significant decreases in sales volume or a shift in sales mix to 
private label or other lower-margin offerings, our business results and financial condition may be adversely affected. 
Furthermore, we may not be able to fully offset cost increases through productivity initiatives or through our commodity 
hedging activity.

During 2025, we experienced some volatility in commodity and supply chain costs, including the costs of labor, raw 
materials, energy, fuel, packaging materials and finished products, with a moderate impact from tariffs in the fourth quarter. In 
202�, we expect more significant cost pressures primarily driven by tariff impacts. �e plan to reduce some of these costs and 
impacts over time through cost savings initiatives, inventory management practices, supplier collaboration, alternative sourcing 
opportunities, continued supply chain productivity initiatives, surgical pricing actions where necessary and other mitigation 
efforts. If we cannot effectively mitigate these costs, our results could be adversely impacted.
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��sr�����n �� ��r s����� ��a�n ����d ad��rs��� a����� ��r b�s�n�ss.

Our ability to manufacture and�or sell our products may be impaired by damage or disruption to our manufacturing, 
warehousing or distribution capabilities, or to the capabilities of our suppliers, contract manufacturers, logistics service 
providers or independent distributors. This damage or disruption could result from execution issues, as well as factors that are 
hard to predict or beyond our control such as changing trade policies, geopolitical conflicts, product or raw material scarcity, 
disruptions in logistics, supplier capacity constraints, increased temperatures due to climate change, water stress, extreme 
weather events, natural disasters, fire, terrorism, pandemics or other local or global health issues, strikes, labor shortages, 
cybersecurity breaches, government shutdowns or other events. Commodity prices continue to be volatile. Production of the 
agricultural commodities used in our business may also be adversely affected by drought and excessive rain, temperature 
extremes and other adverse weather events, water scarcity, scarcity of suitable agricultural land, scarcity of organic ingredients, 
crop size, cattle cycles, herd and flock disease, crop disease and crop pests. Failure to take adequate steps to mitigate the 
likelihood or potential impact of such events, or to effectively manage such events if they occur, may adversely affect our 
business or financial results, particularly in circumstances when a product is sourced from a single supplier or location or 
produced at a single location. For example, the substantial majority of our Rao’s tomato-based sauce products are produced by 
a third-party contract manufacturer at a single facility in Italy and the remainder of our Rao’s tomato-based sauce products are 
produced at a single facility in the U.S. If a dispute arises with such contract manufacturer, or if the contract manufacturer 
experiences financial, operational or other issues, we may be required to make alternative arrangements to produce Rao’s 
tomato-based sauce products, such as assuming manufacturing operations on our own or finding one or more alternative 
contract manufacturing arrangements, which could be costly or time-consuming. In addition, disputes with significant suppliers, 
contract manufacturers, logistics service providers or independent distributors, including disputes regarding pricing, 
performance or production, may also adversely affect our ability to manufacture and�or sell our products, as well as our 
business or financial results.

��r r�s���s �a� b� ad��rs��� a������d b� ��r �nab����� �� �������� �r r�a���� ��� �r������d b�n����s �� a����s����ns� 
d���s����r�s and ����r s�ra����� �ransa����ns. 

�e have historically made strategic acquisitions and divestitures of brands and businesses and we may undertake 
additional acquisitions, divestitures or other strategic transactions in the future. Our ability to meet our objectives with respect 
to acquisitions, divestitures and other strategic transactions may depend, as applicable, on our ability to identify suitable 
acquisition targets, buyers or counterparties� negotiate favorable financial and other contractual terms� obtain all necessary 
regulatory approvals on the terms expected� and complete those transactions. If we are unable to complete acquisitions, 
divestitures or other strategic transactions or successfully integrate and develop acquired businesses or divest existing 
businesses, including, as applicable, the effective management of such activities, we could fail to achieve the anticipated 
synergies, cost savings, or increases in revenues and operating results. Additional risks include the diversion of management 
attention from our existing business or other business concerns, potential loss of key employees, suppliers, or customers from 
the acquired or divested businesses, assumption of unknown risks and liabilities, greater than anticipated operating costs of the 
acquired business, the inability to promptly implement an effective control environment, risks inherent in entering markets or 
lines of business with which we have limited or no prior experience, the inability to separate divested businesses or business 
units effectively and efficiently from our existing business operations, and the inability to reduce or eliminate associated 
overhead costs. Any of these factors, and our inability to complete or realize the projected benefits of future acquisitions, 
divestitures or other strategic transactions, could have a material adverse effect on our business or financial results.

��r �n��������a� �r���r�� r����s ar� �a��ab��� and an� �nab����� �� �r����� ���� ����d r�d��� ��� �a��� �� ��r �r�d���s 
and brands.

�e consider our intellectual property rights, particularly our trademarks, to be a significant and valuable aspect of our 
business. �e protect our intellectual property rights through a combination of trademark, patent, copyright and trade secret 
protection, contractual agreements and policing of third-party misuses of our intellectual property in traditional retail and digital 
environments. Our failure to obtain or adequately protect our intellectual property, including in response to developing artificial 
intelligence technologies, or any change in law that lessens or removes the current legal protections of our intellectual property 
may diminish our competitiveness and adversely affect our business and financial results.

Competing intellectual property claims that impact our brands or products may arise unexpectedly. Any litigation or 
disputes regarding intellectual property may be costly and time-consuming and may divert the attention of our management and 
key personnel from our business operations. �e also may be subject to significant damages or injunctions against development, 
launch and sale of certain products. Any of these occurrences may harm our business and financial results.
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�e have a number of iconic brands with significant value. �aintaining and continually enhancing the value of these brands 
is critical to the success of our business. Brand value is primarily based on consumer perceptions. Success in promoting and 
enhancing brand value depends in large part on our ability to provide high-quality products. Brand value could diminish 
significantly due to a number of factors, including consumer perception that we have acted in an irresponsible manner, adverse 
publicity about our products, packaging, waste management, ingredients, or our environmental, social, human capital or 
governance practices, our failure to maintain the quality of our products, the failure of our products to deliver consistently 
positive consumer experiences, consumer trends emphasizing health and wellness, or the products becoming unavailable to 
consumers. The growing use of social and digital media by consumers increases the speed and extent that information and 
opinions can be shared. Negative posts or comments about us, our brands, products or packaging on social or digital media 
could seriously damage our brands and reputation. In addition, we might fail to appropriately target our marketing efforts, 
anticipate consumer preferences, or invest sufficiently in maintaining our brand image. If we do not maintain the favorable 
perception of our brands, our results could be adversely impacted.

Our information technology systems are critically important to our operations. �e rely on our information technology 
systems (some of which are outsourced to third parties) to manage our data, communications and business processes, including 
our marketing, sales, manufacturing, procurement, supply chain, customer service, accounting and administrative functions and 
the importance of such networks and systems has increased due to an increase in our employees working remotely. If we do not 
obtain and effectively manage the resources and materials necessary to build, sustain and protect appropriate information 
technology systems, our business or financial results could be adversely impacted. Furthermore, our information technology 
systems are subject to attack or other security breaches (including the access to or acquisition of customer, consumer, employee 
or other confidential information), service disruptions or other system failures. If we are unable to prevent or adequately 
respond to and resolve these disruptions, failures or breaches, our operations may be impacted, and we may suffer other adverse 
consequences such as reputational damage, litigation, remediation costs, ransomware payments and�or penalties under various 
data protection laws and regulations.

Cyber threats are constantly evolving, are becoming more frequent and more sophisticated and are being made by groups 
of individuals and state actors with a wide range of expertise and motives. Additionally, continued geopolitical turmoil has 
heightened the risk of cyberattacks. �e have previously experienced threats and breaches to our data and systems and although 
we have not experienced a breach that had a material impact on our operations or business, there can be no assurance that these 
measures will prevent or limit the impact of a future incident. In addition, in the event our suppliers or customers experience a 
breach or system failure, their businesses could be disrupted or otherwise negatively affected, which may result in a disruption 
in our supply chain or reduced customer orders, which would adversely affect our business and financial results. �e have also 
outsourced several information technology support services and administrative functions to third-party service providers, and 
may outsource other functions in the future to achieve cost savings and efficiencies. 

New and emerging technologies, including artificial intelligence, that could result in greater operational efficiency may 
further expose our computer systems to the risk of cyberattacks. Our initiatives to continue to modernize our operations, 
increase data digitalization and improve our production facilities may increase potential exposure to cybersecurity risks and 
increase the complexity of our cybersecurity program. In addition, the rapid evolution and increased adoption of artificial 
intelligence technologies may intensify our cybersecurity risks. �e may incur increased costs in protecting against or 
remediating cyberattacks or other cyber incidents. As cyberattacks increase in frequency and magnitude around the world, we 
may be unable to obtain cybersecurity insurance in the amounts and on the terms we view as appropriate and favorable for our 
operations.

To address the risks to our information technology systems and the associated costs, we maintain an information security 
program that includes updating technology and security policies, cybersecurity insurance, employee awareness training and 
monitoring and routine testing of our information technology systems. �e believe that these preventative and detective actions 
provide adequate measures of protection against security breaches, generally reduce our cybersecurity risks and enhance our 
ability to prevent, detect and respond to disruptive events. Our information security program includes capabilities designed to 
evaluate and mitigate cyber risks arising from third-party service providers. �e believe that these capabilities provide insights 
and visibility to the security posture of our third-party service providers� however, cyber threats to those organizations are 
beyond our control. If these service providers do not perform effectively due to breach or system failure, we may not be able to 
achieve the expected benefits, and our business may be disrupted.
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We may not be able to attract and retain the highly s�illed people we need to support our business.

�e depend on the skills and continued service of key personnel, including our experienced management team. In addition, 
our ability to achieve our strategic and operating goals depends on our ability to identify, hire, train and retain qualified 
individuals, including all levels of skilled labor in our manufacturing facilities. �e also compete with other companies both 
within and outside of our industry for talented personnel, and we may lose key personnel or fail to attract, train and retain other 
talented personnel. Any such loss or failure may adversely affect our business or financial results. In addition, activities related 
to identifying, recruiting, hiring and integrating qualified individuals may require significant time and expense. �e may not be 
able to locate suitable replacements for any key employees who leave, or offer employment to potential replacements on 
reasonable terms, each of which may adversely affect our business and financial results. 

Over the past few years, particularly related to certain segments of manufacturing, we have experienced an increasingly 
competitive labor market. A sustained labor shortage or increased turnover rates within our employee base, as a result of 
general macroeconomic factors, could lead to increased costs, such as increased overtime to meet demand and increased wage 
rates to attract and retain employees, and could negatively affect our ability to efficiently operate our manufacturing and 
distribution facilities and overall business. If we are unable to hire and retain employees capable of performing at a high-level, 
or if mitigation measures we may take to respond to a decrease in labor availability have unintended negative effects, our 
business could be adversely affected.

�f we do not fully reali�e the e�pected cost sa�ings and�or operating efficiencies associated with our strategic initiati�es, 
our profitability could suffer.

Our future success and earnings growth depend in part on our ability to achieve the appropriate cost structure and operate 
efficiently in the highly competitive food industry, particularly in an environment of volatile cost inputs. �e continuously 
pursue initiatives to reduce costs and increase effectiveness. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations - Restructuring Charges, Cost Savings Initiatives and Other Optimization Initiatives" for 
additional information on these initiatives. �e also regularly pursue cost productivity initiatives in procurement, manufacturing 
and logistics. Any failure or delay in implementing our initiatives in accordance with our plans could adversely affect our 
ability to meet our long-term growth and profitability expectations and could adversely affect our business. If we do not 
continue to effectively manage costs and achieve additional efficiencies, our competitiveness and our profitability could 
decrease. 

�ompetiti�e and �ndustry �is�s

We face significant competition in all our product categories, which may result in lower sales and margins.

�e operate in the highly competitive food and beverage industry mainly in the �orth American market and experience 
competition in all of our categories. The principal areas of competition are brand recognition, taste, nutritional value, price, 
promotion, innovation, shelf space and customer service. A number of our primary competitors are larger than us, may be less 
exposed to tariff impacts, and have substantial financial, marketing and other resources, and some of our competitors may 
spend more aggressively on advertising and promotional activities than we do. Attractive pricing, product placement and 
visibility, securing new retailers, and maintaining or increasing shelf space for our products may also affect our ability to 
remain competitive. Even if we obtain our desired product visibility and shelf space, we may not achieve retailers’ sales 
expectations, which could cause these retailers to reduce shelf space for our products. In addition, reduced barriers to entry and 
easier access to funding are creating new competition. A strong competitive response from one or more of these competitors to 
our marketplace efforts, or a continued shift towards private label offerings, particularly during periods of economic uncertainty 
or significant inflation, could result in us reducing prices and�or increasing promotions, increasing marketing or other 
expenditures, each of which may result in lower sales and�or margins. 

Our ability to compete also depends upon our ability to predict, identify, and interpret the tastes and dietary habits of 
consumers and to offer products that appeal to those preferences. There are inherent marketplace risks associated with new 
product or packaging introductions, including uncertainties about trade and consumer acceptance. If we do not succeed in 
offering products that consumers want to buy, our sales and market share will decrease, resulting in reduced profitability. If we 
are unable to accurately predict which shifts in consumer preferences will be long-lasting, or are unable to introduce new and 
improved products to satisfy those preferences, our sales will decline. �eak economic conditions, recessions, significant 
inflation, government regulation (including in the health and wellness space) and other factors, such as pandemics, could affect 
consumer preferences and demand. In addition, given the variety of backgrounds and identities of consumers in our consumer 
base, we must offer a sufficient array of products to satisfy the broad spectrum of consumer preferences. As such, we must be 
successful in developing innovative products across a multitude of product categories. �e must also be able to respond 
successfully to technological advances (including artificial intelligence and machine learning, which may become critical in 
interpreting consumer preferences in the future) and intellectual property rights of our competitors, and failure to do so could 
compromise our competitive position and negatively impact our product sales. Finally, if we fail to rapidly develop products in 
faster-growing and more profitable categories, we could experience reduced demand for our products, or fail to expand 
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margins. 

�e ma� be ad�ersel� impacted b� a chan�in� customer landscape and the increased si�nificance of some of our 
customers.

Our businesses are largely concentrated in the traditional retail grocery trade, which has experienced slower growth than 
other retail channels, such as dollar stores, club stores and e-commerce retailers. �e expect this trend away from traditional 
retail grocery to alternate channels to continue in the future. These alternative retail channels may also create consumer price 
deflation, affecting our retail customer relationships and presenting additional challenges to increasing prices in response to 
commodity or other cost increases. In addition, retailers with increased buying power and negotiating strength are seeking more 
favorable terms, including increased promotional programs and customized products funded by their suppliers. These customers 
may also use more of their shelf space for their private label products, which are generally sold at lower prices than branded 
products. If we are unable to use our scale, marketing, product innovation and category leadership positions to respond to these 
customer dynamics, our business or financial results could be adversely impacted. 

In 2025, our five largest customers accounted for approximately 4�� of our consolidated net sales, with the largest 
customer, �al-�art Stores, Inc. and its affiliates, accounting for approximately 21� of our consolidated net sales. There can be 
no assurance that our largest customers will continue to purchase our products in the same mix or quantities, or on the same 
terms as in the past. Disruption of sales to any of these customers, or to any of our other large customers, for an extended period 
of time could adversely affect our business or financial results.

�inancial and �conomic �is�s

�n impairment of the carr�in� �alue of �oodwill or other indefinite�li�ed intan�ible assets could ad�ersel� affect our 
financial results and net worth.

As of August 3, 2025, we had goodwill of $4.991 billion and other indefinite-lived intangible assets of $3.6�� billion. 
�oodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are initially recorded at fair value and not amortized, but are tested for 
impairment at least annually in the fourth quarter or more frequently if impairment indicators arise. �e test goodwill at the 
reporting unit level by comparing the carrying value of the net assets of the reporting unit, including goodwill, to the unit's fair 
value. Similarly, we test indefinite-lived intangible assets by comparing the fair value of the assets to their carrying values. Fair 
value for both goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets is determined based on discounted cash flow analyses. If the 
carrying values of the reporting unit or indefinite-lived intangible assets exceed their fair value, the goodwill or indefinite-lived 
intangible assets are considered impaired. Factors that could result in an impairment include the impact of tariffs and a change 
in revenue growth rates, operating margins, weighted average cost of capital, future economic and market conditions or 
assumed royalty rates. See �Critical Accounting �stimates� and �ote 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for 
information on impairment charges recognized in 2024 and 2025. If current expectations for growth rates for sales and profits 
are not met, or other market factors and macroeconomic conditions were to change, we may be required in the future to record 
impairment of the carrying value of goodwill or other indefinite-lived intangible assets, which could adversely affect our 
financial results and net worth. 

�e ma� be ad�ersel� impacted b� increased liabilities and costs related to our defined benefit pension plans.

�e sponsor a number of defined benefit pension plans for certain employees in the U.S. and certain non-U.S. locations. 
The major defined benefit pension plans are funded with trust assets invested in a globally diversified portfolio of securities and 
other investments. Changes in regulatory requirements or the market value of plan assets, investment returns, interest rates and 
mortality rates may affect the funded status of our defined benefit pension plans and cause volatility in the net periodic benefit 
cost, future funding requirements of the plans and the funded status as recorded on the balance sheet. A significant increase in 
our obligations, future funding requirements, or net periodic benefit costs could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
results.

�e face ris�s related to inflation� recession� financial mar�et disruptions and other economic conditions.

Customer and consumer demand for our products may be impacted by weak economic conditions, recession, equity market 
volatility or other negative economic factors in the U.S. or other nations. For instance in 2025, the U.S. experienced elevated 
inflationary pressures. In 2026, we may continue to experience elevated inflationary pressures and may not be able to fully 
mitigate the impact of inflation through continued price increases, productivity initiatives and cost savings, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our financial results. In addition, if the U.S. economy enters a recession in 2026, we may experience 
sales declines and may have to decrease prices, all of which could have a material adverse impact on our financial results.

Similarly, disruptions in financial markets may impact our ability to manage normal commercial relationships with our 
customers, suppliers and creditors and might cause us to not be able to continue to have access to preferred sources of liquidity 
when needed or on terms we find acceptable, and our borrowing costs could increase. An economic or credit crisis could occur 
and impair credit availability and our ability to raise capital when needed. A disruption in the financial markets may have a 
negative effect on our derivative counterparties and could impair our banking or other business partners, on whom we rely for 
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access to capital and as counterparties to our derivative contracts. In addition, changes in tax or interest rates in the U.S. or other 
nations, whether due to recession, economic disruptions or other reasons, may adversely impact us.

As of August 3, 2025, we maintained approximately ��.�5� billion of indebtedness, and this level of indebtedness may 
have important consequences to our business, including but not limited to:

� increasing the possibility of a downgrade in our credit rating�

� increasing our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates�

� subjecting us to new financial and other covenants�

� increasing our vulnerability to, and reducing our flexibility to respond to, general adverse economic and industry 
conditions�

� limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate, 
including undertaking significant capital projects�

� placing us at a competitive disadvantage as compared to our competitors, to the extent that they are not as highly 
leveraged� and

� restricting us from pursuing certain business opportunities, including other acquisitions.

In addition, we regularly access the commercial paper markets for working capital needs and other general corporate 
purposes. If our credit ratings are downgraded, we may have difficulty issuing additional debt securities or borrowing money in 
the amounts and on the terms that might be available if our credit ratings were maintained. See ��anagement�s Discussion and 
Analysis of �inancial �ondition and �esults of Operations - Liquidity and �apital �esources� for additional information 
regarding our indebtedness.

Disruptions in the commercial paper market or other effects of volatile economic conditions on the financial markets may 
also reduce the amount of commercial paper that we can issue and raise our borrowing costs for both short- and long-term debt 
offerings. There can be no assurance that we will have access to the financial markets on terms we find acceptable. Limitations 
on our ability to access the financial markets, a reduction in our liquidity or an increase in our borrowing costs may adversely 
affect our business and financial results.

�e are a party to a variety of legal and regulatory proceedings and claims arising out of the normal course of business. See 
�ote 1� to the �onsolidated �inancial Statements for information regarding certain legal proceedings. Since these actions are 
inherently uncertain, there is no guarantee that we will be successful in defending ourselves against such proceedings or claims, 
or that our assessment of the materiality or immateriality of these matters, including any reserves taken in connection with such 
matters, will be consistent with the ultimate outcome of such proceedings or claims. The manufacture and marketing of food 
products has come under increased scrutiny in recent years, and the food industry has been subject to changes in laws and 
regulations at the state and federal levels and an increasing number of proceedings and claims relating to alleged false or 
deceptive marketing under federal, state and foreign laws or regulations. In light of recent actions by the United States 
Department of �ealth and �uman Services, �DA and states, we anticipate continued legislative and regulatory developments 
with respect to food ingredients, labeling and packaging at the state and federal levels, along with related changes in consumer 
expectations and behavior. In April 2025, the �DA called on industry to phase out all �petroleum-based synthetic dyes� from 
the nation�s food supply, and in �ay 2025, the �ake America �ealthy Again (�A�A) �ommission published an assessment 
report discussing factors contributing to chronic childhood disease including diet, environmental exposure, lack of physical 
activity and healthcare. The �A�A �ommission transmitted its strategy report, setting forth certain recommendations for 
addressing chronic childhood disease, to the �resident in August 2025 and publicly released it in September 2025. �hile the 
effects of all of these proposals remain uncertain at this time, we are continuing to monitor changes to laws and regulations that 
affect the food industry and evaluate their impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Additionally, the independent contractor distribution model, which is used in our Snacks segment, has also come under 
increased regulatory scrutiny. Our independent contractor distribution model has also been the subject of various class and 
individual lawsuits in recent years. In the event we are unable to successfully defend ourselves against these proceedings or 
claims, or if our assessment of the materiality of these proceedings or claims proves inaccurate, our business or financial results 
may be adversely affected. In addition, our reputation could be damaged by allegations made in proceedings or claims (even if 
untrue).
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If we fail to comply with the many laws applicable to our business, we may face lawsuits or incur significant fines and 
penalties. In addition, changes in such laws, regulations or other policies may lead to increased costs.

The manufacture and marketing of food products is extensively regulated. �arious laws and regulations govern the 
processing, ingredients (including but not limited to FD�C colors), packaging (including but not limited to potential impacts of 
EPR regulations and laws), waste management, storage, distribution, marketing, advertising, labeling, import�export 
requirements, quality and safety of our food products, as well as the health and safety of our employees and the protection of 
the environment. In the U.S., we are subject to regulation by various federal government agencies, including but not limited to 
the FDA, the Department of Agriculture, the Federal Trade Commission, the Department of Labor, the Department of 
Commerce, the Occupational Safety and �ealth Administration and the Environmental Protection Agency, as well as various 
state and local agencies. �e are also regulated by similar agencies outside the U.S. See �ote 1� to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for additional information regarding regulatory matters.

�overnmental and administrative bodies within the U.S. have made a variety of tax, trade and other regulatory reforms. 
Trade reforms include tariffs on certain materials used in the manufacture of our products and tariffs on certain finished 
products. For a discussion of certain risks and uncertainties of tariff impacts on our financial condition or results of operations, 
see Item 1A - Business and Operational Risks - Changes in global trade policies, including imposed and threatened tariffs by 
the U.S. and reciprocal tariffs by its trading partners, remain uncertain and could impact our financial condition or results of 
operations.

�e also regularly move data across national and state borders to conduct our operations and, consequently, are subject to a 
variety of laws and regulations in the U.S. and other jurisdictions regarding privacy, data protection and data security, including 
those related to the collection, storage, handling, use, disclosure, transfer and security of personal data. There is significant 
uncertainty with respect to compliance with such privacy and data protection laws and regulations because they are 
continuously evolving and developing and may be interpreted and applied differently from country to country and state to state 
and may create inconsistent or conflicting requirements.

Changes in legal or regulatory requirements (such as but not limited to new food safety requirements and revised 
regulatory requirements for the labeling of nutrition facts, serving sizes and genetically modified ingredients or new EPR 
regulations and laws), evolving interpretations of existing legal or regulatory requirements, or an increased focus regarding 
environmental policies relating to climate change, climate reporting, regulating greenhouse gas emissions, energy policies and 
sustainability, may result in increased compliance cost, capital expenditures and other financial obligations that could adversely 
affect our business and financial results. 

�e may suffer losses if changes to regulations require us to change the ingredients we use or how we process, package, 
transport, store, distribute, advertise, or label our products. Moreover, depending on the implementation of such regulatory 
changes, we could have increased risk for a product recall or have existing inventory become unsellable, which could materially 
and adversely impact our product sales, financial condition and operating results.

If our food products become adulterated or are mislabeled, we might need to recall those items, and we may experience 
product liability claims and damage to our reputation.

�e have in the past and we may, in the future, need to recall some of our products if they become adulterated or if they are 
mislabeled, and we may also be liable if the consumption of any of our products causes sickness or injury to consumers. A 
widespread product recall could result in significant losses due to the costs of a recall, the destruction of product inventory, and 
lost sales due to the unavailability of product for a period of time. �e could also suffer losses from a significant adverse 
product liability judgment. A significant product recall or product liability claim could also result in adverse publicity, damage 
to our reputation, and a loss of consumer confidence in the safety and�or quality of our products, ingredients or packaging. In 
addition, if another company recalls or experiences negative publicity related to a product in a category in which we compete, 
consumers might reduce their overall consumption of products in that category.

�limate change, or legal, regulatory or mar�et measures to address climate change, may negati�ely affect our business 
and operations.

There is growing concern that carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere may have an adverse impact 
on global temperatures, weather patterns, and the frequency and severity of extreme weather and natural disasters. In the event 
that such climate change has a negative effect on agricultural productivity, we may be subject to decreased availability or less 
favorable pricing for certain commodities that are necessary for our products, such as wheat, tomatoes, potatoes, cocoa and 
olive oil. Adverse weather conditions and natural disasters can reduce crop size and crop quality, which in turn could reduce our 
supplies of raw materials, lower recoveries of usable raw materials, increase the prices of our raw materials, increase our cost of 
storing and transporting our raw materials, or disrupt production schedules. �e may also be subjected to decreased availability 
or less favorable pricing for water as a result of such change, which could impact our manufacturing and distribution 
operations. In addition, natural disasters and extreme weather conditions may disrupt the productivity of our facilities or the 
operation of our supply chain. 
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There is an increased focus by regulatory and legislative bodies regarding environmental policies relating to climate 
change, climate reporting, regulating greenhouse gas emissions (including carbon pricing regulations, cap and trade systems or 
a carbon tax), energy policies and sustainability. Increased compliance costs and expenses due to the impacts of climate change 
and additional legal or regulatory requirements regarding climate change that are designed to reduce or mitigate the effects of 
carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gas emissions on the environment may cause disruptions in, or an increase in the costs 
associated with, the running of our manufacturing facilities and our business, as well as increase distribution and supply chain 
costs. Moreover, compliance with any such legal or regulatory requirements may require us to make significant changes in our 
business operations and strategy, which will likely require us to devote substantial time and attention to these matters and cause 
us to incur additional costs. Even if we make changes to align ourselves with such legal or regulatory requirements, we may 
still be subject to significant penalties or potential litigation if such laws and regulations are interpreted and applied in a manner 
inconsistent with our practices. The physical effects and transitional costs of climate change and legal, regulatory or market 
initiatives to address climate change could have a long-term adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

�u� business is sub�ect to an inc�easing focus on sustainability matte�s.

From time to time we establish and publicly announce sustainability goals and commitments, including reducing our 
impact on the environment and relating to animal welfare. For example, we established science-based targets for Scope 1, 2 and 
3 greenhouse gas emissions. Our ability to achieve any stated goal, target or objective is subject to numerous factors and 
conditions, many of which are outside of our control. Examples of such factors include evolving regulatory requirements 
affecting sustainability standards or disclosures or imposing different requirements, the pace of changes in technology and its 
market availability, the availability of requisite financing, the availability of suppliers and products that can meet our 
sustainability and other standards, and changing business dynamics including acquisitions. Furthermore, standards for tracking 
and reporting such matters continue to evolve. Our selection of voluntary disclosure frameworks and standards, and the 
interpretation or application of those frameworks and standards, may change from time to time or differ from those of others. 
Methodologies for reporting these data may be updated and previously reported data may be adjusted to reflect improvement in 
availability and quality of third-party data, changing assumptions, changes in the nature and scope of our operations (including 
from acquisitions and divestitures), and other changes in circumstances, which could result in significant revisions to our 
current goals, reported progress in achieving such goals, or ability to achieve such goals in the future. If we fail to achieve, or 
are perceived to have failed to achieve or have been delayed in achieving, or improperly report our progress toward achieving 
these goals and commitments, it could negatively affect consumer or customer preference for our products or investor 
confidence in our stock, as well as expose us to enforcement actions and litigation.

Additionally, we might fail to effectively address increased attention from the media, stockholders, activists and other 
stakeholders on climate change and other environmental sustainability matters or animal welfare goals, including attention from 
stakeholders with opposing views on such matters. Such failure, or the perception that we have failed to act responsibly 
regarding climate change or animal welfare, whether or not valid, could result in adverse publicity and negatively affect our 
business and reputation.

�u� business� financial condition and �esults of ope�ations could be ad�e�sely affected by dis�uptions in t�e global 
economy caused by ongoing geopolitical conflicts.

The global economy has been negatively impacted by ongoing geopolitical conflicts, including the military conflicts 
between Russia and Ukraine, the conflicts in the Middle East, as well as tensions between China and Taiwan. For instance, 
governments in the U.S., United �ingdom and European Union have each imposed export controls on certain products and 
financial and economic sanctions on certain industry sectors and parties in Russia. Although we have no operations in Russia, 
Ukraine, the Middle East, China or Taiwan, we have experienced shortages in materials and increased costs for transportation, 
energy and raw material due in part to the negative impact of these ongoing geopolitical conflicts on the global economy. The 
scope and duration of such conflicts are uncertain, rapidly changing and hard to predict. Further escalation of these geopolitical 
conflicts, including increased trade barriers or restrictions on global trade, could result in, among other things, cyberattacks, 
supply disruptions, lower consumer demand, and changes to foreign exchange rates and financial markets, any of which may 
adversely affect our business and supply chain. In addition, the effects of the ongoing conflicts could also heighten many of the 
other risk factors discussed in this Item 1A, or in other reports we periodically file with the SEC. 

Item 1B. 

None.

Item 1C. 

Cybe�secu�ity �is� �anagement and �t�ategy

Enterprise risk management (ERM) is an integral part of our business processes and our ERM framework considers 
cybersecurity risk, alongside other company risks, as part of our overall risk assessment process. �e follow an industry-leading 
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National Institute of Standards and Technology cybersecurity framework (NIST CSF) and have developed a comprehensive 
information security program for assessing, identifying and managing cybersecurity risks that is designed to protect our systems 
and data from unauthorized access, use or other security impact. 

As part of our information security program, we continuously monitor and update our information technology networks 
and infrastructure. �e have dedicated internal legal, compliance and information security teams, and leverage consultants and 
third-party service providers to inform our understanding of the threat landscape and to identify, prevent, detect, address and 
mitigate risks associated with unauthorized access, misuse, computer viruses and other events that could have a security impact. 
Our information security strategy focuses on complying with applicable data privacy and protection laws, maintaining the 
availability of our manufacturing operations, protecting data, detecting and responding to threats, building resiliency and 
providing a secure foundation for growth and innovation. �e invest in industry standard security technology to protect the 
company’s data and business processes against risk of cybersecurity incidents. Our data security management program includes 
identity, trust, vulnerability and threat management business processes, as well as adoption of standard data protection policies. 

�e measure our data security effectiveness by benchmarking against industry-accepted methods, presenting the results to 
our Board and Audit Committee for evaluation, and making improvements based on such evaluation. �e maintain and 
routinely test backup systems and disaster recovery and also have processes in place to prevent disruptions resulting from our 
implementation of new software and systems. �e maintain a third-party cyber risk management process to review and monitor 
critical suppliers regularly for cybersecurity risk and prescribe remediation activities when necessary.

�e train our employees through annual security training, phishing simulations and regular communications about timely 
security topics to enhance their understanding of cybersecurity threats and their ability to identify and escalate potential 
cybersecurity events. �e have a cross-functional crisis management team comprised of business unit and functional leaders and 
a crisis management plan that includes procedures for identifying, containing and responding to cybersecurity incidents. �e 
engage third-party cybersecurity experts to conduct tabletop exercises with our executive leadership to enhance incident 
response preparedness. 

Our cybersecurity risk management strategy includes the use of cybersecurity insurance that provides protection against 
certain potential losses arising from certain cybersecurity incidents� however, such insurance may not insure us against all 
claims related to security breaches, cyberattacks and other related breaches. The company has previously experienced threats 
and breaches to its data and systems but has not experienced a breach that had a material impact on its operations or business 
and has not incurred any material breach-related expenses for the last three years that are reasonably likely to materially affect 
the company or its business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. �owever, as discussed in �Item 1A. Risk 
Factors,� specifically the risks under the heading, ��e may be adversely impacted by a disruption, failure or security breach of 
our information technology systems,� cyber threats are constantly evolving and becoming more frequent and sophisticated. 
Accordingly, no matter how well designed or implemented the company’s information security policies and procedures are, 
there can be no assurance that these policies and procedures will prevent or limit the impact of a cybersecurity incident.

�e have established oversight mechanisms intended to provide effective cybersecurity governance, risk management, and 
timely incident response. Our Board, in coordination with the Audit Committee, oversees the company’s ERM process, 
including the management of risks arising from cybersecurity threats.

Our Board annually reviews assessments of our information security program under the NIST CSF. It receives 
benchmarking results of our data security effectiveness and reports from our Chief Digital � Technology Officer (CDTO) and 
Chief Information Security Officer (CISO) on our information security program and recent developments. Our Board has 
delegated the primary responsibility to oversee cybersecurity matters to the Audit Committee. To fulfill its oversight 
responsibilities, the Audit Committee reviews the measures implemented by the company to identify and mitigate cybersecurity 
risks and receives quarterly updates from our CDTO and CISO on the information security program, including the status of 
significant cybersecurity incidences, the emerging threat landscape, and the status of projects to strengthen the company’s 
information security posture. The Audit Committee regularly reports to the Board on cybersecurity matters. In addition, we 
have a crisis management plan and protocols by which certain cybersecurity incidents that meet established reporting thresholds 
are escalated within the company and, where appropriate, reported promptly to the Audit Committee or Board, with ongoing 
updates regarding any such incident until it has been addressed. Our risk oversight processes and disclosure controls and 
procedures are designed to escalate key risks for the Board to analyze for disclosure purposes.

Our CDTO, a member of our corporate leadership team, oversees the team responsible for leading the enterprise-wide 
information technology strategy, policy, standards, architecture, and processes. Our CISO, who reports to the CDTO, oversees 
the dedicated information security team, which works in partnership with the company’s ERM team and corporate audit 
department as well as consultants as part of an overall internal controls process to monitor cybersecurity threats and prevent, 
detect, mitigate and remediate cybersecurity incidents. The CDTO has over 30 years of information technology experience, 
including serving in strategic planning, oversight and global operation of information systems and technology functions for 
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companies in the consumer packaged goods industry. The CISO has over 25 years of information technology experience, 
including strategy, execution, and operations of enterprise-wide security programs, including cybersecurity programs, and 
global information technology infrastructure programs.

Item 2. 

Our principal executive offices are company-owned and located in Camden, New Jersey. The following table sets forth our 
principal manufacturing facilities and the reportable segment that primarily uses each of the facilities:

�oodyear (S) �yannis (S) Denver (S)
Downingtown (S)

Dixon (MB) Charlotte (S) �anover (S)
Stockton (MB) Maxton (MB)

Austin (MB)
Bloomfield (S) Ashland (S) Paris (MB)

Napoleon (MB)
Lakeland (S) �illard (S) Richmond (S)

Downers �rove (S) Salem (S) Beloit (S)
Tualatin (MB) Franklin (S)

Jeffersonville (S) Milwaukee (MB)

������������������������������
MB - Meals � Beverages
S - Snacks

Each of the foregoing manufacturing facilities is company-owned, except the Tualatin, Oregon and Austin, Texas facilities, 
which are leased. �e also maintain principal business unit offices in Doral, Florida� �anover, Pennsylvania� and Mississauga, 
Canada. 

�e also own and lease distribution centers across the �.S. �e believe that our manufacturing and processing plants and 
distribution centers are well maintained and, together with facilities operated by our contract manufacturers, are generally 
adequate to support the current operations of the businesses.

Item 3. 

Information regarding reportable legal proceedings is contained in Note 1� to the Consolidated Financial Statements and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 4. 

Not applicable.
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�nfor�ation a�o�t o�r ��ec�ti�e Officers 

The section below provides information regarding our executive officers as of September 10, 2025:

�a�e� �resent �it�e � ��siness ��perience Age

Year First
Appointed
��ec�ti�e

Officer

�arrie L. �nderson, �xecutive �ice �resident and �hief �inancial Officer. �xecutive �ice �resident and 
�hief �inancial Officer, �ntegra LifeSciences �oldings �orporation (2019-2023). 56 2023

Mick �. Beekhuizen, �resident and �hief �xecutive Officer. �e have employed Mr. Beekhuizen in an 
executive or managerial capacity for at least five years. 49 2020

�harles �. Brawley, ���, �xecutive �ice �resident, �eneral �ounsel and �orporate Secretary. �e have 
employed Mr. Brawley in an executive or managerial capacity for at least five years. 60 2023

Risa �retella, �xecutive �ice �resident and �resident, Meals � Beverages. �xecutive �ice �resident, 
�eneral Manager of Rao�s, Sovos Brands, �nc. (201�-2024). 46 2025

�lizabeth M. �uggan, �xecutive �ice �resident and �resident, Snacks. �e have employed Ms. �uggan in 
an executive or managerial capacity for at least five years. 45 2025

�iane �ohnson May, �xecutive �ice �resident and �hief �eople and �ulture Officer. Senior �ice 
�resident, �eople and �ulture, Manpower �roup (2020-2021). �xecutive �ice �resident, �hief �uman 
Resources Officer, Brookdale Senior Living (2019-2020). 

66 2022

�anda �. Lukin, �xecutive �ice �resident and �hief �rowth Officer. �e have employed Ms. Lukin in an 
executive or managerial capacity for at least five years. 52 2025

�aniel L. �oland, �xecutive �ice �resident and �hief �nterprise Transformation Officer. �hief Operating 
Officer, ���� Snacks (2019-2021). 62 2022

�nthony �. Sanzio, �xecutive �ice �resident and �hief �ommunications Officer. �e have employed Mr. 
Sanzio in an executive or managerial capacity for at least five years. 57 2022
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PART II

Item 5

�ar�et for Re��strant�s �ap�tal Stoc� 

Our capital stock is traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC under the symbol "CPB." On September 10, 2025, there were 
13,902 holders of record of our capital stock. 

Return to Shareholders� Performance Graph 

The information contained in this Return to Shareholders Performance �raph section shall not be deemed to be "soliciting 
material" or "filed" or incorporated by reference in future filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), or 
sub�ect to the liabilities of Section 1� of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), except to the 
extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into a document filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1933, as amended 
(the Securities Act), or the Exchange Act. 

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return (TSR) on our stock with the cumulative total return 
of the Standard � Poor�s 500 Stock �ndex (the S�P 500) and the Standard � Poor�s Packaged �oods �ndex (the S�P Packaged 
�oods �roup). The graph assumes that �100 was invested on �uly 31, 2020, in each of our stock, the S�P 500 and the S�P 
Packaged �oods �roup, and that all dividends were reinvested. The total cumulative dollar returns shown on the graph 
represent the value that such investments would have had on August 3, 2025. 
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� Stock appreciation plus dividend reinvestment. 
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Campbell 100 91 106 102 107 77
S�P 500 100 136 130 147 177 205
S�P Packaged �oods �roup 100 107 121 127 114 107
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Issuer Purchases of ��uity Securities

Period

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased(1)

A�erage
Price Paid

Per Share(2)

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly

Announced Plans or
Programs(3)

Approximate
�ollar �alue of

Shares that may yet
be Purchased

Under the Plans or
Programs

(� in �illions)(3)

��2��2� � ��3��2�  � $ � � $ 501 
6�2�2� � 6�3��2�  55,956 $ 33.44  55,956 $ 499 
7�1�2� � ��1�2�  � $ � � $ 499 
Total  55,956 $ 33.44  55,956 $ 499 

������������������������������������
(1) Shares purchased are as of the trade date.
(2) Average price paid per share is calculated on a settlement basis and excludes commission and excise tax. As of January 1, 

2023, our share repurchases in excess of issuances are subject to a 1� excise tax enacted by the Inflation Reduction Act. 
Any excise tax incurred is recognized as part of the cost basis of the shares acquired in the Consolidated Statements of 
Equity.

(3) In September 2021, the Board approved a strategic share repurchase program of up to $500 million (September 2021 
program). The September 2021 program has no expiration date, but it may be suspended or discontinued at any time. 
Repurchases under the September 2021 program may be made in open-market or privately negotiated transactions. In 
September 2024, the Board authorized an anti-dilutive share repurchase program of up to $250 million (September 2024 
program) to offset the impact of dilution from shares issued under our stock compensation programs. The September 2024 
program has no expiration date, but it may be suspended or discontinued at any time. Repurchases under the September 
2024 program may be made in open-market or privately negotiated transactions. The September 2024 program replaced an 
anti-dilutive share repurchase program of up to $250 million that was approved by the Board in June 2021 and has been 
terminated.

Item 6. 

Item 7. 

�����I�� 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is provided as a supplement 
to, and should be read in conjunction with, our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes to the 
consolidated financial statements presented in "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," as well as the information 
contained in "Risk Factors."

Unless otherwise stated, the terms "we," "us," "our" and the "company" refer to The Campbell's Company and its 
consolidated subsidiaries.

�e are a manufacturer and marketer of high-quality, branded food and beverage products. �e operate in a highly 
competitive industry and experience competition in all of our categories.

In 2025, we continued to advance our key strategic initiatives in a dynamic operating environment marked by shifting 
global trade policies, increased regulatory activity, consumer behavior shifts, commodity cost fluctuations and other global 
macroeconomic challenges. During 2025, we experienced elevated cost inflation and other supply chain costs, which were 
mostly offset by improvements in our supply chain productivity and benefits from our cost savings initiatives. In 2026, we 
expect more significant cost pressures primarily driven by tariff impacts. �e plan to reduce some of these costs and impacts 
over time through cost savings initiatives, inventory management practices, supplier collaboration, alternative sourcing 
opportunities, continued supply chain productivity initiatives, surgical pricing actions where necessary and other mitigation 
efforts. �e will continue to evaluate the dynamic macroeconomic environment to take action to mitigate the impact on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Strategy

Our strategy is built around four pillars that position us to achieve Top-Tier Performance for our shareholders, as further 
discussed below.

� Top Team� �e plan to deliver for our people by continuing to cultivate a highly engaged culture to attract, grow and 
retain top talent. This includes investing in leadership and development programs and elevating commercial 
capabilities that will help us grow. �e are driving organizational engagement, belonging and effectiveness through our 
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�mployee �alue Proposition, Make history with Campbell’s, and modernizing our facilities. �e have completed the 
consolidation of our Snacks offices into Camden, New Jersey. Our single headquarters has helped to foster closer 
collaboration and enhance decision-making, thereby improving our ability to execute on our business strategy. 

� Best Portfolio: �e believe in delivering for our consumers through consumer-focused marketing efforts and increased 
leadership brand support. �e have created a �rowth Office to support our two divisions and to expand our consumer-
led innovations. �e believe that we are well-positioned as a transformative category leader with an advantaged 
portfolio of brands across our Meals � �everages and Snacks segments. �e will support our �est Portfolio priority 
and accelerate our profitable growth model by growing market share and driving integrated business planning 
programming throughout the company. 

� Winning Execution: �e will focus on delivering for our customers by advancing strategic retailer relationships and 
continuing to optimize our manufacturing and distribution network, with a focus on digitization, logistics and 
distribution expertise. In September 2024, we announced plans to implement new cost savings initiatives with targeted 
annual savings of approximately $250 million by the end of 202�. On September 3, 2025, we increased the estimate of 
annual ongoing savings, once all phases are implemented, to approximately $375 million by the end of 202�. See 
"Restructuring Charges, Cost Savings Initiatives and Other Optimization Initiatives" for additional information on 
these initiatives.

� Lasting Impact: Finally, we plan to continue to deliver for our communities with continued progress on our 
sustainability and community goals and strengthening our connection to the communities in which we operate.

��si�ess �re��s

Our industry continues to navigate a dynamic operating and regulatory environment driven by commodity cost volatility, 
supply chain pressures, tariffs and shifting global trade policies and other economic uncertainties, as well as evolving consumer 
purchasing and spending patterns.

Our strategy is designed, in part, to capture growing consumer preferences for value and convenience. �e expect 
consumers to continue to seek at-home cooking solutions and stretchable meals. �e also believe that consumers are making 
more intentional decisions in snacking, in terms of health and wellness and seeking indulgences.

Retailers continue to use their buying power and negotiating strength to seek increased promotional programs funded by 
their suppliers and more favorable terms, including supplier-funded customized products. Any consolidations among retailers 
would continue to create large and sophisticated customers that may further this trend. Retailers also continue to grow and 
promote private label brands that compete with branded products, especially on price.

Tariffs on certain ingredients, inputs and imports from many countries, including Canada, Mexico, members of the 
�uropean Union and the United �ingdom have resulted in increased costs, including on ingredients, packaging, such as tinplate 
steel used to make cans and other materials used to produce and distribute our products and on finished products that we import. 
�e are continuing to monitor the rapidly evolving tariff and global trade policies and are working with our suppliers to mitigate 
potential impacts on our business. The extent and duration of the tariffs and the resulting impact on general economic 
conditions and on our business are uncertain and depend on various factors, such as recent legal challenges to the U.S.'s 
imposition of tariffs, negotiations between the U.S. and affected countries, the responses of other countries or regions, relief 
that may be granted, availability and cost of alternative sources of supply and demand for our products in affected markets.

In addition, in light of recent actions by the United States Department of �ealth and �uman Services, Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) and states, we anticipate continued legislative and regulatory developments with respect to food 
ingredients, labeling and packaging at the state and federal levels, along with related changes in consumer expectations and 
behavior. In April 2025, the FDA called on industry to phase out all �petroleum-based synthetic dyes� from the nation�s food 
supply, and in May 2025, the MA�A Commission published an assessment report discussing factors contributing to chronic 
childhood disease including diet, environmental exposure, lack of physical activity and healthcare. The MA�A Commission 
transmitted its strategy report, setting forth certain recommendations for addressing chronic childhood disease, to the President 
in August 2025 and publicly released it in September 2025. �hile the effects of all of these proposals remain uncertain at this 
time, we are continuing to monitor changes to laws and regulations that affect the food industry and evaluate their impact on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In 2026, we expect significant cost pressures primarily driven by tariff impacts that could negatively impact our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. �e will continue to evaluate the dynamic macroeconomic environment to take 
action to mitigate such impacts.
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��s�ness �����s���on � ��ves����res

On March 12, 2024, we completed the acquisition of Sovos Brands, Inc. (Sovos Brands) for total purchase consideration of 
$2.�99 billion. For additional information on the Sovos Brands acquisition, see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. All references to the acquisition below refer to the Sovos Brands acquisition.

On May 30, 2023, we completed the sale of our Emerald nuts business. On August 26, 2024, we completed the sale of our 
Pop Secret popcorn business. On February 24, 2025, we completed the sale of our noosa yoghurt business. For additional 
information on the divestitures, see Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

This Summary of Results provides significant highlights from the discussion and analysis that follows. 

There were 53 weeks in 2025 and 52 weeks in 2024 and 2023.

� Net sales increased 6� in 2025 to $10.253 billion primarily due to an �-point benefit from the acquisition of Sovos 
Brands and a 2-point benefit from the 53rd week, partially offset by the impact of divestitures, unfavorable volume�mix
and lower net price realization.

� �ross profit, as a percent of sales, decreased to 30.4� in 2025 from 30.�� a year ago. The decrease was primarily due 
to higher cost inflation and other supply chain costs and unfavorable net price realization, partially offset by the 
benefits from supply chain productivity improvements.

� Earnings per share were $2.01 in 2025, compared to $1.�9 a year ago. The current year included expenses of $.97 per 
share and the prior year included expenses of $1.19 per share from items impacting comparability as discussed below. 

The following items impacted the comparability of net earnings and net earnings per share:

� �e implemented several cost savings initiatives in recent years. In 2025, we recorded Restructuring charges of 
$24 million and implementation costs and other related costs of $41 million in Administrative expenses, $32 million in 
Cost of products sold, $4 million in Marketing and selling expenses and $3 million in Research and development 
expenses related to these initiatives. In 2024, we recorded Restructuring charges of $17 million and implementation 
costs and other related costs of $54 million in Administrative expenses, $26 million in Cost of products sold, $4 
million in Marketing and selling expenses and $3 million in Research and development expenses related to these 
initiatives. 

In the second quarter of 2024, we began implementation of an optimization initiative to improve the effectiveness of 
our Snacks direct-store-delivery route-to-market network. In 2025, we recognized $20 million in Marketing and selling 
expenses and $1 million in Administrative expenses related to this initiative. In 2024, we recognized $5 million in 
Marketing and selling expenses related to this initiative.

In 2025, the total aggregate impact related to the cost savings and optimization initiatives was $125 million ($96 
million after tax, or $.32 per share). In 2024, the total aggregate impact related to the cost savings and optimization 
initiatives was $109 million ($�3 million after tax, or $.2� per share). See Note � to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and "Restructuring Charges, Cost Savings Initiatives and Other Optimization Initiatives" for additional 
information�

� In 2025, we recognized actuarial losses on our pension and postretirement plans in Other expenses � (income) of 
$24 million ($1� million after tax, or $.06 per share). In 2024, we recognized actuarial losses in Other expenses � 
(income) of $33 million ($25 million after tax, or $.0� per share)�

� In 2025, we recognized gains in Cost of products sold of $11 million ($� million after tax, or $.03 per share) associated 
with unrealized mark-to-market adjustments on outstanding undesignated commodity hedges. In 2024, we recognized 
losses in Cost of products sold of $22 million ($16 million after tax, or $.05 per share) associated with unrealized 
mark-to-market adjustments on outstanding undesignated commodity hedges�

� In 2025, we recorded accelerated amortization expense in Other expenses � (income) of $20 million ($15 million after 
tax, or $.05 per share) related to customer relationship intangible assets due to the loss of certain contract 
manufacturing customers, which began in the fourth quarter of 2023. In 2024, we recorded accelerated amortization 
expense in Other expenses � (income) of $27 million ($20 million after tax, or $.07 per share)� 

In the third quarter of 2025, we performed an interim impairment assessment on the Snyder's of Hanover trademark 
within the Snacks segment and recognized an impairment charge of $150 million ($112 million after tax, or $.37 per 
share) on the trademark. 
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In the second quarter of 2025, we performed an interim impairment assessment on certain salty snacks and cookie 
trademarks within our Snacks segment, including ���'s, Jays, Kruncher's, ��Ke����e, �tella �'�r� and Archway, 
collectively referred to as our "Allied brands," and recognized an impairment charge of $15 million on the trademarks. 

In the second quarter of 2025, we performed an interim impairment assessment on the Late July trademark within our 
Snacks segment and recognized an impairment charge of $11 million on the trademark.

In 2025, the total aggregate impact of the impairment charges was $176 million ($131 million after tax, or $.44 per 
share).

In the fourth quarter of 2024, we recognized an impairment charge of $53 million on our Allied brands trademarks. 

In the fourth quarter of 2024, we performed an impairment assessment on the assets in our Pop Secret popcorn 
business within our Snacks segment as sales and operating performance were below expectations due in part to 
competitive pressure and reduced margins, and as we pursued divesting the business. As a result of these factors, in the 
fourth quarter of 2024, we lowered our long-term outlook for the business and recognized an impairment charge of 
$76 million on the trademark. The sale of the business was completed on August 26, 2024.

In 2024, the total aggregate impact of the impairment charges was $129 million ($9� million after tax, or $.33 per 
share). 

The charges were included in �ther expenses � (income). See "Critical Accounting �stimates" for additional 
information�

� In 2025 and 2024, we recorded litigation expenses in Administrative expenses of $5 million ($5 million after tax, or 
$.02 per share) related to the Plum baby food and snacks business (Plum), which was divested on May 3, 2021, and 
certain other litigation matters�

� In 2025, we recorded insurance recoveries in Administrative expenses of $1 million ($1 million after tax) related to a 
cybersecurity incident that was identified in the fourth quarter of 2023. In 2024, we recorded costs of $2 million in 
Cost of products sold and $1 million in Administrative expenses (aggregate impact of $2 million after tax, or $.01 per 
share) related to the cybersecurity incident� 

� In the third quarter of 2025, we completed the sale of our noosa yoghurt business. In the second quarter of 2025, we 
recorded $15 million ($.05 per share) of tax expense related to the sale. In 2025, we recorded an after-tax loss of $15 
million ($.05 per share) on the sale of the business. In the first quarter of 2025, we recorded a loss in �ther expenses � 
(income) of $25 million ($19 million after tax, or $.06 per share) on the sale of our Pop Secret popcorn business. In 
2025, the total aggregate impact of charges associated with divestitures was $25 million ($34 million after tax, or $.11 
per share)� and

� In the first quarter of 2024, we announced our intent to acquire Sovos Brands and on March 12, 2024 the acquisition 
closed. In 2024, we incurred $126 million of costs associated with the acquisition, of which $21 million was recorded 
in Restructuring charges, $47 million in Administrative expenses, $35 million in �ther expenses � (income), $3 million
in Marketing and selling expenses, $2 million in Research and development expenses and $1� million in Cost of 
products sold, of which $17 million was associated with the acquisition date fair value ad�ustment for inventory. �e 
also recorded costs of $2 million in Interest expense related to costs associated with the Delayed Draw Term Loan 
Credit Agreement (the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement) used to fund the acquisition. The aggregate impact was 
$12� million, $109 million after tax, or $.36 per share.
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The items impacting comparability are summarized below:

2025 2024

(Millions, except per share amounts)
Earnings
Impact

EPS
Impact

Earnings
Impact

EPS
Impact

Net earnings attributable to The Campbell's Company � 602 � 2.01 $ 567 $ 1.�9 

Costs associated with cost savings and optimization initiatives � (�6) � (.32) $ (�3) $ (.2�) 
Pension and postretirement actuarial losses  (18)  (.06)  (25)  (.0�) 
Commodity mark-to-market gains (losses)  8  .03  (16)  (.05) 
Accelerated amortization  (15)  (.05)  (20)  (.07) 
Impairment charges  (131)  (.44)  (9�)  (.33) 
Certain litigation expenses  (5)  (.02)  (5)  (.02) 
Cybersecurity incident recoveries (costs)  1  �  (2)  (.01) 
Charges associated with divestitures  (34)  (.11)  �  � 
Costs associated with acquisition  �  �  (109)  (.36) 
Impact of items on Net earnings(1) � (2�0) � (.��) $ (35�) $ (1.19) 

������������������������������������������
(1) Sum of the individual amounts may not add due to rounding.

Net earnings attributable to The Campbell's Company were $602 million ($2.01 per share) in 2025, compared to $567 
million ($1.�9 per share) in 2024. After adjusting for items impacting comparability, earnings decreased primarily due to higher 
interest expense and higher marketing and selling expenses, partially offset by an increase in gross profit and a lower effective 
tax rate. The additional week contributed approximately $.06 per share to earnings in 2025. The estimated impact of tariffs was 
approximately $.02 per share in 2025.

In addition to the 2024 items that impacted comparability of Net earnings discussed above, the following items impacted 
the comparability of net earnings and net earnings per share:

� In 2023, we recorded Restructuring charges of $16 million and implementation costs and other related costs of $24 
million in Administrative expenses, $1� million in Cost of products sold, $5 million in Marketing and selling expenses 
and $3 million in Research and development expenses (aggregate impact of $50 million after tax, or $.17 per share) 
related to the cost savings initiatives discussed above. See Note � to the Consolidated �inancial Statements and 
�Restructuring Charges, Cost Savings Initiatives and �ther �ptimization Initiatives� for additional information�

� In 2023, we recognized actuarial gains on our pension and postretirement plans in �ther expenses � (income) of $15 
million ($11 million after tax, or $.04 per share)� 

� In 2023, we recognized gains in Cost of products sold of $21 million ($16 million after tax, or $.05 per share) 
associated with unrealized mark-to-market adjustments on outstanding undesignated commodity hedges� 

� In 2023, we incurred costs associated with the acquisition of Sovos �rands in �ther expenses � (income) of $5 million 
($4 million after tax, or $.01 per share)� 

� In 2023, we recorded accelerated amortization expense in �ther expenses � (income) of $7 million ($5 million after 
tax, or $.02 per share) related to customer relationship intangible assets due to the loss of certain contracting 
manufacturing customers, which began in the fourth quarter of 2023� and

� In 2023, we recorded a loss in �ther expenses � (income) of $13 million ($13 million after tax, or $.04 per share) on 
the sale of our Emerald nuts business, which was sold on May 30, 2023. 
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The items impacting comparability are summarized below:
2024 2023

(Millions, except per share amounts)
Earnings
Impact

EPS
Impact

Earnings
Impact

EPS
Impact

Net earnings attributable to The Campbell's Company $ 567 $ 1.�9 $ �5� $ 2.�5 

Costs associated with cost savings and optimization initiatives $ (�3) $ (.2�) $ (50) $ (.17) 
Pension and postretirement actuarial gains (losses)  (25)  (.0�)  11  .04 
Commodity mark-to-market gains (losses)  (16)  (.05)  16  .05 
Costs associated with acquisition  (109)  (.36)  (4)  (.01) 
Accelerated amortization  (20)  (.07)  (5)  (.02) 
Impairment charges  (9�)  (.33)  �  � 
Certain litigation expenses  (5)  (.02)  �  � 
Cybersecurity incident costs  (2)  (.01)  �  � 
Charges associated with divestiture  �  �  (13)  (.04) 
Impact of items on Net earnings(1) $ (35�) $ (1.19) $ (45) $ (.15) 

������������������������������������������
(1) Sum of the individual amounts may not add due to rounding.

Net earnings attributable to The Campbell's Company were $567 million ($1.�9 per share) in 2024, compared to $�5� 
million ($2.�5 per share) in 2023. After adjusting for items impacting comparability, earnings increased reflecting improved 
gross profit, partially offset by higher interest expense, higher marketing and selling expenses, higher other expenses and higher 
research and development expenses. Earnings per share benefited from a reduction in the weighted average diluted shares 
outstanding. 

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

An analysis of net sales by reportable segment follows:

� Change
(Millions) 2025 2024 2023 2025�2024 2024�2023

�eals � �everages � �,050 $ 5,25� $ 4,907 15 7
Snacks  4,203  4,37�  4,450 (4) (2)

� �0,253 $ 9,636 $ 9,357 6 3

An analysis of percent change of net sales by reportable segment follows:

2025 �ersus 2024
Meals � 

�e�erages(2) Snac�s Total

�olume�mix 1� (3)� (1)�
Net price realization(1) (1) � (1)
Acquisition 15 � �
Divestitures (1) (3) (2)
Estimated impact of 53rd week 2 2 2

15� (4)� 6�

2024 �ersus 2023
Meals � 

�e�erages Snac�s Total

�olume�mix (2)� (2)� (2)�
Net price realization(1) � 1 1
Acquisition 9 � 5
Divestiture � (1) (1)

7� (2)� 3�
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������������������������������������������
(1) Includes revenue reductions from trade promotion and consumer coupon redemption programs.
(2) Sum of the individual amounts does not add due to rounding.

In 2025, Meals � Beverages sales increased 15� primarily due to a 15-point benefit from the acquisition of Sovos Brands. 
Excluding the benefit from the Sovos Brands acquisition, the benefit of the additional week and the impact from the divestiture 
of the noosa yoghurt business, sales were comparable primarily due to gains in foodservice, Canada and Rao's pasta sauces, 
partially offset by declines in U.S. soup and SpaghettiOs. Favorable volume�mix was offset by unfavorable net price realization. 
Including a 1-point benefit from the additional week, sales of U.S. soup were comparable with prior year as increases in broth 
and condensed soups were offset by decreases in ready-to-serve soups. 

In 2024, Meals � Beverages sales increased �� reflecting a �-point benefit from the acquisition of Sovos Brands. Sales 
were impacted by unfavorable volume�mix with neutral net price realization. Excluding the benefit from the acquisition, sales 
decreased primarily due to declines in U.S. retail products, including beverages and U.S. soup, partially offset by gains in 
foodservice and Canada. Sales of U.S. soup decreased 2� primarily due to decreases in ready-to-serve soups and condensed 
soups, partially offset by an increase in broth. 

In 2025, Snacks sales decreased 4�. Excluding the impact from the divestiture of the Pop Secret popcorn business and the 
benefit of the additional week, sales decreased due to declines in third-party partner brands and contract manufacturing, 
Goldfish crackers, Snyder's of Hanover pretzels, Lance sandwich crackers, fresh bakery and Pepperidge Farm cookies. Sales 
were impacted by volume�mix declines with neutral net price realization.

In 2024, Snacks sales decreased 2�. Excluding the impact from the divestiture of the Emerald nuts business, sales 
decreased as declines in third-party partner brands and contract manufacturing, fresh bakery and Pop Secret popcorn were 
partially offset by increases in Goldfish crackers, Lance sandwich crackers and Cape Cod potato chips. �olume�mix declines 
were partially offset by favorable net price realization. 

�ross profit, defined as Net sales less Cost of products sold, increased by $14� million in 2025 from 2024 and increased by 
$54 million in 2024 from 2023. �s a percent of sales, gross profit was 30.4� in 2025, 30.�� in 2024 and 31.2� in 2023. 

The 40 basis-point decreases in gross profit margin in 2025 and 2024, were due to the following factors:

Margin Impact
2025 2024

Cost inflation, supply chain costs and other factors(1) (150) (310)
Net price realization (40) 60
�olume�mix(2) (10) 20
Productivity improvements 150 240
Impact of acquisition(3) 10 (40)
�igher costs associated with cost savings initiatives � (10)

(40) (40)
������������������������������������������
(1) 2025 includes an estimated positive margin impact of 50 basis points from the benefit of cost savings initiatives and a 30 

basis-point positive impact from the change in unrealized mark-to-market adjustments on outstanding undesignated 
commodity hedges, which were more than offset by cost inflation and other factors. 2024 includes an estimated positive 
margin impact of 20 basis points from the benefit of cost savings initiatives, which was more than offset by cost inflation 
and other factors, including a 40 basis-point negative impact from the change in unrealized mark-to-market adjustments on 
outstanding undesignated commodity hedges and a 10 basis-point negative impact from a cybersecurity incident. 

(2) Includes the impact of operating leverage.
(3) 2025 includes a positive margin impact of 20 basis points from lapping the 20 basis-point negative margin impact in 2024 

from a Sovos Brands acquisition date fair value adjustment for inventory.

Marketing and selling expenses as a percent of sales were �.0� in 2025, �.6� in 2024 and �.�� in 2023. Marketing and 
selling expenses increased 11� in 2025 from 2024. The increase was primarily due to the impact of the acquisition 
(approximately � points)� higher advertising and consumer promotion expense (approximately 2 points) and higher costs related 
to cost savings and optimization initiatives (approximately 2 points). The increase in advertising and consumer promotion 
expense was driven by Meals � Beverages and Snacks.
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Marketing and selling expenses increased 3� in 2024 from 2023. The increase was primarily due to the impact of the 
acquisition (approximately 4 points)� higher selling expenses (approximately 1 point) and higher other marketing expenses 
(approximately 1 point), partially offset by lower advertising and consumer promotion expense (approximately 3 points), 
primarily in Meals � �everages. 

Administrative expenses as a percent of sales were 6.6� in 2025, 7.6� in 2024 and 7.0� in 2023. Administrative expenses 
decreased 9� in 2025 from 2024. The decrease was primarily due to increased benefits from cost savings initiatives 
(approximately � points)� costs associated with the acquisition in the prior year (approximately 6 points)� lower incentive 
compensation (approximately 2 points)� lower costs related to cost savings initiatives (approximately 2 points)� and lower 
benefit-related costs (approximately 1 point), partially offset by higher general administrative costs and inflation (approximately 
7 points) and the impact of the acquisition (approximately 3 points).

Administrative expenses increased 13� in 2024 from 2023. The increase was primarily due to costs associated with the 
acquisition (approximately 7 points)� higher costs related to cost savings initiatives (approximately 5 points)� higher general 
administrative costs and inflation (approximately 3 points)� the impact of the acquisition (approximately 2 points) and higher 
benefit-related costs (approximately 2 points), partially offset by increased benefits from cost savings initiatives (approximately 
5 points) and lower incentive compensation (approximately 2 points).

Other expenses in 2025 included the following: 

� $176 million of impairment charges related to the Snyder's of Hanover, Allied brands and Late July trademarks�

� $6� million of amortization of intangible assets, including accelerated amortization of $20 million� 

� $25 million loss on the sale of the �op Secret popcorn business� and

� $11 million of net periodic benefit expense, including net pension and postretirement actuarial losses of $24 million.

Other expenses in 2024 included the following:

� $129 million of impairment charges related to the Pop Secret and Allied brands trademarks�

� $73 million of amortization of intangible assets, including accelerated amortization of $27 million� 

� $35 million of costs associated with the acquisition of Sovos �rands� and

� $26 million of net periodic benefit expense, including pension and postretirement actuarial losses of $33 million.

Other expenses in 2023 included the following: 

� $4� million of amortization of intangible assets, including accelerated amortization of $7 million�

� $13 million loss on the sale of the Emerald nuts business�

� $5 million of costs associated with the acquisition of Sovos �rands� and

� $35 million of net periodic benefit income, including pension and postretirement actuarial gains of $15 million.

Segment operating earnings increased 1� in 2025 from 2024 and increased 6� in 2024 from 2023. 

An analysis of operating earnings by segment follows:

� ���n��
(Millions) 2025 2024 2023 2025�2024 2024�2023

Meals � �everages � 1,0�6 $ 974 $ �94 10 9
Snacks  560  64�  640 (14) 1

 1,636  1,622  1,534 1 6
Corporate income (expense)  (488)  (5�4)  (206) 
Restructuring charges(1)  (24)  (3�)  (16) 
Earnings before interest and taxes � 1,124 $ 1,000 $ 1,312 

������������������������������������������
(1) See �ote � to the Consolidated �inancial Statements for additional information on restructuring charges.

26



Operating earnings from �eals � Beverages increased 10� in 2025 versus 2024. The increase was primarily due to the 
benefit of the acquisition of Sovos Brands and the benefit of the additional week, partially offset by lower gross profit. �ross 
profit margin decreased due to higher cost inflation and other supply chain costs, unfavorable net price realization and the 
dilutive impact of the acquisition, partially offset by supply chain productivity improvements, benefits from cost savings 
initiatives and favorable volume�mix.

Operating earnings from �eals � Beverages increased 9� in 2024 versus 2023. The increase was primarily due to the 
benefit of the acquisition of Sovos Brands and lower marketing and selling expenses, partially offset by lower gross profit. 
�ross profit margin decreased due to higher cost inflation and other supply chain costs and the dilutive impact of the 
acquisition, partially offset by supply chain productivity improvements, favorable net price realization and favorable volume�
mix.

Operating earnings from Snacks decreased 14� in 2025 versus 2024. The decrease was primarily due to lower gross profit 
and higher marketing and selling expenses, partially offset by lower administrative expenses. �ross profit decreased primarily 
due to the impact of cost inflation and other supply chain costs and unfavorable volume�mix, partially offset by supply chain 
productivity improvements, the benefit of the additional week and benefits from cost savings initiatives.

Operating earnings from Snacks increased 1� in 2024 versus 2023. The increase was primarily due to higher gross profit, 
partially offset by higher marketing and selling expenses. �ross profit margin increased due to supply chain productivity 
improvements, favorable net price realization and benefits from cost savings initiatives more than offsetting higher cost 
inflation and other supply chain costs. 

Corporate expense in 2025 included the following:

� $176 million of impairment charges related to the Snyder's of Hanover, Allied brands and Late July trademarks�

� costs of $101 million related to cost savings and optimization initiatives�

� $25 million loss on the sale of the Pop Secret popcorn business�

� $24 million of net pension and postretirement actuarial losses�

� $20 million of accelerated amortization expense� 

� $5 million of certain litigation expenses, including expenses related to Plum�

� $11 million of unrealized mark-to-market gains on outstanding undesignated commodity hedges� and

� $1 million of insurance recoveries related to a cybersecurity incident.

Corporate expense in 2024 included the following:

� $129 million of impairment charges related to the Pop Secret and Allied brands trademarks�

� $105 million of costs associated with the acquisition of Sovos Brands� 

� costs of $92 million related to cost savings and optimization initiatives�

� $33 million of pension and postretirement actuarial losses�

� $27 million of accelerated amortization expense� 

� $22 million of unrealized mark-to-market losses on outstanding undesignated commodity hedges�

� $5 million of certain litigation expenses, including expenses related to Plum� and

� $3 million of costs associated with a cybersecurity incident.

Corporate expense in 2023 included the following:

� costs of $50 million related to the cost savings initiatives� 

� $13 million loss from the sale of the �merald nuts business� 

� $7 million of accelerated amortization expense�

� $5 million of costs associated with the acquisition of Sovos Brands� 

� $21 million of unrealized mark-to-market gains on outstanding undesignated commodity hedges� and

� $15 million of pension and postretirement actuarial gains.
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Interest expense was $345 million in 2025, $249 million in 2024 and $1�� million in 2023. The increases in 2025 and 2024
were primarily due to higher levels of debt to fund the acquisition in 2024 and higher average interest rates on the debt portfolio 
each year.

The effective tax rate was 24.4� in 2025, 25.1� in 2024 and 23.9� in 2023.

The decrease in the effective tax rate in 2025 from 2024 was primarily due to nondeductible costs associated with the 
acquisition of Sovos Brands in the prior year, excess tax benefits associated with the vesting of stock-based compensation 
awards in the current year and state tax law changes, partially offset by $15 million of tax expense related to the sale of the 
noosa yoghurt business.

The increase in the effective rate in 2024 from 2023 was primarily due to nondeductible costs associated with the 
acquisition.

�u�ti��ear Cost �a�ings �nitiati�es an� �n��er�s��an�e� �n�� ��n��er�s��an�e� Cost �rans�or�ation �rogra� an� �ntegration

Continuing Operations

Beginning in 2015, we implemented initiatives to reduce costs and to streamline our organizational structure. 

Over the years, we expanded these initiatives by continuing to optimize our supply chain and manufacturing networks, as 
well as our information technology infrastructure.

On March 26, 201�, we completed the acquisition of Snyder's-Lance. Prior to the acquisition, Snyder's-Lance launched a 
cost transformation program following a comprehensive review of its operations with the goal of significantly improving its 
financial performance. �e continued to implement this program and identified opportunities for additional cost synergies as we 
integrated Snyder's-Lance.

In 2022, we expanded these initiatives as we continued to pursue cost savings by further optimizing our supply chain and 
manufacturing network and through effective cost management. In the second quarter of 2023, we announced plans to 
consolidate our Snacks offices in Charlotte, North Carolina, and Norwalk, Connecticut, into our headquarters in Camden, New 
Jersey.

A summary of charges recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings related to these initiatives is as follows:

(Millions, except per share amounts) 2024 2023 Total Program

Restructuring charges $ 17 $ 16 $ 297 
Administrative expenses  54  24  437 
Cost of products sold  26  1�  12� 
Marketing and selling expenses  4  5  23 
Research and development expenses  3  3  10 
Total pre-tax charges $ 104 $ 66 $ �95 

Aggregate after-tax impact $ 79 $ 50 
Per share impact $ .26 $ .17 

A summary of the pre-tax costs associated with these initiatives is as follows:

(Millions) Total Program

Severance pay and benefits $ 253 
Asset impairment�accelerated depreciation  134 
Implementation costs and other related costs  50� 
Total $ �95 
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Of the aggregate $�95 million pre-tax costs incurred, approximately $720 million were cash expenditures.

Segment operating results do not include restructuring charges, implementation costs and other related costs because we 
evaluate segment performance excluding such charges. A summary of the pre-tax costs associated with segments is as follows:

(Millions) Total Program

Meals � Beverages $ 2�� 
Snacks  3�3 
Corporate  224 
Total $ �95 

As of �uly 2�, 2024, we substantially completed the multi-year cost savings initiatives and Snyder's-Lance cost 
transformation program and integration, and we generated total pre-tax savings of approximately $950 million. Certain phases 
that had not been fully implemented were incorporated into the 2025 cost savings initiatives described below. 

On March 12, 2024, we completed the acquisition of Sovos Brands. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for additional information. �e identified opportunities for cost synergies as we integrate Sovos Brands.

In 2024, we recorded Restructuring charges of $21 million for severance pay and benefits related to initiatives to achieve 
the synergies and generated pre-tax savings of $10 million. The charges incurred in 2024 were associated with the Meals � 
Beverages segment. 

In 2025, the initiatives to achieve synergies were incorporated into the cost savings initiatives described below.

On September 10, 2024, we announced plans to implement cost savings initiatives beginning in 2025, including initiatives 
to further optimize our supply chain and manufacturing network, optimization of our information technology infrastructure and 
targeted cost management. �e also identified additional opportunities for cost synergies as we integrate Sovos Brands. As 
mentioned above, we substantially completed our previous multi-year cost savings initiatives and Snyder's-Lance cost 
transformation program and integration. Certain initiatives from that program have been incorporated into our 2025 cost 
savings initiatives. Cost estimates for the 2025 initiatives, as well as timing for certain activities, are continuing to be 
developed.

A summary of charges recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings related to these initiatives is as follows:

(Millions, except per share amounts) 2025

Restructuring charges $ 24 
Administrative expenses  41 
Cost of products sold  32 
Marketing and selling expenses 4 
Research and development expenses 3 
Total pre-tax charges $ 104 

Aggregate after-tax impact $ 79 
Per share impact $ .26 

A summary of the pre-tax costs associated with the initiatives is as follows:

(Millions)
�ecogni�e� as o� 
August 3, 2025

Severance pay and benefits $ 24 
Asset impairment�accelerated depreciation 31 
Implementation costs and other related costs 49 
Total $ 104 
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The total estimated pre-tax costs for actions that have been identified to date are approximately $215 million, and we 
expect to incur substantially all of the costs through 202�. These estimates will be updated as the detailed plans are developed.

�e expect the costs for the actions that have been identified to date to consist of the following: approximately $30 million
in severance pay and benefits� approximately $55 million in asset impairment and accelerated depreciation� and approximately 
$130 million in implementation costs and other related costs. �e expect these pre-tax costs to be associated with our segments 
as follows: Meals � Beverages - approximately 71�� Snacks - approximately 11� and Corporate - approximately 1��.

Of the aggregate $215 million of pre-tax costs identified to date, we expect approximately $155 million will be cash 
expenditures. In addition, we expect to invest approximately $205 million in capital expenditures, of which we invested 
$147 million as of August 3, 2025. The capital expenditures primarily relate to optimization of production within our 
manufacturing network, optimization of information technology infrastructure and applications and implementation of our 
existing SAP enterprise-resource planning system for Sovos Brands.

On September 10, 2024 we announced that we expect these initiatives, once all phases are implemented, to generate annual 
ongoing savings of approximately $250 million by the end of 202�. On September 3, 2025, we increased the estimate of annual 
ongoing savings, once all phases are implemented, to approximately $375 million by the end of 202�. As of August 3, 2025, we 
have generated total program-to-date pre-tax savings of $145 million. 

Segment operating results do not include restructuring charges, implementation costs and other related costs because we 
evaluate segment performance excluding such charges. A summary of the pre-tax costs associated with segments is as follows: 

(Millions) 2025

Meals � Beverages $ 74 
Snacks  14 
Corporate  16 
Total $ 104 

In the second quarter of 2024, we began implementation of an initiative to improve the effectiveness of our Snacks direct-
store-delivery route-to-market network. Pursuant to this initiative we will purchase certain Pepperidge Farm and Snyder's-
Lance routes where there are opportunities to unlock greater scale in select markets, combine them and sell the combined routes 
to independent contractor distributors. �e expect to execute this program in a staggered rollout and to incur expenses of up to 
approximately $115 million through 2029. In 2025, we incurred $20 million in Marketing and selling expenses and $1 million
in Administrative expenses related to this initiative. In 2024, we incurred $5 million in Marketing and selling expenses related 
to this initiative. As of August 3, 2025, we have incurred $25 million in Marketing and selling expenses and $1 million in 
Administrative expenses related to this initiative.

�������������������������������

�e expect foreseeable liquidity and capital resource requirements to be met through anticipated cash flows from 
operations� long-term borrowings� short-term borrowings, which may include commercial paper� credit facilities� and cash and 
cash equivalents. �e believe that our sources of financing will be adequate to meet our future requirements.

�e generated cash flows from operations of $1.131 billion in 2025, compared to $1.1�5 billion in 2024. The decline in 
2025 was primarily due to changes in working capital.

�e generated cash flows from operations of $1.1�5 billion in 2024, compared to $1.143 billion in 2023. The increase in 
2024 was primarily due to changes in working capital. 

�e had negative working capital of $674 million as of August 3, 2025, and $1.3�6 billion as of �uly 2�, 2024. Current 
assets were less than current liabilities, which included debt maturing in one year, due to a focus on lowering core working 
capital requirements. Total debt maturing within one year was $762 million as of August 3, 2025, and $1.423 billion as of 
�uly 2�, 2024. �e have $400 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes maturing in March 2026 that we expect to 
repay and�or refinance using available resources, which may include cash on hand, accessing the capital markets, commercial 
paper and�or revolving credit facility.

As part of our focus to lower core working capital requirements, we have worked with our suppliers to optimize our terms 
and conditions, including the extension of payment terms. Our current payment terms with our suppliers, which we deem to be 
commercially reasonable, generally range from 0 to 120 days. �e also maintain agreements with third-party administrators that 
allow participating suppliers to track payment obligations from us, and, at the sole discretion of the supplier, sell those payment 
obligations to participating financial institutions. Our obligations to our suppliers, including amounts due and scheduled 
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payment terms, are not impacted. Supplier participation in these agreements is voluntary. �e have no economic interest in a 
supplier�s decision to enter into these agreements and no direct financial relationship with the financial institutions. �e have 
not pledged assets as security or provided any guarantees in connection with these arrangements. The payment of these 
obligations is included in cash provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Amounts 
outstanding under these programs, which are included in Accounts payable on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, were 
$240 million at August 3, 2025, and $243 million at July 2�, 2024.

Capital expenditures were $426 million in 2025, $517 million in 2024 and $370 million in 2023. Capital expenditures are 
expected to total approximately $420 million in 2026. Capital expenditures in 2025 included network optimization for our 
Meals � Beverages business, chip and cracker capacity expansion for our Snacks business and enhancements to our 
headquarters in Camden, New Jersey. Capital expenditures in 2024 included chip and cracker capacity expansion for our 
Snacks business, upgrades of assets across both segments of the business, enhancements to our headquarters in Camden, New 
Jersey and network optimization for our Meals � Beverages business. Capital expenditures in 2023 included chip and cracker 
capacity expansion for our Snacks business and a new manufacturing line for our Meals � Beverages business.

In Snacks, we have a direct-store-delivery distribution model that uses independent contractor distributors. From time to 
time, we purchase and sell routes, including certain routes under our optimization initiatives. The purchase and sale proceeds of 
the routes are reflected in investing activities. 

On March 12, 2024, we completed the acquisition of Sovos Brands. Cash consideration was $2.�57 billion. The acquisition 
was funded through the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement of $2 billion and cash on hand.

On February 24, 2025, we sold the noosa yoghurt business for $1�� million, subject to certain customary purchase price 
adjustments. On August 26, 2024, we sold our Pop Secret popcorn business for $70 million. On May 30, 2023, we completed 
the sale of our Emerald nuts business for $41 million.

Dividend payments were $459 million in 2025, $445 million in 2024 and $447 million in 2023. Annual dividends declared 
were $1.54 per share in 2025, and $1.4� per share in 2024 and 2023. The 2025 fourth quarter dividend was $.39 per share. The 
declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of our Board and depends on various factors, including our net earnings, 
financial condition, cash requirements, future prospects and other factors that our Board deems relevant to its analysis and 
decision making.

In September 2021, the Board approved a strategic share repurchase program of up to $500 million (September 2021 
program). The September 2021 program has no expiration date, but it may be suspended or discontinued at any time. 
Repurchases under the September 2021 program may be made in open-market or privately negotiated transactions. In 
September 2024, the Board authorized a new anti-dilutive share repurchase program of up to $250 million (September 2024 
program) to offset the impact of dilution from shares issued under our stock compensation programs. The September 2024 
program has no expiration date, but it may be discontinued at any time. Repurchases under the September 2024 program may 
be made in open-market or privately negotiated transactions. The September 2024 program replaced an anti-dilutive share 
repurchase program of up to $250 million that was approved by the Board in June 2021 and has been terminated. In 2025, we 
repurchased 1.303 million shares at a cost of $62 million pursuant to our anti-dilutive share repurchase program. In 2024 and 
2023, we repurchased 1.56 million shares at a cost of $67 million and 2.69� million shares at a cost of $142 million, 
respectively. As of August 3, 2025, approximately $19� million remained available under the September 2024 program and 
approximately $301 million remained under the September 2021 program. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and "Market for Registrant's Capital Stock, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities" 
for additional information.

On November 15, 2022, we entered into a delayed draw term loan credit agreement (the 2022 DDTL Credit Agreement) 
totaling up to $500 million scheduled to mature on November 15, 2025. Loans under the 2022 DDTL Credit Agreement bear 
interest at the rates specified in the 2022 DDTL Credit Agreement, which vary based on the type of loan and certain other 
conditions. The 2022 DDTL Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties, affirmative and negative 
covenants, including a financial covenant with respect to a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of consolidated 
adjusted EBITDA to consolidated interest expense (as each is defined in the 2022 DDTL Credit Agreement) of not less than 
3.25�1.00, and events of default for credit facilities of this type. �e borrowed $500 million under the 2022 DDTL Credit 
Agreement on March 13, 2023, and used the proceeds and cash on hand to repay the 3.65� $566 million Notes that matured on 
March 15, 2023. On April 5, 2024, we repaid $100 million of the $500 million outstanding under the 2022 DDTL Credit 
Agreement. The remaining $400 million was repaid in October 2024 and November 2024 as described below.
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On October 10, 2023, we entered into the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement totaling up to $2 billion scheduled to mature on 
October �, 2024. Loans under the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement bear interest at the rates specified in the 2024 DDTL Credit 
Agreement, which vary based on the type of loan and certain other conditions. The 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement contains 
customary representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, including a financial covenant with respect to a 
minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of consolidated adjusted EBITDA to consolidated interest expense (as each is 
defined in the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement) of not less than 3.25:1.00, and events of default for credit facilities of this type. 
The proceeds of the loans under the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement could only be used in connection with the acquisition of 
Sovos Brands and the payment of fees and expenses incurred in connection therewith. On March 12, 2024, we borrowed 
$2 billion under the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement and used the proceeds in order to fund the acquisition of Sovos Brands, 
along with the fees and expenses incurred in connection therewith.

In August 2023, we filed a registration statement with the SEC that registered an indeterminate amount of debt securities. 
Under the registration statement we may issue debt securities from time to time, depending on market conditions.

On March 19, 2024, pursuant to the registration statement, we issued senior unsecured notes of $2.5 billion, consisting of:

� $400 million aggregate principal amount of notes bearing interest at a fixed rate of 5.30� per annum, due 
March 20, 2026, with interest payable semi-annually on each of March 20 and September 20 commencing 
September 20, 2024�

� $500 million aggregate principal amount of notes bearing interest at a fixed rate of 5.20� per annum, due 
March 19, 2027, with interest payable semi-annually on each of March 19 and September 19 commencing 
September 19, 2024�

� $600 million aggregate principal amount of notes bearing interest at a fixed rate of 5.20� per annum, due 
March 21, 2029, with interest payable semi-annually on each of March 21 and September 21 commencing 
September 21, 2024� and 

� $1 billion aggregate principal amount of notes bearing interest at a fixed rate of 5.40� per annum, due 
March 21, 2034, with interest payable semi-annually on each of March 21 and September 21 commencing 
September 21, 2024.

The notes contain customary covenants and events of default. If a change of control triggering event occurs, we will be required 
to offer to purchase the notes at a purchase price equal to 101� of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, 
to the purchase date. �e used the net proceeds from the sale of the notes to repay the $2 billion of outstanding borrowings 
under the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement used to fund the Sovos Brands acquisition, including fees and expenses in connection 
therewith, and the remainder of the net proceeds to repay commercial paper.

On October 2, 2024, pursuant to the registration statement, we completed the issuance of senior unsecured notes of $1.15 
billion, consisting of:

� $�00 million aggregate principal amount of notes bearing interest at a fixed rate of 4.75� per annum, due March 23, 
2035, with interest payable semi-annually on each of March 23 and September 23 commencing March 23, 2025� and

� $350 million aggregate principal amount of notes bearing interest at a fixed rate of 5.25� per annum, due October 13, 
2054, with interest payable semi-annually on each of April 13 and October 13 commencing April 13, 2025.

The notes contain customary covenants and events of default. If a change of control triggering event occurs, we will be required 
to offer to purchase the notes at a purchase price equal to 101� of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, 
to the purchase date. In October 2024, we used a portion of the net proceeds from the issuance of the notes to repay $200 
million of the $400 million outstanding under the 2022 DDTL Credit Agreement due November 15, 2025 and a portion of our 
outstanding commercial paper. In November 2024, we repaid the remaining $200 million outstanding under the 2022 DDTL 
Credit Agreement. In March 2025, we used a portion of the net proceeds from the issuance of the notes along with cash on hand 
and the issuance of commercial paper to repay a $1.15 billion aggregate principal amount of senior notes that matured in March 
2025.

On April 16, 2024, we terminated our existing revolving credit facility dated September 27, 2021 (as amended on 
April 4, 2023). On April 16, 2024, we entered into a Five-Year Credit Agreement for an unsecured, senior revolving credit 
facility (the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility Agreement) in an aggregate principal amount equal to $1.�5 billion with a maturity 
date of April 16, 2029, or such later date as extended pursuant to the terms set forth in the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility 
Agreement. On August 5, 2025, we entered into an Extension Agreement to extend the maturity date of the 2024 Revolving 
Credit Facility Agreement by one year from April 16, 2029 to April 16, 2030. The 2024 Revolving Credit Facility Agreement 
remained unused at August 3, 2025, except for $1 million of standby letters of credit that we issued under it. �e may increase 
the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility Agreement commitments up to an additional $500 million, subject to the satisfaction of 
certain conditions. Loans under the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility Agreement will bear interest at the rates specified in the 
2024 Revolving Credit Facility Agreement, which vary based on the type of loan and certain other conditions. The 2024 
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Revolving Credit Facility Agreement facility contains customary covenants, including a financial covenant with respect to a 
minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of consolidated adjusted EBITDA to consolidated interest expense of not less 
than 3.25:1.00 and customary events of default for credit facilities of this type. The facility supports our commercial paper 
program and other general corporate purposes. �e expect to continue to access the commercial paper markets, bank credit lines 
and utilize cash flows from operations to support our short-term liquidity requirements.

As of August 3, 2025, we had $762 million of short-term borrowings due within one year, of which $332 million was 
comprised of commercial paper borrowings. As of August 3, 2025, we issued $27 million of standby letters of credit.

�e are in compliance with the covenants contained in our credit facilities and debt securities.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

�e have short- and long-term material cash requirements related to our contractual obligations that arise in the normal 
course of business. In addition to principal and interest payments on our outstanding debt obligations, our contractual 
obligations primarily consist of purchase commitments, lease payments and pension and postretirement benefits.

See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary of our principal payments for short-term borrowings 
and long-term debt obligations as of August 3, 2025. Interest payments primarily for short-term borrowings and long-term debt 
as of August 3, 2025 are approximately as follows: $304 million in 2026� $529 million in 2027 through 202�� $3�� million in 
2029 through 2030� and $1.�46 billion from 2031 through maturity. Interest payments are based on principal amounts and 
coupons or contractual rates at fiscal year end.

Purchase commitments represent purchase orders and long-term purchase arrangements related to the procurement of 
ingredients, supplies, machinery, equipment, contract manufacturing and services. As of August 3, 2025, purchase 
commitments totaled approximately $1.966 billion. Approximately $1.403 billion of these purchase commitments will be 
settled in the ordinary course of business in the next 12 months and the balance of $563 million from 2027 through 2031.

See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary of our lease obligations as of August 3, 2025.

As of August 3, 2025, we have a pension liability of $9� million and a postretirement benefit obligation of $127 million. 
As of August 3, 2025, we also have a pension asset of $12� million based on the funded status of certain plans. See Note 10 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements and "Critical Accounting Estimates" for further discussion of our pension and 
postretirement benefit obligations.

�e guarantee approximately 4,500 bank loans made to independent contractor distributors by third-party financial 
institutions for the purchase of distribution routes. The maximum potential amount of the future payments under existing 
guarantees we could be required to make is $570 million as of August 3, 2025. Our guarantees are indirectly secured by the 
distribution routes. �e do not expect that we will be required to make material guarantee payments as a result of defaults on the 
bank loans guaranteed.

These obligations and commitments impact our liquidity and capital resource needs. �e expect foreseeable liquidity and 
capital resource requirements to be met through anticipated cash flows from operations� long-term borrowings� short-term 
borrowings, which may include commercial paper� credit facilities� and cash and cash equivalents. �e believe that our sources 
of financing will be adequate to meet our future requirements.

MAR�ET RIS� SENSITI�IT�

The principal market risks to which we are exposed are changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and 
commodity prices. In addition, we are exposed to price changes related to certain deferred compensation obligations. �e 
manage our foreign currency exposures by utilizing foreign exchange forward and option contracts. �e enter into foreign 
exchange forward and option contracts for periods consistent with related underlying exposures, and the contracts do not 
constitute positions independent of those exposures. �e manage our exposure to changes in interest rates by optimizing the use 
of variable-rate and fixed-rate debt and we may utilize interest rate swaps in order to maintain our variable-to-total debt ratio 
within targeted guidelines. �e principally use a combination of purchase orders and various short- and long-term supply 
arrangements in connection with the purchase of raw materials, including certain commodities and agricultural products. �e 
also enter into commodity futures, options and swap contracts to reduce the volatility of price fluctuations of wheat, diesel fuel, 
natural gas, soybean oil, cocoa, aluminum, soybean meal and corn. �e do not enter into derivative contracts for speculative 
purposes and do not use leveraged instruments. 

The information below summarizes our market risks associated with significant financial instruments as of August 3, 2025. 
Fair values included herein have been determined based on quoted market prices or pricing models using current market rates. 

33



The information presented below should be read in conjunction with Notes 13, 14 and 15 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

�e are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk, primarily the Canadian dollar and �uro, related to intercompany 
transactions and third-party transactions. �e utilize foreign exchange forward and option contracts to hedge these exposures. 
The notional amounts of the contracts as of August 3, 2025, and �uly 2�, 2024, were $596 million and $297 million, 
respectively. The aggregate fair value of all contracts was a loss of $1 million as of August 3, 2025, and a gain of $2 million as 
of �uly 2�, 2024. A hypothetical 10� fluctuation in exchange rates would impact the fair value of our outstanding foreign 
exchange contracts by approximately $32 million as of August 3, 2025, and $16 million as of �uly 2�, 2024, which would 
generally be offset by inverse changes on the underlying hedged items.

As of August 3, 2025, we had outstanding variable-rate debt of $332 million with an average interest rate of 4.69�. As of 
�uly 2�, 2024, we had outstanding variable-rate debt of $650 million with an average interest rate of 6.20�. A hypothetical 
100-basis-point increase in average interest rates applied to our variable-rate debt balances throughout 2025 and 2024 would 
have increased annual interest expense in those years by approximately $3 million and $7 million, respectively.

As of August 3, 2025, we had outstanding fixed-rate debt of $6.5�3 billion with a weighted average interest rate of 4.57�. 
As of �uly 2�, 2024, we had outstanding fixed-rate debt of $6.5�4 billion with a weighted average interest rate of 4.3��. The 
fair value of fixed-rate debt was $6.213 billion as of August 3, 2025 and $6.216 billion as of �uly 2�, 2024. As of 
August 3, 2025, and �uly 2�, 2024, a hypothetical 100-basis-point increase in interest rates would decrease the fair value of our 
fixed-rate debt by approximately $367 million and $312 million, respectively, while a hypothetical 100-basis-point decrease in 
interest rates would increase the fair value of our fixed-rate debt by approximately $417 million and $34� million, respectively. 
The impact of market interest rate fluctuations on our long-term debt does not affect our results of operations or financial 
position.

�e manage our exposure to changes in interest rates by optimizing the use of variable-rate and fixed-rate debt. From time 
to time, we may use interest rate swaps in order to maintain our variable-to-total debt ratio within targeted guidelines. �e 
manage our exposure to interest volatility on future debt issuances by entering into forward starting interest rate swaps or 
treasury lock contracts to hedge the rate on the interest payments related to the anticipated debt issuance. There were no forward 
starting interest rate swaps or treasury lock contracts outstanding as of August 3, 2025 and �uly 2�, 2024. In conjunction with 
the issuance of senior unsecured notes on October 2, 2024, due on March 23, 2035, we settled forward starting interest rate 
swaps with a notional value of $700 million at a gain of less than $1 million. �e settled forward starting interest rate swaps 
with a notional value of $1.1 billion in March 2024 at a loss of $11 million. The gains and losses on these instruments were 
recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) and will be recognized in Interest expense over the respective lives of the debt.

�e enter into commodity futures, options and swap contracts, and a supply contract under which prices for certain raw 
materials are established based on anticipated volume requirements to reduce the volatility of price fluctuations for 
commodities. As of August 3, 2025, the total notional amount of the contracts was $233 million, and the aggregate fair value of 
the contracts was a gain of $1 million. As of �uly 2�, 2024, the total notional amount of the contracts was $24� million, and the 
aggregate fair value of the contracts was a loss of $10 million. A hypothetical 10� fluctuation in commodity prices would 
impact the fair value of our outstanding commodity contracts by approximately $23 million as of August 3, 2025, and $24 
million as of �uly 2�, 2024, which would generally be offset by inverse changes on the underlying hedged items.

�e enter into swap contracts which hedge a portion of exposures relating to the total return of certain deferred 
compensation obligations. The notional amount of the contracts was $76 million as of August 3, 2025, and $71 million as of 
�uly 2�, 2024. The fair value of the contracts was a gain of $1 million as of August 3, 2025, and a gain of $3 million as of 
�uly 2�, 2024. A hypothetical 10� fluctuation in equity price changes would impact the fair value of our outstanding swap 
contracts by $� million as of August 3, 2025, and $7 million as of �uly 2�, 2024, which would generally be offset by inverse 
changes on the underlying hedged items.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

�e prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the �nited 
States. The preparation of these financial statements requires the use of estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the periods presented. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions. See Note 1 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for a discussion of significant accounting policies. The following areas all require the use of subjective or 
complex judgments, estimates and assumptions: 

�e offer various sales incentive programs to customers and consumers, such 
as feature price discounts, in-store display incentives, cooperative advertising programs, new product introduction fees and 
coupons. The mix between these forms of variable consideration, which are classified as reductions in revenue and recognized 
upon sale, and advertising or other marketing activities, which are classified as marketing and selling expenses, fluctuates 
between periods based on our overall marketing plans. The measurement and recognition of the costs for trade and consumer 
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promotion programs involves the use of judgment related to performance and redemption estimates. Estimates are made based 
on historical experience and other factors, including expected volume. Typically, programs that are offered have a very short 
duration. �istorically, the difference between actual experience compared to estimated redemptions and performance has not 
been significant to the quarterly or annual financial statements. Differences between estimates and actual costs are recognized 
as a change in estimate in a subsequent period. �owever, actual expenses may differ if the level of redemption rates and 
performance were to vary from estimates. Accrued trade and consumer promotion liabilities as of August 3, 2025 and �uly 2�, 
2024 were $159 million and $1�6 million, respectively.

�aluat�on of lon��l�ved assets � Fixed assets and amortizable intangible assets are reviewed for impairment as events or 
changes in circumstances occur indicating that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. Undiscounted cash flow 
analyses are used to determine if the carrying amount of the asset is recoverable. If impairment is determined to exist, the 
charge is calculated based on estimated fair value.

�oodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are not amortized but rather are tested at least annually in 
the fourth quarter for impairment, or more often if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the 
asset may be impaired.

�oodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level. A reporting unit represents an operating segment or a 
component of an operating segment. �oodwill is tested for impairment by either performing a qualitative evaluation or a 
quantitative test. The qualitative evaluation is an assessment of factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the 
fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. �e may elect not to perform the qualitative 
assessment for some or all reporting units and perform a quantitative impairment test. Fair value is determined based on 
discounted cash flow analyses. The discounted estimates of future cash flows include significant management assumptions such 
as revenue growth rates, operating margins, weighted average costs of capital and future economic and market conditions. If the 
carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds fair value, goodwill is considered impaired. An impairment charge is recognized for 
the amount by which the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds fair value, limited to the amount of goodwill in the 
reporting unit.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of the asset to the carrying value. 
Fair value is determined using a relief from royalty valuation method based on discounted cash flow analyses that include 
significant management assumptions such as revenue growth rates, weighted average costs of capital and assumed royalty rates. 
If the carrying value exceeds fair value, an impairment charge will be recorded to reduce the asset to fair value.

���� Assess�ents

In the fourth quarter of 2024, we recognized an impairment charge of $53 million on certain salty snacks and cookie 
trademarks within our Snacks segment, including �o��s, Jays� �runcher�s, ���e��o�e, Stella ��oro and Archway, collectively 
referred to as our "Allied brands." In 2024, sales and operating performance were below expectations due in part to competitive 
pressure and reduced margins. In the fourth quarter of 2024, based on recent performance and the reevaluation of the position of 
the Allied brands within our portfolio, we lowered our near-term and long-term outlook for future sales and operating 
performance, reducing the carrying value of the trademarks to $43 million.

In the fourth quarter of 2024, we performed an impairment assessment on the assets in our Pop Secret popcorn business 
within our Snacks segment as sales and operating performance were below expectations due in part to competitive pressure and 
reduced margins, and as we pursued divesting the business. As a result of these factors, in the fourth quarter of 2024, we 
lowered our long-term outlook for the business and recognized an impairment charge of $76 million on the trademark, reducing 
the carrying value of the trademark to $2� million. The sale of the business was completed on August 26, 2024.

���� Assess�ents
As of August 3, 2025, the carrying value of goodwill was $4.991 billion. Based on our assessments, all of our reporting 

units had fair values that significantly exceeded carrying values.

During the second quarter of 2025, we performed an interim impairment assessment on our Allied brands trademarks as 
our sales performance was below expectations. In the second quarter of 2025, based on recent performance, we lowered our 
long-term outlook and recognized an impairment charge of $15 million on the trademarks, reducing the carrying value to 
$2� million.

During the second quarter of 2025, we performed an interim impairment assessment on the Late July trademark within our 
Snacks segment as our sales performance was below expectations. In the second quarter of 2025, based on recent performance, 
we lowered our long-term outlook and recognized an impairment charge of $11 million on the trademark, reducing the carrying 
value to $47 million.

During the third quarter of 2025, we performed an interim impairment assessment on the Snyder's of Hanover trademark 
within our Snacks segment as our sales and operating performance were below expectations. In the third quarter of 2025, based 
on recent performance, we lowered our long-term outlook and recognized an impairment charge of $150 million on the 
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trademark, reducing the carrying value to $470 million.

As of August 3, 2025, the carrying value of indefinite-lived trademarks was $3.67� billion as detailed below:

(Millions)

Rao's $ 1,470 
Snyder's of Hanover  470 
Lance  350 
Kettle Brand  31� 
Pace  292 
Pacific Foods  2�0 
Cape Cod  1�7 
�arious other Snacks(1)  311 
Total $ 3,67� 

�������������������������������������
(1) Includes the Late July and Allied brands trademarks.

As of the 2025 annual impairment testing, indefinite-lived trademarks with approximately 10� or less of excess coverage 
of fair value over carrying value had an aggregate carrying value of $2.5�7 billion and included the Rao's, Snyder's of Hanover,
Pace, Pacific Foods, Late July and Allied brands trademarks. Although assumptions are generally interdependent and do not 
change in isolation, sensitivities to changes are provided below. �olding all other assumptions in our 2025 impairment testing 
constant, changes in the assumptions below would reduce fair value of trademarks and result in impairment charges of 
approximately:

(Millions)
Allied 
brands

1� increase in the weighted-average cost of capital $ 95 $ 65 $ 20 $ 25 $ 5 $ 5 
1� reduction in revenue growth $ � $ 25 $ 5 $ � $ 5 $ 5 
1� decrease in royalty rate $ 15 $ 45 $ 10 $ 30 $ 25 $ 10 

�hile the 1� changes in assumptions would not result in impairment charges on our other trademarks, some changes 
would result in a fair value exceeding carrying value by less than 15� for the Lance, Kettle Brand and Cape Cod trademarks.

The estimates of future cash flows used in impairment testing involve significant management judgment, and are based 
upon assumptions about expected future operating performance, assumed royalty rates, economic conditions, market conditions 
and cost of capital. Inherent in estimating the future cash flows are uncertainties beyond our control, such as changes in capital 
markets. The actual cash flows could differ materially from management’s estimates due to changes in business conditions, 
operating performance and economic conditions, including the potential impact of tariffs. If our assumptions change or market 
conditions decline, potential impairment charges could result. 

See also Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on goodwill and intangible assets.

Pension and postretire�ent �enefits � �e provide certain pension and postretirement benefits to employees and retirees. 
Determining the cost associated with such benefits is dependent on various actuarial assumptions, including discount rates, 
expected return on plan assets, compensation increases, turnover rates and health care trend rates. Independent actuaries, in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, perform the required calculations to determine 
expense. Actuarial gains and losses are recogni�ed immediately in �ther expenses � (income) in the Consolidated Statements of 
Earnings as of the measurement date, which is our fiscal year end, or more frequently if an interim remeasurement is required. 
�e use the fair value of plan assets to calculate the expected return on plan assets.

In establishing the discount rate, we review published market indices of high-quality debt securities, adjusted as appropriate 
for duration. In addition, independent actuaries apply high-quality bond yield curves to the expected benefit payments of the 
plans. �e use a full yield curve approach to estimate service cost and interest cost by applying the specific spot rates along the 
yield curve used to determine the benefit obligation of the relevant projected cash flows.

The expected return on plan assets is a long-term assumption based upon historical experience and expected future 
performance, considering our current and projected investment mix. This estimate is based on an estimate of future inflation, 
long-term projected real returns for each asset class and a premium for active management. �ithin any given fiscal period, 
significant differences may arise between the actual return and the expected return on plan assets. �ains and losses resulting 
from differences between actual experience and the assumptions are determined at each measurement date. 
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As of August 3, 2025, we have a pension liability of $9� million and a postretirement benefit obligation of $127 million. 
As of August 3, 2025, we also have a pension asset of $12� million based on the funded status of certain plans.

Net periodic pension and postretirement benefit expense (income) and actuarial losses (gains) included within net periodic 
pension and benefit expense (income) were as follows:

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

Total net periodic pension and postretirement benefit expense (income) � 24 $ 39 $ (22) 
Actuarial losses (gains) � 24 $ 33 $ (15) 

The actuarial losses recognized in 2025 were primarily due to gains on plan assets that were less than the expected return, 
partially offset by increases in the discount rates used to determine the benefit obligation and plan experience. The actuarial 
losses recognized in 2024 were primarily due to decreases in discount rates used to determine the benefit obligation and plan 
experience, partially offset by gains on plan assets. The actuarial gains recognized in 2023 were primarily due to increases in 
discount rates used to determine the benefit obligation, partially offset by losses on plan assets and plan experience.

Significant weighted-average assumptions as of the end of the year were as follows:

2025 2024 2023

Pension
Discount rate for benefit obligations 5�4�� 5.2�� 5.46�
Expected return on plan assets ���3� 6.40� 6.3��
Postretirement
Discount rate for obligations 5�2�� 5.23� 5.47�

Based on benefit obligations and plan assets as of August 3, 2025, estimated sensitivities to 2026 annual net periodic 
pension and postretirement cost are as follows: 

� a 50-basis-point increase in the discount rate would result in expense of approximately $4 million and would result in 
an immediate actuarial gain recognition of approximately $39 million� 

� a 50-basis-point decline in the discount rate would result in income of approximately $5 million and would result in an 
immediate actuarial loss recognition of approximately $43 million� and 

� a 50-basis-point reduction in the estimated return on assets assumption would result in expense of approximately $6 
million.

Contributions to pension plans were not material in 2025, 2024 and 2023 and are not expected to be material in 2026.

See also Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on pension and postretirement 
benefits.

The effective tax rate reflects statutory tax rates, tax planning opportunities available in the various 
jurisdictions in which we operate and management’s estimate of the ultimate outcome of various tax audits and issues. 
Significant judgment is required in determining the effective tax rate and in evaluating tax positions. Income taxes are recorded 
based on amounts refundable or payable in the current year and include the effect of deferred taxes. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized for the future impact of differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities and their respective tax bases, as well as for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled. �aluation allowances are established for deferred tax assets when it is more li�ely than not 
that a tax benefit will not be realized.

See also Notes 1 and 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion on income taxes. 

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information on recent accounting pronouncements.

37



CAUTIONARY FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

This Report contains "forward-looking" statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 
1995. These forward-looking statements reflect our current expectations regarding our future results of operations, economic 
performance, financial condition and achievements. These forward-looking statements can be identified by words such as 
"anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "plan," "pursue," "strategy," "target," "will" and similar expressions. One 
can also identify forward-looking statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts, and may 
reflect anticipated cost savings or implementation of our strategic plan. These statements reflect our current plans and 
expectations and are based on information currently available to us. They rely on several assumptions regarding future events 
and estimates which could be inaccurate and which are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties.

�e wish to caution the reader that the following important factors and those important factors described in Part 1, �tem 1A 
and elsewhere in this Report, or in our other SEC filings, could affect our actual results and could cause such results to vary 
materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements made by, or on behalf of, us:

� declines or volatility in financial markets, deteriorating economic conditions and other external factors, including the 
impact and application of new or changes to existing governmental laws, regulations, and policies�

� the risks associated with imposed and threatened tariffs by the �.S. and reciprocal tariffs by its trading partners�

� the risks related to the availability of, and cost inflation in, supply chain inputs, including labor, raw materials, 
commodities, packaging and transportation, including those related to tariffs�

� disruptions in or inefficiencies to our supply chain and�or operations, including reliance on key contract manufacturer 
and supplier relationships�

• our ability to execute on and realize the expected benefits from our strategy, including sales growth in and�or 
maintenance of our market share position in snacks, soups, sauces and beverages�

� the impact of strong competitive responses to our efforts to leverage brand power with product innovation, 
promotional programs and new advertising�

� the risks associated with trade and consumer acceptance of product improvements, shelving initiatives, new products 
and pricing and promotional strategies�

� changes in consumer demand for our products and favorable perception of our brands�

� the risk that the cost savings and any other synergies from the Sovos Brands transaction may not be fully realized or 
may take longer or cost more to be realized than expected, including that the Sovos Brands transaction may not be 
accretive to the extent anticipated�

� our ability to realize projected cost savings and benefits from cost savings initiatives and the integration of recent 
ac�uisitions�

� risks related to the effectiveness of our hedging activities and our ability to respond to volatility in commodity prices�

� our ability to manage changes to our organizational structure and�or business processes, including selling, distribution, 
manufacturing and information management systems or processes�

� changing inventory management practices by certain of our key customers�

� a changing customer landscape, with value and e-commerce retailers expanding their market presence, while certain of 
our key customers maintain significance to our business�

� product �uality and safety issues, including recalls and product liabilities�

� the possible disruption to the independent contractor distribution models used by certain of our businesses, including 
as a result of litigation or regulatory actions affecting their independent contractor classification�

� the uncertainties of litigation and regulatory actions against us�

� a disruption, failure or security breach of our or our vendors' information technology systems, including ransomware 
attacks�

� impairment to goodwill or other intangible assets�

� our ability to protect our intellectual property rights�

� increased liabilities and costs related to our defined benefit pension plans�

� our ability to attract and retain key talent�

� goals and initiatives related to, and the impacts of, climate change, including from weather-related events�
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� the costs, disruption and diversion of management�s attention associated with activist investors�

� our indebtedness and ability to pay such indebtedness� and
� unforeseen business disruptions or other impacts due to political instability, civil disobedience, terrorism, geopolitical 

conflicts, extreme weather conditions, natural disasters, pandemics or other outbreaks of disease or other calamities.

This discussion of uncertainties is by no means exhaustive but is designed to highlight important factors that may impact 
our outlook. �e disclaim any obligation or intent to update forward�looking statements made by us in order to reflect new 
information, events or circumstances after the date they are made.

Item 7A. 

The information presented in the section entitled "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
�esults of �perations � Market �isk �ensitivity" is incorporated herein by reference.
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THE CAMPBELL'S COMPANY
Consolidated Statements of Earnings
(millions, except per share amounts)

2025 2024 2023
53 �ee�s 52 �ee�s 52 �ee�s

Net sales � 10,253 $ 9,636 $ 9,357 
Costs and expenses

Cost of products sold  7,134  6,665  6,440 
Marketing and selling expenses  924  �33  �11 
Administrative expenses  674  737  654 
Research and development expenses  100  102  92 
�ther expenses � (income)  273  261  32 
Restructuring charges  24  3�  16 

Total costs and expenses  9,129  �,636  �,045 
Earnings before interest and taxes  1,124  1,000  1,312 
Interest expense  345  249  1�� 
Interest income  17  6  4 
Earnings before taxes  796  757  1,12� 
Taxes on earnings  194  190  270 
Net earnings  602  567  �5� 

Less: Net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests  �  �  � 
Net earnings attributable to The Campbell's Company � 602 $ 567 $ �5� 

Per Share � Basic
Net earnings attributable to The Campbell's Company � 2�02 $ 1.90 $ 2.�7 

�eighted average shares outstanding � basic  298  29�  299 

Per Share � Assuming �ilution
Net earnings attributable to The Campbell's Company � 2�01 $ 1.�9 $ 2.�5 

�eighted average shares outstanding � assuming dilution  300  300  301 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE CAMPBELL'S COMPANY
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensi�e �ncome

(millions)
2025 2024 2023

53 wee�s 52 wee�s 52 wee�s

Pre-tax 
amount

Tax 
benefit 

(expense)
After-tax 
amount

Pre-tax 
amount

Tax 
benefit 

(expense)
After-tax 
amount

Pre-tax 
amount

Tax 
benefit 

(expense)
After-tax 
amount

Net earnings � �02 $ 567 $ �5� 
Other comprehensi�e income (loss):

Foreign currency translation:
Foreign currency translation 
adjustments � (1) � �  (1) $ (9) $ �  (9) $ (1) $ �  (1) 

Cash-flow hedges:
Unrealized gains (losses) arising 
during the period  (3)  1  (2)  (5)  1  (4)  5  (1)  4 
Reclassification adjustment for 
losses (gains) included in net 
earnings  �  �  �  (1)  �  (1)  (10)  2  (�) 

Pension and other postretirement 
benefits:

Prior service credit arising during 
the period  7  (2)  5  �  �  �  �  �  � 
Reclassification of prior service 
credit included in net earnings  (1)  1  �  �  �  �  �  �  � 

Other comprehensi�e income (loss) � 2 � �  2 $ (15) $ 1  (14) $ (6) $ 1  (5) 
Total comprehensi�e income (loss) � �04 $ 553 $ �53 
Total comprehensive income (loss) 
attributable to noncontrolling interests  �  �  � 
Total comprehensi�e income (loss) 
attributable to The Campbell's 
Company � �04 $ 553 $ �53 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE CAMPBELL'S COMPANY
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(millions, except per share amounts)

August 3, 2025 July 28, 2024

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents � 132 $ 10� 
Accounts receivable, net  583  630 
Inventories  1,424  1,3�6 
Other current assets  93  66 

Total current assets  2,232  2,190 
Plant assets, net of depreciation  2,767  2,69� 
�oodwill  4,991  5,077 
Other intangible assets, net of amortization  4,356  4,716 
Other assets  550  554 
Total assets � 14,896 $ 15,235 
Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings � 762 $ 1,423 
Accounts payable  1,332  1,311 
Accrued liabilities  688  720 
Dividends payable  120  115 
Accrued income taxes  4  7 

Total current liabilities  2,906  3,576 
Long-term debt  6,095  5,761 
Deferred taxes  1,353  1,426 
Other liabilities  638  676 
Total liabilities  10,992  11,439 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 1�)
The Campbell's Company shareholders' e�uity

Preferred stock� authorized 40 shares� none issued  �  � 
Capital stock, $.0375 par value� authorized 560 shares� issued 323 shares  12  12 
Additional paid-in capital  418  437 
Earnings retained in the business  4,694  4,569 
Capital stock in treasury, at cost  (1,207)  (1,207) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  (15)  (17) 

Total The Campbell's Company shareholders' e�uity  3,902  3,794 
Noncontrolling interests  2  2 
Total e�uity  3,904  3,796 
Total liabilities and e�uity � 14,896 $ 15,235 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE CAMPBELL'S COMPANY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(millions)
2025 2024 2023

53 wee�s 52 wee�s 52 wee�s
Cash flows from o�erating acti�ities�

Net earnings � 602 $ 567 $ �5� 
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to operating cash flow

Impairment charges  176  129  � 
Restructuring charges  24  3�  16 
Stock-based compensation  57  99  63 
Amortization of inventory fair value adjustment from acquisition  �  17  � 
Pension and postretirement benefit expense (income)  24  39  (22) 
Depreciation and amortization  434  411  3�7 
Deferred income taxes  (54)  (47)  (5) 
Loss on sales of businesses  25  �  13 
Other  119  13�  100 

Changes in working capital, net of acquisition and divestitures
Accounts receivable  26  (16)  (1) 
Inventories  (80)  11  (64) 
Other current assets  (14)  4  13 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (167)  (12�)  (164) 

Other  (41)  (77)  (51) 
Net cash �ro�ided �� o�erating acti�ities  1,131  1,1�5  1,143 

Cash flows from in�esting acti�ities�
Purchases of plant assets  (426)  (517)  (370) 
Purchases of routes  (144)  (29)  (13) 
Sales of routes  121  34  1 
Business acquired, net of cash acquired  �  (2,617)  � 
Sales of businesses, net of cash divested  258  �  41 
Other  4  1  1 

Net cash �sed in in�esting acti�ities  (187)  (3,12�)  (340) 
Cash flows from financing acti�ities�

Short-term borrowings, including commercial paper and delayed draw term loan  1,846  5,622  3,677 
Short-term repayments, including commercial paper and delayed draw term loan  (1,796)  (5,576)  (3,749) 
Long-term borrowings  1,144  2,496  500 
Long-term repayments  (1,550)  (100)  (566) 
Dividends paid  (459)  (445)  (447) 
Treasury stock purchases  (62)  (67)  (142) 
Treasury stock issuances  �  2  22 
Payments related to tax withholding for stock-based compensation  (30)  (46)  (19) 
Payments of debt issuance costs  (12)  (23)  � 
Other  �  �  1 

Net cash �ro�ided �� (�sed in) financing acti�ities  (919)  1,�63  (723) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  (1)  (1)  � 
Net change in cash and cash e��i�alents  24  (�1)  �0 
Cash and cash e��i�alents � �eginning of �eriod  108  1�9  109 
Cash and cash e��i�alents � end of �eriod � 132 $ 10� $ 1�9 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE CAMPBELL'S COMPANY
Consolidated Statements o� E�uity

(millions, except per share amounts)
The Camp�ell's Company Shareholders� E�uity

Capital Stoc�

Additional 
Paid-in
Capital

Earnings 
Retained in 

the
Business

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensi�e
Income (Loss)

Noncontrolling
Interests

Issued In Treasury
Total

E�uityShares Amount Shares Amount

Balance at July 31, 2022  323 $ 12  (24) $ (1,13�) $ 415 $ 4,040 $ 2 $ 2 $ 3,333 

Net earnings (loss)  �5� �  �5� 
Other comprehensive income 
(loss) (5) �  (5) 
Dividends ($1.4� per share)  (447)  (447) 
Treasury stock purchased  (3)  (142)  (142) 
Treasury stock issued under 
stock-based compensation plans  2  61  5  �  66 

Balance at July 30, 2023  323  12  (25)  (1,219)  420  4,451 (3) 2  3,663 
Net earnings (loss)  567 �  567 
Other comprehensive income 
(loss) (14) �  (14) 
Dividends ($1.4� per share)  (449)  (449) 

Replacement share-based awards 
issued in connection with Sovos 
Brands, Inc. acquisition(1)  42  42 
Treasury stock purchased  (2)  (67)  (67) 
Treasury stock issued under 
stock-based compensation plans  2  79  (25)  �  54 

Balance at July 2�, 2024  323  12  (25)  (1,207)  437  4,569 (17) 2  3,796 
Net earnings (loss)  602 �  602 
Other comprehensi�e income 
(loss) 2 �  2 
�i�idends (�1�54 per share)  (460)  (460) 
Treasury stoc� purchased  (1)  (62)  (62) 
Treasury stoc� issued under 
stoc�-�ased compensation plans  1  62  (19)  (17)  26 

Balance at August 3, 2025  323 � 12  (25) � (1,207) � 41� � 4,694 � (15) � 2 � 3,904 

(1) See Note 3 for additional information.
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

In this Report, unless otherwise stated, the terms "we," "us," "our" and the "company" refer to The Campbell's Company 
and its consolidated subsidiaries. 

�e are a manufacturer and marketer of high-quality, branded food and beverage products.

Basis of Presentation � The consolidated financial statements include our accounts and entities in which we maintain a 
controlling financial interest. Intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation. Our fiscal year ends on the Sunday 
nearest July 31. There were 53 weeks in 2025 and 52 weeks in 2024 and 2023. There will be 52 weeks in 2026.

�se of �sti�ates � �enerally accepted accounting principles require management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition � Our revenues primarily consist of the sale of food and beverage products through our own sales 
force and�or third-party brokers and distribution partners. Revenues are recognized when our performance obligation has been 
satisfied and control of the product passes to our customers, which typically occurs when products are delivered. Shipping and 
handling costs incurred to deliver the product are recorded within Cost of products sold. Amounts billed and due from our 
customers are classified as Accounts receivable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and require payment on a short-term basis. 
Revenues are recognized net of provisions for returns, discounts and certain sales promotion expenses, such as feature price 
discounts, in-store display incentives, cooperative advertising programs, new product introduction fees and coupon redemption 
costs. These forms of variable consideration are recognized upon sale. The recognition of costs for promotion programs 
involves the use of judgment related to performance and redemption estimates. Estimates are made based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expected volume. �istorically, the difference between actual experience compared to 
estimated redemptions and performance has not been significant to the quarterly or annual financial statements. Differences 
between estimates and actual costs are recognized as a change in estimate in a subsequent period. Revenues are presented on a 
net basis for arrangements under which suppliers perform certain additional services. See Note 7 for additional information on 
disaggregation of revenue.

�as� an� �as� ��uiva�ents � All highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or 
less are classified as cash equivalents.

�nventories � All inventories are valued at the lower of average cost or net realizable value.

Pro�ert�� P�ant an� ��ui��ent � �roperty, plant and equipment are recorded at historical cost and are depreciated over 
estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. Buildings and machinery and equipment are depreciated over periods not 
exceeding 45 years and 20 years, respectively. Assets are evaluated for impairment when conditions indicate that the carrying 
value may not be recoverable. Such conditions include significant adverse changes in business climate or a plan of disposal. 
Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.

�oo��i�� an� �ntangi��e �ssets � �oodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are not amortized but 
rather are tested at least annually in the fourth quarter for impairment, or more often if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may be impaired.

�oodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level. A reporting unit represents an operating segment or a 
component of an operating segment. �oodwill is tested for impairment by either performing a qualitative evaluation or a 
quantitative test. The qualitative evaluation is an assessment of factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the 
fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. �e may elect not to perform the qualitative 
assessment for some or all reporting units and perform a quantitative impairment test. Fair value is determined based on 
discounted cash flow analyses. The discounted estimates of future cash flows include significant management assumptions such 
as revenue growth rates, operating margins, weighted average costs of capital and future economic and market conditions. If the 
carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds fair value, goodwill is considered impaired. An impairment charge is recognized for 
the amount by which the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds fair value, limited to the amount of goodwill in the 
reporting unit.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of the asset to the carrying value. 
Fair value is determined using a relief from royalty valuation method based on discounted cash flow analyses that include 
significant management assumptions such as revenue growth rates, weighted average costs of capital and assumed royalty rates. 
If the carrying value exceeds fair value, an impairment charge will be recorded to reduce the asset to fair value.

Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives and are reviewed for impairment as 
events or changes in circumstances occur indicating that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. Undiscounted 
cash flow analyses are used to determine if the carrying amount of the asset is recoverable. If impairment is determined to exist, 
the charge is calculated based on estimated fair value.
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See Note 6 for more information.

�e determine if an agreement is or contains a lease at inception by evaluating if an identified asset exists that we 
control for a period of time. �hen a lease exists, we record a right-of-use (ROU) asset and a corresponding lease liability on 
our Consolidated Balance Sheets. ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and the 
corresponding liabilities represent an obligation to make lease payments during the term. �e have elected not to record leases 
with a term of 12 months or less on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

ROU assets are recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets at lease commencement based on the present value of the 
corresponding liabilities and are adjusted for any prepayments, lease incentives received, or initial direct costs incurred. To 
calculate the present value of our lease liabilities, we use a country-specific collateralized incremental borrowing rate based on 
the lease term at commencement. The measurement of our ROU assets and liabilities includes all fixed payments and any 
variable payments based on an index or rate.

Our leases generally include options to extend or terminate use of the underlying assets. These options are included in the 
lease term used to determine ROU assets and corresponding liabilities when we are reasonably certain we will exercise.

Our lease arrangements typically include non-lease components, such as common area maintenance and labor. �e account 
for each lease and any non-lease components associated with that lease as a single lease component for all underlying asset 
classes with the exception of certain production assets. Accordingly, all costs associated with a lease contract are disclosed as 
lease costs. This includes any variable payments that are not dependent on an index or a rate and which are expensed as 
incurred.

Operating leases expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term with the expense recorded in Cost of 
products sold, Marketing and selling expenses, or Administrative expenses depending on the nature of the leased item.

For finance leases, the amortization of ROU lease assets is recognized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 
estimated useful life of the underlying asset or the lease term in Cost of products sold, Marketing and selling expenses, or 
Administrative expenses depending on the nature of the leased item. Interest expense on finance lease obligations is recorded 
using the effective interest method over the lease term and is recorded in Interest expense.

All operating lease cash payments and interest on finance leases are recorded within Net cash provided by operating 
activities and all finance lease principal payments are recorded within Net cash used in financing activities in our Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows.

See Note 11 for more information.

 � �e use derivative financial instruments primarily for purposes of hedging exposures 
to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates, commodities and equity-linked employee benefit obligations. 
�e enter into these derivative contracts for periods consistent with the related underlying exposures, and the contracts do not 
constitute positions independent of those exposures. �e do not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes and do 
not use leveraged instruments. Our derivative programs include strategies that qualify and strategies that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting treatment. To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging relationship, both at inception of the hedge and on an 
ongoing basis, is expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged risk during the 
period that the hedge is designated. 

All derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet at fair value. For derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting, we 
designate the derivative as a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or a firm commitment (fair-value hedge) or 
a hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or 
liability (cash-flow hedge). Some derivatives may also be considered natural hedging instruments (changes in fair value act as 
economic offsets to changes in fair value of the underlying hedged item) and are not designated for hedge accounting.

Changes in the fair value on the portion of the derivative included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness of a fair-value 
hedge, along with the gain or loss on the underlying hedged asset or liability (including losses or gains on firm commitments), 
are recorded in current-period earnings. Changes in the fair value on the portion of the derivative included in the assessment of 
hedge effectiveness of cash-flow hedges are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), until earnings are affected by the 
variability of cash flows. For derivatives that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments, the initial fair value of hedge 
components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness is recognized in earnings under a systematic and rational method 
over the life of the hedging instrument and is presented in the same statement of earnings line item as the earnings effect of the 
hedged item. Any difference between the change in the fair value of the hedge components excluded from the assessment of 
effectiveness and the amounts recognized in earnings is recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (loss). 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are not designated for hedge accounting are recognized in current-period earnings.

Cash flows from derivative contracts are included in Net cash provided by operating activities.
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Advertising Production Costs � Advertising production costs are expensed in the period that the advertisement first takes 
place or when a decision is made not to use an advertisement. 

Rese�rc� �nd �evelop�ent Costs � The costs of research and development are expensed as incurred. Costs include 
expenditures for new product and manufacturing process innovation, and improvements to existing products and processes. 
Costs primarily consist of salaries, wages, consulting, and depreciation and maintenance of research facilities and equipment.

�nco�e ���es � Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future impact of differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, as well as for operating loss and tax credit 
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in 
the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. �aluation allowances 
are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized.

2.   Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted

In September 2022, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued guidance that enhances the transparency of 
supplier finance programs by requiring disclosure of the key terms of these programs and a related rollforward of these 
obligations to understand the effect on working capital, liquidity and cash flows. The guidance is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods in those fiscal years, except for the rollforward requirement, 
which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. �e adopted the guidance in the fourth quarter of 2023, 
with the exception of the rollforward information which was adopted in the fourth quarter of 2025. The adoption did not have a 
material impact on our consolidated financial statements. See Note 19 for additional information.

In November 2023, the FASB issued guidance to improve reportable segment disclosures, primarily through enhanced 
disclosures about significant segment expenses. In addition, the guidance enhances interim disclosure requirements, clarifies 
circumstances in which an entity can disclose multiple segment measures of profit or loss, provides new segment disclosure 
requirements for entities with a single reportable segment and contains other disclosure requirements. The purpose of the 
guidance is to enable investors to better understand an entity’s overall performance and assess potential future cash flows. The 
guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2024. �e adopted the guidance in the fourth quarter of 2025. The adoption did not have an impact on our 
consolidated financial statements. See Note 7 for additional information.

Accounting Pronounce�ents �ot �et Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued guidance to improve income tax disclosures by requiring disaggregated information 
about a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid. The guidance is effective 
for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. The guidance should be applied on a prospective basis with the option to 
apply the standard retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. �e are currently evaluating the impact that the new guidance 
will have on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2024, the FASB issued guidance to improve disclosures by requiring additional details about specific types of 
expenses (purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation and intangible asset amortization) included in certain 
expense captions. The guidance requires disclosure of the total amount of selling expenses and, on an annual basis, disclosure 
of the definition of selling expenses. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim 
periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The guidance should be applied on 
a prospective basis with the option to apply the standard retrospectively. �e are currently evaluating the impact that the new 
guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements.
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3.  �c�uisition

On August 7, 2023, we entered into a merger agreement to acquire Sovos Brands, Inc. (Sovos Brands) for $23.00 per share. 
On March 12, 2024, we completed the acquisition. Sovos Brands' portfolio included a variety of pasta sauces, dry pasta, soups, 
frozen entr�es, frozen pizza and yogurts sold in North America under the brand names �ao�s������a����n���o�s and noosa. See 
Note 4 for additional information on the noosa yoghurt business, which was sold on February 24, 2025. Total purchase 
consideration was $2.�99 billion, which was determined as follows:

(Millions)

Cash consideration paid to Sovos Brands shareholders(1) $ 2,307 
Cash paid for share-based awards(2) 32 

Cash consideration paid directly to shareholders � ��33� 
Cash paid for transaction costs of Sovos Brands 32 
Repayment of Sovos Brands existing indebtedness and accrued interest  4�6 

Total cash consideration � ����� 
Fair value of replacement share-based awards(3) 42 

Total consideration � ����� 
��������������������������������������
(1) Consideration paid to Sovos Brands shareholders which reflects $23.00 per share.
(2) Represents cash paid to equity award holders of Sovos Brands restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards attributable 

to pre-combination service. This excludes $3 million of cash paid that was recognized as expense.
(3) �e issued replacement equity awards in settlement of certain Sovos Brands equity awards that did not become vested in 

connection with the acquisition. The portion of fair value of the replacement awards attributable to pre-combination service 
was $42 million and is included in the purchase consideration. �e recognized $26 million of expense related to accelerated 
vesting of certain replacement awards.
The cash portion of the acquisition was funded through a Delayed Draw Term Loan Credit Agreement (the 2024 DDTL 

Credit Agreement) of $2 billion and cash on hand. See Note 13 for additional information. 
The table below presents the fair value that was allocated to acquired assets and assumed liabilities:

(Millions)
Estimated Fair 

�alue

Cash $ 240 
Accounts receivable 96 
Inventories  130 
Other current assets 5 
Plant assets  100 
Other intangible assets  1,776 
Other assets 16 

Total assets ac�uired � ��3�3 
Accounts payable $ 96 
Accrued liabilities 56 
Accrued income taxes 1 
Long-term debt 9 
Deferred taxes  407 
Other liabilities 11 

Total liabilities assumed � ��� 
Net assets acquired $ 1,7�3 
�oodwill  1,116 

Total consideration � ����� 

The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of identifiable net assets was recorded as $1.116 billion of 
goodwill. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. The goodwill was primarily attributable to future growth 
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opportunities, anticipated synergies, and intangible assets that did not qualify for separate recognition. The goodwill is included 
in the Meals � Beverages segment.

The identifiable intangible assets of Sovos Brands consist of:

(Millions) Type  Life in Years �al�e

Trademarks Non-amortizable Indefinite $ 1,470 
Trademarks(1) Amortizable 20 76 
Customer relationships(2) Amortizable 20 to 30  230 
Total identifiable intangible assets $ 1,776 

���������������������������������������
(1) Includes $74 million related to the noosa yoghurt business.
(2) Includes $1� million related to the noosa yoghurt business.

�e incurred transaction costs and integration costs, including costs to achieve synergies, of $12� million associated with 
the Sovos Brands acquisition in 2024. Approximately $35 million represented transaction costs, including outside advisory 
costs, recorded in Other expenses � (income). In addition, we recognized $2 million in Interest expense related to financing fees 
associated with the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement. Integration costs included expenses associated with accelerated vesting of 
replacement awards, severance and retention bonuses, amortization of the acquisition date fair value adjustment to inventories 
and other costs. Integration costs recognized in 2024 included the following:

� $1� million in Cost of products sold, $17 million of which related to the amortization of the acquisition date fair value 
adjustment to inventories�

� $3 million of Marketing and selling expenses�

� $47 million of Administrative expenses�

� $2 million of �esearch and development expenses� and

$21 million of �estructuring charges to achieve synergies. See Note � for additional information.

For the period March 12, 2024 through �uly 2�, 2024, the Sovos Brands acquisition contributed $423 million to Net sales 
and a loss of $�4 million to Net earnings, including the effect of transaction and integration costs and interest expense on the 
debt to finance the acquisition.

The following unaudited summary information is presented on a consolidated pro forma basis as if the Sovos Brands 
acquisition had occurred on August 1, 2022:

(Millions) 2024 2023

Net sales $ 10,354 $ 10,316 
Net earnings attributable to The Campbell's Company $ 592 $ 677 

The pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of the combined results had the Sovos Brands acquisition been 
completed on August 1, 2022, nor are they indicative of future combined results. The pro forma amounts include adjustments to 
interest expense for financing the acquisition, to amortization and depreciation expense based on the estimated fair value and 
useful lives of intangible assets and plant assets, and related tax effects. The pro forma results include adjustments to reflect 
amortization of the acquisition date fair value adjustment to inventories, expenses related to accelerated vesting of replacement 
awards and severance and retention bonuses as of August 1, 2022. 

4�   �i�es�i��res

On May 30, 2023, we completed the sale of our Emerald nuts business for $41 million. �e recognized a pre- and after-tax 
loss on the sale of $13 million. In connection with the sale, we provided certain transition services to support the business. The 
business had net sales of $51 million in 2023. Earnings were not material in the period. The results of the business were 
reflected within the Snacks reportable segment.

On August 26, 2024, we completed the sale our Pop Secret popcorn business for $70 million. �e recognized a pre-tax loss 
on the sale of $25 million, or $19 million after tax. In connection with the sale, we provided certain transition services to 
support the business. The business had net sales of $9 million in 2025, $119 million in 2024, and $133 million in 2023. 
Earnings were not material in the periods. The results of the business were reflected within the Snacks reportable segment.

�e entered into an agreement to sell our noosa yoghurt business in November 2024. The noosa yoghurt business was 
purchased as part of the Sovos Brands acquisition. In the second quarter of 2025, we recorded $15 million of tax expense 
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related to the sale of the business. �e completed the sale on February 24, 2025, for $1�� million, subject to certain customary 
purchase price adjustments. The after-tax loss recorded on the sale was $15 million. In connection with the sale, we provided 
certain transition services to support the business. The business had net sales of $99 million in 2025 and $�� million in 2024 
after it was purchased as part of the Sovos Brands acquisition on March 12, 2024. Earnings were not material in the periods. 
The results of the business were reflected within the Meals � Beverages segment.

5�   Accumulated �ther Com�rehensi�e Income (Loss)
The components of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following:

(Millions)

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Ad�ustments(1)

Cash-Flow 
Hedges(2)

Pension and 
Postretirement 

Benefit Plan 
Ad�ustments(3)

Total 
Accumulated 

Com�rehensi�e 
Income (Loss)

Balance at July 31, 2022 $ � $ � $ 2 $ 2 
Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
reclassifications  (1) 4  � 3 
Losses (gains) reclassified from accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss)  �  (�)  �  (�) 

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)  (1)  (4)  �  (5) 
Balance at July 30, 2023 $ (1) $ (4) $ 2 $ (3) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
reclassifications  (9)  (4)  �  (13) 
Losses (gains) reclassified from accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss)  �  (1)  �  (1) 

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)  (9)  (5)  �  (14) 
Balance at July 2�, 2024 $ (10) $ (9) $ 2 $ (17) 

�ther com�rehensi�e income (loss) �efore 
reclassifications  (1)  (2) 5 2 
Losses (gains) reclassified from accumulated other 
com�rehensi�e income (loss)  �  �  �  � 

�et current-�eriod other com�rehensi�e income 
(loss)  (1)  (2) 5 2 
Balance at August 3, 2025 � (11) � (11) � � � (15) 

��������������������������������������
(1) Included no tax as of August 3, 2025, July 2�, 2024, July 30, 2023, and July 31, 2022.
(2) Included a tax benefit of $3 million as of August 3, 2025, $2 million as of July 2�, 2024, and $1 million as of July 30, 

2023, and no tax as of July 31, 2022.
(3) Included tax expense of $2 million as of August 3, 2025, and $1 million as of July 2�, 2024, July 30, 2023, and July 31, 

2022.
Amounts related to noncontrolling interests were not material.

The amounts reclassified from Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following:

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023
Location of Loss (Gain) 
�ecogni�ed in �arnings

Losses (gains) on cash-flow hedges:
Commodity contracts � � $ � $ (3) Cost of products sold
Foreign exchange contracts  (3)  (3)  (�) Cost of products sold
Forward starting interest rate swaps  3  2  1 Interest expense

Total before tax  �  (1)  (10) 
Tax expense (benefit)  �  �  2 
Loss (gain), net of tax � � $ (1) $ (�) 

Pension and postretirement benefit adjustments:
Prior service credit � (1) $ � $ � Other expenses � (income)

Tax expense (benefit)  1  �  � 
Loss (gain), net of tax � � $ � $ � 
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6.   Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table shows the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill:

(Millions)
Meals � 

�e�e�ages �nac�s Total

Net balance at July 30, 2023 $ 990 $ 2,975 $ 3,965 
Acquisition(1)  1,116  �  1,116 
Foreign currency translation adjustment  (4)  �  (4) 
Net balance at July 2�, 2024 $ 2,102 $ 2,975 $ 5,077 
�i�estitu�es(2)  (65)  (21)  (86) 
�o�eign cu��enc� t�anslation ad�ustment  �  �  � 
Net balance at August 3, 2025 � 2,037 � 2,954 � 4,991 

��������������������������������������
(1) See Note 3 for additional information on the acquisition of Sovos Brands.
(2) See Note 4 for additional information on divestitures.

The following table summarizes balance sheet information for intangible assets, excluding goodwill: 

2025 2024

(Millions) Cost
Accumulated 
Amo�ti�ation �i�estitu�e(1) Net Cost

Accumulated 
Amo�ti�ation Net

Amortizable intangible assets
Customer relationships � 1,060 � (367) � (17) � 676 $ 1,060 $ (300) $ 760 
Definite-lived trademarks  76  (2)  (72)  2  76  (2)  74 
Total amortizable intangible assets � 1,136 � (369) � (89) � 678 $ 1,136 $ (302) $ �34 

Indefinite-lived trademarks
Rao's � 1,470 $ 1,470 
Snyder's of Hanover  470  620 
Lance  350  350 
Kettle Brand  318  31� 
Pace  292  292 
Pacific Foods  280  2�0 
Cape Cod  187  1�7 
�arious other Snacks(2) (3)  311  365 

Total indefinite-lived trademarks � 3,678 $ 3,��2 
Total net intangible assets � 4,356 $ 4,716 

��������������������������������������
(1) See Note 4 for additional information on the divestiture of our noosa yoghurt business.
(2) The carrying amount as of July 2�, 2024 included the $2� million Pop Secret trademark, which was divested with the sale 

of the business in 2025. See Note 4 for additional information.
(3) Includes the Late July and Allied brands trademarks.

Amortization expense was $6� million for 2025, $73 million for 2024 and $4� million for 2023. Amortization expense in 
2025, 2024 and 2023 included accelerated amortization expense of $20 million, $27 million and $7 million, respectively, on 
customer relationships which began in the fourth quarter of 2023 due to the loss of certain contract manufacturing customers. 
As of August 3, 2025, amortizable intangible assets had a weighted-average remaining useful life of 1� years. Amortization 
expense is estimated to be approximately $40 million per year for the following five years.

In the fourth quarter of 2024, we recognized an impairment charge of $53 million on certain salty snacks and cookie 
trademarks within our Snacks segment, including �o�’s, Jays, Kruncher’s, ��Ke��o�e, Stella �’oro and Archway, collectively 
referred to as our "Allied brands." In 2024, sales and operating performance were below expectations due in part to competitive 
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pressure and reduced margins. In the fourth quarter of 2024, based on recent performance and the reevaluation of the position of 
the Allied brands within our portfolio, we lowered our near-term and long-term outlook for future sales and operating 
performance, reducing the carrying value of the trademarks to $43 million.

In the fourth quarter of 2024, we performed an impairment assessment on the assets in our Pop Secret popcorn business 
within our Snacks segment as sales and operating performance were below expectations due in part to competitive pressure and 
reduced margins, and as we pursued divesting the business. As a result of these factors, in the fourth quarter of 2024, we 
lowered our long-term outlook for the business and recognized an impairment charge of $76 million on the trademark, reducing 
the carrying value of the trademark to $2� million. The sale of the business was completed on August 26, 2024. 

During the second quarter of 2025, we performed an interim impairment assessment on our Allied brands trademarks as 
our sales performance was below expectations. In the second quarter of 2025, based on recent performance, we lowered our 
long-term outlook and recognized an impairment charge of $15 million on the trademarks, reducing the carrying value to 
$2� million.

During the second quarter of 2025, we performed an interim impairment assessment on the Late July trademark within our 
Snacks segment as our sales performance was below expectations. In the second quarter of 2025, based on recent performance, 
we lowered our long-term outlook and recognized an impairment charge of $11 million on the trademark, reducing the carrying 
value to $47 million.

During the third quarter of 2025, we performed an interim impairment assessment on the Snyder's of Hanover trademark 
within our Snacks segment as our sales and operating performance were below expectations. In the third quarter of 2025, based 
on recent performance, we lowered our long-term outlook and recognized an impairment charge of $150 million on the 
trademark, reducing the carrying value to $470 million.

The impairment charges were recorded in Other expenses � (income) in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

As of the 2025 annual impairment testing, indefinite-lived trademarks with approximately 10� or less of excess coverage 
of fair value over carrying value had an aggregate carrying value of $2.5�7 billion and included the Rao's, Snyder's of Hanover,
Pace, Pacific Foods, Late July and Allied brands trademarks.

The estimates of future cash flows used in impairment testing involve significant management judgment and are based 
upon assumptions about expected future operating performance, assumed royalty rates, economic conditions, market conditions 
and cost of capital. Inherent in estimating the future cash flows are uncertainties beyond our control, such as changes in capital 
markets. The actual cash flows could differ materially from management’s estimates due to changes in business conditions, 
operating performance and economic conditions, including the potential impact of tariffs.

7.  Segment Information

Our operating segments, which are also our reportable segments, are as follows:

• Meals � Beverages, which consists of soup, simple meals and beverages products in retail and foodservice in the U.S. 
and Canada. The segment includes the following products: Campbell’s condensed and ready-to-serve soups� Swanson
broth and stocks� Pacific Foods broth, soups and non-dairy beverages� Prego pasta sauces� Pace Mexican sauces� 
SpaghettiOs pasta� Campbell’s gravies, beans and dinner sauces� Swanson canned poultry� V8 juices and beverages� 
Campbell's tomato juice� and as of March 12, 2024, Rao's pasta sauces, dry pasta, frozen entr�es, frozen pizza and 
soups� Michael Angelo’s frozen entr�es and pasta sauces� and noosa yogurts. The noosa yoghurt business was sold on 
February 24, 2025. The segment also includes snacking products in foodservice and Canada� and

• Snacks, which consists of Pepperidge Farm cookies, crackers, fresh bakery and frozen products, including Goldfish
crackers, Snyder’s of Hanover pretzels, Lance sandwich crackers, Cape Cod potato chips, Kettle Brand potato chips, 
Late July snacks, Snack Factory pretzel crisps, and other snacking products in retail in the U.S. The segment also 
includes the snacking and meals and beverages retail business in Latin America. The segment also included the results 
of our Pop Secret popcorn business, which was sold on August 26, 2024 and our Emerald nuts business, which was 
sold on May 30, 2023.

Beginning in 2026, the snacking and meals and beverages retail business in Latin America is managed under our Meals � 
Beverages segment.

�e refer to the following products as our �leadership brands�: Campbell's condensed and ready-to-serve soups� Chunky
soups� Swanson broth, stocks and canned poultry� Pacific Foods broth, soups and non-dairy beverages� Prego pasta sauces� 
Pace Mexican sauces� V8 juices and beverages� Rao's pasta sauces, dry pasta, frozen entr�es, frozen pizza and soups� 
Pepperidge Farm cookies, crackers and fresh bakery� Goldfish crackers� Snyder's of Hanover pretzels� Lance sandwich 
crackers� Cape Cod potato chips� Kettle Brand potato chips� Late July snacks� and Snack Factory pretzel crisps.

Our chief operating decision maker (CODM) is our President and Chief Executive Officer. Our CODM uses segment 
operating earnings as the profit measure in evaluating segment performance during the annual plan and forecasting process and 
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in monitoring actual performance versus plan. Segment operating earnings are comprised of earnings before interest, taxes and 
costs associated with restructuring activities, cost savings and optimization initiatives, impairment charges, accelerated 
amortization and corporate expenses. Unrealized gains and losses on outstanding undesignated commodity hedging activities 
are excluded from segment operating earnings and are recorded in Corporate as these open positions represent hedges of future 
purchases. Upon closing of the contracts, the realized gain or loss is transferred to segment operating earnings, which allows the 
segments to reflect the economic effects of the hedge without exposure to quarterly volatility of unrealized gains and losses. 
Only the service cost component of pension and postretirement expense is allocated to segments. All other components of 
expense, including interest cost, expected return on assets, amortization of prior service credits and recognized actuarial gains 
and losses are reflected in Corporate and not included in segment operating results. Asset information by segment is not 
discretely maintained for internal reporting or used in evaluating performance by the CODM. 

Our largest customer, �al-Mart Stores, Inc. and its affiliates, accounted for approximately 21� of consolidated net sales in 
2025 and 22� in 2024 and 2023. �oth of our reportable segments sold products to �al-Mart Stores, Inc. or its affiliates. 

2025 2024 2023

(Millions)
M�als � 

�����a��s �na��s Total
M�als � 

�����a��s �na��s Total
M�als � 

�����a��s �na��s Total

Net sales � 6,050 � 4,203 � 10,253 $ 5,25� $ 4,37� $ 9,636 $ 4,907 $ 4,450 $ 9,357 
Cost of products sold  4,140  2,970  3,532  3,063  3,292  3,151 
Other segment items(1)  834  673  752  667  721  659 
Segment operating 
earnings � 1,076 � 560 � 1,636 $ 974 $ 64� $ 1,622 $ �94 $ 640 $ 1,534 
Corporate expense 
(income)(2)  488  5�4  206 
Restructuring charges(3)  24  3�  16 
Earnings before interest 
and taxes � 1,124 $ 1,000 $ 1,312 
Interest expense  345  249  1�� 
Interest income  17  6  4 
Earnings before taxes � 796 $ 757 $ 1,12� 

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

Depreciation and amortization
Meals � �everages � 177 $ 163 $ 151 
Snacks  234  22�  211 
Corporate(4)  23  20  25 

Total � 434 $ 411 $ 3�7 

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

Capital expenditures
Meals � �everages � 195 $ 147 $ 129 
Snacks  148  279  199 
Corporate(4)  83  91  42 

Total � 426 $ 517 $ 370 
��������������������������������������
(1) Other segment items for each of the reportable segments includes marketing and selling expenses, administrative expenses, 

research and development expenses and expense for amortization of intangible assets.
(2) Represents unallocated items. Pension and postretirement actuarial gains and losses are included in Corporate. There were 

actuarial losses of $24 million in 2025, losses of $33 million in 2024 and gains of $15 million in 2023. Costs related to the 
cost savings and optimization initiatives were $101 million, $92 million and $50 million in 2025, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. Unrealized mark-to-market adjustments on outstanding undesignated commodity hedges were gains of 
$11 million in 2025, losses of $22 million in 2024 and gains of $21 million in 2023. Accelerated amortization expense 
related to customer relationship intangible assets was $20 million, $27 million and $7 million in 2025, 2024 and 2023, 
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respectively. Intangible asset impairment charges were $176 million and $129 million in 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
Insurance recoveries of $1 million and costs of $3 million related to a cybersecurity incident were included in 2025 and 
2024, respectively. Litigation expenses related to the Plum baby food and snacks business, which was divested on May 3, 
2021, and certain other litigation matters were $5 million in 2025 and 2024. A loss on the sale of our Pop Secret popcorn 
business of $25 million was included in 2025 and a loss on the sale of our Emerald nuts business of $13 million was 
included in 2023. Costs associated with the acquisition of Sovos Brands were $105 million and $5 million in 2024 and 
2023, respectively.

(3) See Note � for additional information.
(4) Represents primarily corporate offices and enterprise-wide information technology systems.

Our net sales based on product categories are as follows:

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

Net sales
Soup � 2,77� $ 2,709 $ 2,740 
Snacks  4,431  4,597  4,643 
Other simple meals  2,325  1,61�  1,205 
Beverages  721  712  769 

Total � 10,253 $ 9,636 $ 9,357 

Soup includes various soup, broths and stock products. Snacks include cookies, pretzels, crackers, popcorn, potato chips, 
tortilla chips and other salty snacks and baked products. Other simple meals include sauces, yogurts, pasta, frozen entr�es, 
canned poultry, frozen pizza, gravies and beans. Beverages include V8 juices and beverages, Campbell’s tomato juice and 
Pacific Foods non-dairy beverages.

�e are a North American focused company with 95� of our net sales related to our U.S operations in 2025, 2024 and 
2023. Primarily all of our long-lived assets relate to our U.S. operations, with less than 1� related to non-U.S operations in 
2025 and 2024.

��   ��str��t�ring ��arg�s, �ost �a�ings �nitiati��s an� �t��r ��timi�ation �nitiati��s

Continuing Operations

Beginning in 2015, we implemented initiatives to reduce costs and to streamline our organizational structure. 

Over the years, we expanded these initiatives by continuing to optimize our supply chain and manufacturing networks, as 
well as our information technology infrastructure.

On March 26, 201�, we completed the acquisition of Snyder's-Lance. Prior to the acquisition, Snyder's-Lance launched a 
cost transformation program following a comprehensive review of its operations with the goal of significantly improving its 
financial performance. �e continued to implement this program and identified opportunities for additional cost synergies as we 
integrated Snyder's-Lance.

In 2022, we expanded these initiatives as we continued to pursue cost savings by further optimizing our supply chain and 
manufacturing network and through effective cost management. In the second quarter of 2023, we announced plans to 
consolidate our Snacks offices in Charlotte, North Carolina, and Norwalk, Connecticut, into our headquarters in Camden, New 
Jersey.

A summary of the pre-tax charges recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings related to these initiatives is as 
follows:

(Millions) 2024 2023 Total Program

Restructuring charges $ 17 $ 16 $ 297 
Administrative expenses  54  24  437 
Cost of products sold  26  1�  12� 
Marketing and selling expenses  4  5  23 
Research and development expenses  3  3  10 
Total pre-tax charges $ 104 $ 66 $ �95 
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A summary of the pre-tax costs associated with these initiatives is as follows:

(Millions) Total Program

Severance pay and benefits $ 253 
Asset impairment�accelerated depreciation  134 
Implementation costs and other related costs  50� 
Total $ ��5 

Of the aggregate $��5 million pre-tax costs incurred, approximately $720 million were cash expenditures.

Segment operating results do not include restructuring charges, implementation costs and other related costs because we 
evaluate segment performance excluding such charges. A summary of the pre-tax costs associated with segments is as follows:

(Millions) Total Program

Meals � Beverages $ 2�� 
Snacks  3�3 
Corporate  224 
Total $ ��5 

As of �uly 2�, 2024, we substantially completed the multi-year cost savings initiatives and Snyder's-Lance cost 
transformation program and integration. Certain phases that had not been fully implemented were incorporated into the 2025 
cost savings initiatives described below.

On March 12, 2024, we completed the ac�uisition of Sovos Brands. See �ote 3 for additional information. �e identified 
opportunities for cost synergies as we integrate Sovos Brands. 

In 2024, we recorded Restructuring charges of $21 million for severance pay and benefits related to initiatives to achieve 
the synergies. The charges incurred in 2024 were associated with the Meals � Beverages segment. 

In 2025, the initiatives to achieve synergies were incorporated into the cost savings initiatives described below.

On September 10, 2024, we announced plans to implement cost savings initiatives beginning in 2025, including initiatives 
to further optimize our supply chain and manufacturing network, optimization of our information technology infrastructure and 
targeted cost management. �e also identified additional opportunities for cost synergies as we integrate Sovos Brands. As 
mentioned above, we substantially completed our previous multi-year cost savings initiatives and Snyder's-Lance cost 
transformation program and integration. Certain initiatives from that program have been incorporated into our 2025 cost 
savings initiatives. Cost estimates for the 2025 initiatives, as well as timing for certain activities, are continuing to be 
developed.

A summary of the pre-tax charges recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings related to these initiatives is as 
follows:

(Millions) 2025

Restructuring charges $ 24 
Administrative expenses  41 
Cost of products sold  32 
Marketing and selling expenses 4 
Research and development expenses 3 
Total pre-tax charges $ 104 
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A summary of the pre-tax costs associated with the initiatives is as follows:

(Millions)
Recogni�ed as of 
August 3, 2025

Severance pay and benefits $ 24 
Asset impairment�accelerated depreciation 31 
Implementation costs and other related costs 49 
Total $ 104 

The total estimated pre-tax costs for actions that have been identified to date are approximately $215 million, and we 
expect to incur substantially all of the costs through 202�. These estimates will be updated as the detailed plans are developed.

�e expect the costs for the actions that have been identified to date to consist of the following: approximately $30 million
in severance pay and benefits� approximately $55 million in asset impairment and accelerated depreciation� and approximately 
$130 million in implementation costs and other related costs. �e expect these pre-tax costs to be associated with our segments 
as follows: Meals � Beverages - approximately 71�� Snacks - approximately 11� and Corporate - approximately 1��.

Of the aggregate $215 million of pre-tax costs identified to date, we expect approximately $155 million will be cash 
expenditures. In addition, we expect to invest approximately $205 million in capital expenditures, of which we invested 
$147 million as of August 3, 2025. The capital expenditures primarily relate to optimization of production within our 
manufacturing network, optimization of information technology infrastructure and applications and implementation of our 
existing SAP enterprise-resource planning system for Sovos Brands.

A summary of the restructuring activity and related reserves is as follows:

(Millions)

�e�erance 
Pay and 
Benefits

Implementation 
Costs and 

Other Related
Costs(3) 

Asset 
Impairment�
Accelerated 
Depreciation

Other 
Non-Cash 

Exit 
Costs(4)

Total 
Charges

Accrued balance at �uly 2�, 2024(1) $ 36 
2025 charges  24  47  31  2 � 104 
2025 cash payments  (27) 

Accrued balance at August 3, 2025(2) � 33 
������������������������������������������
(1) Associated with the multi-year cost savings initiatives and Snyder's-Lance cost transformation program and integration, 

and the Sovos Brands integration initiatives described above. Includes $12 million of severance pay and benefits recorded 
in Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

(2) Includes $14 million of severance pay and benefits recorded in Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
(3) Includes other costs recognized as incurred that are not reflected in the restructuring reserve in the Consolidated Balance 

Sheet. The costs are included in Administrative expenses, Cost of products sold, Marketing and selling expenses and 
Research and development expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

(4) Includes non-cash costs that are not reflected in the restructuring reserve in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Segment operating results do not include restructuring charges, implementation costs and other related costs because we 
evaluate segment performance excluding such charges. A summary of the pre-tax costs associated with segments is as follows:

(Millions) 2025

Meals � Beverages $ 74 
Snacks  14 
Corporate  16 
Total $ 104 

In the second quarter of 2024, we began implementation of an initiative to improve the effectiveness of our Snacks direct-
store-delivery route-to-market network. Pursuant to this initiative we will purchase certain Pepperidge Farm and Snyder's-
Lance routes where there are opportunities to unlock greater scale in select markets, combine them and sell the combined routes 
to independent contractor distributors. �e expect to execute this program in a staggered rollout and to incur expenses of up to 
approximately $115 million through 2029. In 2025, we incurred $20 million in Marketing and selling expenses and $1 million
in Administrative expenses related to this initiative. In 2024, we incurred $5 million in Marketing and selling expenses related 
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to this initiative As of August 3, 2025, we have incurred $25 million in Marketing and selling expenses and $1 million in 
Administrative expenses related to this initiative. 

9.   Earnings per Share (EPS)

For the periods presented in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings, the calculations of basic EPS and EPS assuming 
dilution vary in that the weighted average shares outstanding assuming dilution include the incremental effect of stock options 
and other share-based payment awards, except when such effect would be antidilutive. The earnings per share calculation for 
2025 excludes approximately 1 million stock options that would have been antidilutive. The earnings per share calculation for 
2024 and 2023 excludes less than 1 million stock options that would have been antidilutive.

10.  Pension and Postretirement Benefits

�e sponsor a number of noncontributory defined benefit pension plans to provide retirement benefits 
to eligible U.S. and non-U.S. employees. The benefits provided under these plans are based primarily on years of service and 
compensation levels. Benefits are paid from funds previously provided to trustees or are paid directly by us from general funds. 
In 1999, we implemented significant amendments to certain U.S. pension plans. Under a new formula, retirement benefits are 
determined based on percentages of annual pay and age. To minimize the impact of converting to the new formula, service and 
earnings credit continued to accrue for fifteen years for certain active employees participating in the plans under the old formula 
prior to the amendments. Employees will receive the benefit from either the new or old formula, whichever is higher. Effective 
as of January 1, 2011, our U.S. pension plans were amended so that employees hired or rehired on or after that date and who are 
not covered by collective bargaining agreements will not be eligible to participate in the plans. All collective bargaining units 
adopted this amendment by December 31, 2011.

In June 2023, we settled $245 million of our pension benefit obligations associated with approximately 6,000 retired 
participants that were receiving benefits within our U.S. defined benefit pension plans. A group annuity contract was purchased 
on behalf of these participants with a third-party insurance provider and funded directly by $241 million from the assets of our 
pension plans, resulting in an actuarial gain of $4 million. 

�e provide postretirement benefits, including health care and life insurance to eligible retired 
U.S. employees, and where applicable, their dependents. Accordingly, we sponsor a retiree medical program for eligible retired 
U.S. employees and fund applicable retiree medical accounts intended to provide reimbursement for eligible health care 
expenses on a tax-favored basis for retirees who satisfy certain eligibility requirements. Effective as of January 1, 2019, we no 
longer sponsor our own retiree medical coverage for substantially all retired U.S. employees that are Medicare eligible. Instead, 
we offer these Medicare-eligible retirees access to health care coverage through a private exchange and offer a health 
reimbursement account to subsidize benefits for a select group of such retirees. �e also provide postretirement life insurance to 
all eligible U.S. employees who retired prior to January 1, 201�, as well as certain eligible retired employees covered by one of 
our collective bargaining agreements who retired prior to January 1, 2023.

Determining net periodic benefit expense (income) is dependent on various actuarial assumptions, including discount rates, 
expected return on plan assets, compensation increases, turnover rates and health care trend rates. Actuarial gains and losses are 
recognized immediately in Other expenses � (income) in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings as of the measurement date, 
which is our fiscal year end, or more frequently if an interim remeasurement is required. �e use the fair value of plan assets to 
calculate the expected return on plan assets.

Pension Postretirement
(Millions) 2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023

Service cost � 13 $ 13 $ 13 � � $ � $ � 
Interest cost  61  65  73  6  �  7 
Expected return on plan assets  (79)  (�0)  (100)  �  �  � 
Amortization of prior service cost 
(credit)  �  �  1  (1)  �  (1) 
Actuarial losses (gains)  26  33  (6)  (2)  �  (9) 
Net periodic benefit expense (income) � 21 $ 31 $ (19) � 3 $ � $ (3) 

The components of net periodic benefit expense (income) other than the service cost component are included in Other 
expenses � (income) in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

The pension actuarial losses recognized in 2025 were primarily due to gains on plan assets that were less than the expected 
return, partially offset by increases in the discount rates used to determine the benefit obligation. The pension actuarial losses
recognized in 2024 were primarily due to decreases in discount rates used to determine the benefit obligation and plan 
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experience, partially offset by gains on plan assets. The pension actuarial gains recognized in 2023 were primarily due to 
increases in discount rates used to determine the benefit obligation and the gain from the annuity settlement, partially offset by 
losses on plan assets and plan experience.

The postretirement actuarial gains recognized in 2025 were primarily due to plan experience. The postretirement actuarial 
gains recognized in 2023 were primarily due to increases in discount rates used to determine the benefit obligation.

Pension Postretirement
(Millions) 2025 2024 2025 2024

Obligation at beginning of year � 1�267 $ 1,257 � 145 $ 153 
Service cost  13  13  �  � 
Interest cost  61  65  6  � 
Actuarial losses (gains)  (8)  3�  (2)  � 
Plan amendment  �  �  (7)  � 
Benefits paid  (119)  (101)  (15)  (16) 
Other  �  (1)  �  � 
Foreign currency translation adjustment  �  (4)  �  � 
Benefit obligation at end of year � 1�214 $ 1,267 � 127 $ 145 

(Millions) 2025 2024

Fair value at beginning of year � 1�307 $ 1,316 
Actual return on plan assets  45  �6 
Employer contributions  1  1 
Benefits paid  (109)  (91) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment  �  (5) 
Fair value at end of year � 1�244 $ 1,307 

Pension Postretirement
(Millions) 2025 2024 2025 2024

Other assets � 128 $ 143 � � $ � 
Accrued liabilities  10  10  16  17 
Other liabilities  88  93  111  12� 
�et amounts recognized asset � (liability) � 30 $ 40 � (127) $ (145) 

Amounts recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consist of:

(Millions)
Postretirement

2025 2024

Prior service credit (cost) � 9 $ 3 

The change in amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) associated with postretirement 
benefits was due to the plan amendment in 2025, net of amortization. 

The following table provides information for pension plans with projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets and 
accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets:

(Millions) 2025 2024

Projected benefit obligation � 98 $ 103 
Accumulated benefit obligation � 96 $ 102 
Fair value of plan assets � � $ � 
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The accumulated benefit obligation for all pension plans was $1.195 billion at August 3, 2025, and $1.247 billion at 
�uly 2�, 2024. 

Pension Postretirement
2025 2024 2025 2024

Discount rate 5�4�� 5.2�� 5�2�� 5.23�
Rate of compensation increase 3�23� 3.23� 3�25� 3.25�
Interest crediting rate 4�00� 4.00� Not applicable

Pension
2025 2024 2023

Discount rate 5�2�� 5.46� 5.03�
Expected return on plan assets ��40� 6.3�� 6.40�
Rate of compensation increase 3�23� 3.23� 3.23�
Interest crediting rate 4�00� 4.00� 4.00�

The discount rate is established as of the measurement date. In establishing the discount rate, we review published market 
indices of high-quality debt securities, adjusted as appropriate for duration. In addition, independent actuaries apply high-
quality bond yield curves to the expected benefit payments of the plans. The expected return on plan assets is a long-term 
assumption based upon historical experience and expected future performance, considering our current and projected 
investment mix. This estimate is based on an estimate of future inflation, long-term projected real returns for each asset class 
and a premium for active management. 

The discount rate used to determine net periodic postretirement expense was 5.23� in 2025, 5.47� in 2024, and 4.4�� in 
2023.

2025 2024

�ealth care cost trend rate assumed for next year ��50� 6.50�
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate) 5�00� 5.00�
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2032 2030

The fundamental goal underlying the investment policy is to ensure that the assets of the plans are invested in a prudent 
manner to earn a rate of return over time to meet the obligations of the plans as these obligations come due. The primary 
investment objectives include providing a total return which will promote the goal of benefit security by attaining an 
appropriate ratio of plan assets to plan obligations, to provide for real asset growth while also tracking plan obligations, to 
diversify investments across and within asset classes, to reduce volatility of pension assets relative to pension liabilities, and to 
follow investment practices that comply with applicable laws and regulations. 

The primary policy objectives will be met by investing assets to achieve a reasonable tradeoff between return and risk 
relative to plan obligations, including investing a portion of the assets in funds selected in part to hedge the interest rate 
sensitivity to plan obligations. 

The portfolio includes investments in the following asset classes: fixed income, equity, real estate and alternatives. Fixed 
income investments provide a moderate expected return and hedge the exposure to interest rate risk of the plans’ obligations. 
Equities are used for their high expected return. Additional asset classes are used to provide diversification. 

Asset allocation is monitored on an ongoing basis relative to the established asset class targets. The interaction between 
plan assets and benefit obligations is periodically studied to assist in the establishment of strategic asset allocation targets. A 
key element of our investment strategy is to reduce our funded status risk in part through appropriate asset allocation within our 
plan assets. The investment policy permits variances from the targets within certain parameters. Asset rebalancing occurs when 
the underlying asset class allocations move outside these parameters, at which time the asset allocation is rebalanced back to the 
policy target weight. 
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Our year-end pension plan weighted-average asset allocations by category were:

Strategic 
Target 2025 2024

Equity securities 20� 20� 20�
Debt securities 74� 74� 73�
Real estate and other 6� 6� 7�
Total 100� 100� 100�

Pension plan assets are categorized based on the following fair value hierarchy: 

� Level 1: Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

� Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability through 
corroboration with observable market data.

� Level 3: Unobservable inputs, which are valued based on our estimates of assumptions that market participants would 
use in pricing the asset or liability.

The following table presents our pension plan assets by asset category at �ugust 3, 2025, and �uly 2�, 2024:

Fair 
�alue
as of

August 3, 
2025

Fair �alue Measure�ents at
August 3, 2025 Using
Fair �alue �ierarc�y

Fair 
�alue
as of

July 28, 
2024

Fair �alue Measure�ents at
July 28, 2024 Using

Fair �alue �ierarc�y
(Millions) �e�el 1 �e�el 2 �e�el 3 �e�el 1 �e�el 2 �e�el 3

Short-term investments � 2 � 2 � � � � $ 3 $ 1 $ 2 $ � 
Equities:

U.S.  1  �  1  �  1  �  1  � 
Corporate bonds:

U.S.  410  �  410  �  416  �  416  � 
Non-U.S.  81  �  81  �  �5  �  �5  � 

�overnment and agency bonds:
U.S.  302  �  302  �  326  �  326  � 
Non-U.S.  23  �  23  �  16  �  16  � 

Municipal bonds  3  �  3  �  4  �  4  � 
Mortgage and asset backed securities  7  �  7  �  �  �  �  � 
Real estate  �  �  �  �  1  �  �  1 
�edge funds  4  �  �  4  7  �  �  7 
Derivative assets  �  �  �  �  1  �  1  � 
Derivative liabilities  �  �  �  �  (1)  �  (1)  � 
Total assets at fair value � 833 � 2 � 827 � 4 $ �59 $ 1 $ �50 $ � 
Investments measured at net asset 

value:
Short-term investments � 27 $ 46 
Commingled equity funds  244  259 
Commingled fixed income funds  79  77 
Real estate  68  65 

Total investments measured at net 
asset value: � 418 $ 447 

Other items to reconcile to fair value  (7)  1 
Total pension plan assets at fair value � 1,244 $ 1,307 

Investments include cash and cash equivalents, and various short-term debt instruments and 
short-term investment funds. Institutional short-term investment vehicles valued daily are classified as Level 1 at cost which 
approximates market value. Short-term debt instruments are classified at Level 2 and are valued based on bid quotations and 
recent trade data for identical or similar obligations. Other investments valued based upon net asset value are included as a 
reconciling item to the fair value table.
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�enerally common stocks and preferred stocks are classified as Level 1 and are valued using quoted market 
prices in active markets. 

These investments are valued based on quoted market prices, yield curves and pricing models using 
current market rates. 

These investments are generally valued based on bid quotations and recent trade data for 
identical or similar obligations. 

These investments are valued based on quoted market prices, yield curves and pricing models using 
current market rates. 

These investments are valued based on prices obtained from third party pricing 
sources. The prices from third party pricing sources may be based on bid quotes from dealers and recent trade data. Mortgage 
backed securities are traded in the over-the-counter market. 

Real estate investments consist of property funds and commingled funds primarily invested in publicly listed 
infrastructure securities and publicly traded real estate securities. Real estate investments are valued based on the net asset 
values of such funds and included as a reconciling item to the fair value table.

�edge fund investments include hedge funds valued based upon a net asset value derived from the fair 
value of underlying securities. �edge fund investments that are sub�ect to liquidity restrictions or that are based on 
unobservable inputs are classified as Level 3. �edge fund investments may include long and short positions in equity and fi�ed 
income securities, derivative instruments such as futures and options, commodities and other types of securities. �edge fund 
investments valued at net asset value are included as a reconciling item to the fair value table.

Derivative financial instruments include forward currency contracts, futures contracts, options contracts, 
interest rate swaps and credit default swaps. Derivative financial instruments are classified as Level 2 and are valued based on 
observable market transactions or prices.

Investments in commingled funds are not traded in active markets. Commingled funds are valued 
based on the net asset values of such funds and are included as a reconciling item to the fair value table.

Other items to reconcile to fair value of plan assets included amounts due for securities sold, amounts payable for securities 
purchased and other payables. 

The following table summarizes the changes in fair value of Level 3 investments for the years ended August 3, 2025, and 
July 2�, 2024�

(Millions) Real Estate Hedge Funds Total

Fair �alue at �ul� 2�, 2�2� � 1 � � � � 
Actual return on plan assets  �  (1)  (1) 
Purchases, sales and settlements, net  (1)  (2)  (3) 
Trans�ers out o� �e�el 3  �  �  � 
Fair �alue at August 3, 2�2� � � � � � � 

(Millions) Real Estate Hedge Funds Total

Fair value at July 30, 2023 $ 1 $ � $ 9 
Actual return on plan assets  �  (1)  (1) 
Purchases, sales and settlements, net  �  �  � 
Transfers out of Level 3  �  �  � 
Fair value at July 2�, 2024 $ 1 $ 7 $ � 

(Millions) Pension Postretirement

2026 $ 127 $ 16 
2027 $ 121 $ 15 
202� $ 113 $ 14 
2029 $ 10� $ 13 
2030 $ 105 $ 12 
2031-2035 $ 469 $ 50 
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The estimated future benefit payments include payments from funded and unfunded plans. 

�e do not expect contributions to pension plans to be material in 2026.

�e sponsor a 401(k) Retirement Plan that covers substantially all U.S. employees and 
provide a matching contribution of 100� of employee contributions up to 4� of eligible compensation. �n addition, for 
employees not eligible to participate in defined benefit plans that we sponsor, we provide a contribution equal to 3� of eligible 
compensation regardless of their participation in the 401(k) Retirement Plan. Amounts charged to Costs and expenses were 
$77 million in 2025 and $73 million in 2024 and 2023.

11.  Leases

�e lease warehouse and distribution facilities, office space, manufacturing facilities, equipment and vehicles, primarily 
through operating leases. 

Leases recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheet have remaining terms primarily from 1 to 12 years.

Our fleet leases generally include residual value guarantees that are assessed at lease inception in determining ROU assets 
and corresponding liabilities. No other significant restrictions or covenants are included in our leases.

The components of lease costs were as follows:

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

Operating lease cost(1) � 115 $ 101 $ �6 
Finance lease - amortization of ROU assets  29  22  16 
Finance lease - interest on lease liabilities  4  2  � 
Short-term lease cost  65  66  64 
�ariable lease cost  261  217  207 
Total � 4�4 $ 40� $ 373 

������������������������������������������
(1) 2024 excludes costs associated with the cost savings initiatives described in Note �.

The following table summarizes the lease amounts recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Operating Leases

(Millions) Balance Sheet Classification 2025 2024

ROU assets, net Other assets � 326 $ 333 
Lease liabilities (current) Accrued liabilities � 96 $ 90 
Lease liabilities (noncurrent) Other liabilities � 259 $ 26� 

Financing Leases

(Millions) Balance Sheet Classification 2025 2024

ROU assets, net Plant assets, net of depreciation � 66 $ 72 
Lease liabilities (current) Short-term borrowings � 32 $ 25 
Lease liabilities (noncurrent) Long-term debt � 3� $ 46 

�eighted-average lease terms and discount rates were as follows: 

2025 2024

Operating Finance Operating Finance

�eighted-average remaining term in years 4.4 4.1 4.� �.2
�eighted-average discount rate  4.5 �  5.0 �  4.2 �  5.0 �

63



Future minimum lease payments are as follows:

(Millions) Operating Finance

2026 $ 113 $ 34 
2027  94  16 
202�  71  9 
2029  55  7 
2030  31  3 
Thereafter  30  � 
Total future undiscounted lease payments  394  77 

Less interest  39  7 
Total reported lease liability $ 355 $ 70 

The following table summarizes cash flow and other information related to leases:

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases �� ���� $ 95 $ �4 
Operating cash flows from finance leases �� 4� $ 2 $ � 
Financing cash flows from finance leases �� 3�� $ 20 $ 17 

ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:
Operating leases �� �3� $ 153 $ 117 
Finance leases �� 3�� $ 55 $ 17 

ROU assets obtained with business acquired:
Operating leases $ 15 
Finance leases $ 13 

64



12. Taxes on Earnings

The provision for income taxes on earnings consists of the following:

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

Income taxes:
Currently payable:
Federal � 202 $ 190 $ 229 
State  42  41  39 
Non-U.S.  4  6  7 

 248  237  275 
Deferred:
Federal  (40)  (37)  (�) 
State  (14)  (9)  2 
Non-U.S.  �  (1)  1 

 (54)  (47)  (5) 
� 1�4 $ 190 $ 270 

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

Earnings before income taxes:
United States � �84 $ 735 $ 1,105 
Non-U.S.  12  22  23 

� ��� $ 757 $ 1,12� 

The following is a reconciliation of the effective income tax rate to the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate:

2025 2024 2023

Federal statutory income tax rate  21.0 �  21.0 �  21.0 �
State income taxes (net of federal tax benefit)  2.8  3.2  2.9 
Tax effect of international items  �  (0.1)  � 
State income tax law changes  (0.4)  (0.1)  0.1 
Divestitures  1.8  �  0.2 
Nondeductible executive compensation(1)  0.4  1.5  0.4 
Other  (1.2)  (0.4)  (0.7) 
Effective income tax rate  24.4 �  25.1 �  23.9 �

������������������������������������������
(1) The increase in 2024 is associated with the acquisition of Sovos Brands.

On July 4, 2025, the One Big Beautiful Bill Act (OBBBA) was signed into law. The OBBBA makes certain provisions of 
the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 permanent and makes changes to some U.S. corporate tax provisions, many of which have 
different effective dates. The provisions of the OBBBA did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements 
in 2025. �e do not expect the OBBBA to have a material impact on our effective tax rate. �owever, we do anticipate future 
cash tax benefits due to changes in the tax laws for depreciation and research and development expenses.

On August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) was signed into law. The IRA introduces a corporate alternative 
minimum tax beginning in 2024, a 1� excise tax on share repurchases in excess of issuances after January 1, 2023, and several 
tax incentives to promote clean energy. Any excise tax incurred is recognized as part of the cost basis of the shares acquired in 
the Consolidated Statements of Equity. The provisions of the IRA did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial 
statements.
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Deferred tax liabilities and assets are comprised of the following:

(Millions) 2025 2024

Depreciation � 353 $ 353 
Amortization  1,197  1,260 
Operating lease ROU assets  81  �6 
Pension  30  34 
Other  12  10 

Deferred tax liabilities  1,673  1,743 
Benefits and compensation  98  113 
Pension benefits  23  24 
Tax loss carryforwards  5  7 
Capital loss carryforwards  18  24 
Operating lease liabilities  88  91 
Capitalized research and development  44  34 
Other  69  55 

�ross deferred tax assets  345  34� 
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance  (23)  (29) 

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance  322  319 
Net deferred tax liability � 1,351 $ 1,424 

As of August 3, 2025, our U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries had tax loss carryforwards of approximately $114 million. Of 
these carryforwards, $10 million may be carried forward indefinitely, and $104 million expire between 2026 and 2044, with the 
majority expiring after 202�. As of August 3, 2025, our net deferred liability included $5 million of tax effected loss 
carryforwards, of which $3 million was offset by a deferred tax asset valuation allowance.  Additionally, as of August 3, 2025, 
our U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries had capital loss carryforwards of approximately $9� million. Of these capital loss 
carryforwards, $52 million expire in 2026, and $46 million may be carried forward indefinitely. As of August 3, 2025, our net 
deferred liability included $1� million of tax effected capital loss carryforwards, all of which was offset by a deferred tax asset 
valuation allowance.

The net change in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance in 2025 was a decrease of $6 million. The decrease was 
primarily due to the sale of our Pop Secret popcorn business. The net change in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance in 
2024 was a decrease of $100 million. The decrease was primarily due to the expiration of capital loss carryforwards in 2024. 
The net change in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance in 2023 was a decrease of $2 million. The decrease was primarily 
due to state tax loss carryforwards.

As of August 3, 2025, other deferred tax assets included $3 million of state tax credit carryforwards with the majority 
expiring between 2029 and 2039. As of August 3, 2025, deferred tax asset valuation allowances had been established to offset 
$2 million of the tax credit carryforwards.

As of August 3, 2025, we had approximately $11 million of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries which are 
deemed to be permanently reinvested and for which we have not recognized a deferred tax liability. �e estimate that the tax 
liability that might be incurred if permanently reinvested earnings were remitted to the U.S. would not be material. Foreign 
subsidiary earnings in 2021 and thereafter are not considered permanently reinvested and we have therefore recognized a 
deferred tax liability and expense.

A reconciliation of the activity related to unrecognized tax benefits follows:

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

Balance at beginning of year � 17 $ 15 $ 14 
Increases related to prior-year tax positions  1  2  � 
Decreases related to prior-year tax positions  �  �  � 
Increases related to current-year tax positions  1  2  2 
Settlements  �  �  � 
Lapse of statute  (1)  (2)  (1) 

Balance at end of year � 18 $ 17 $ 15 
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The amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the annual effective tax rate was $15 million as 
of August 3, 2025, $14 million as of July 2�, 2024, and $12 million as of July 30, 2023. The total amount of unrecognized tax 
benefits can change due to audit settlements, tax examination activities, statute expirations and the recognition and 
measurement criteria under accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. �e reasonably expect reductions in the liability for 
unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $4 million within the next 12 months due to settlement of tax examinations.

Our accounting policy for interest and penalties attributable to income taxes is to reflect any expense or benefit as a 
component of our income tax provision. The total amount of interest and penalties recognized in the Consolidated Statements of 
Earnings was not material in 2025, 2024, and 2023. The total amount of interest and penalties recognized in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets in Other liabilities was $7 million as of August 3, 2025, and $6 million as of July 2�, 2024.

�e file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and non-U.S. jurisdictions. In the normal course 
of business, we are subject to examination by taxing authorities, including the U.S. and Canada. �ith limited exceptions, we 
have been audited for income tax purposes in the U.S. through 2023 and in Canada through 2017. In addition, several state 
income tax examinations are in progress for the years 2017 to 2023.

 13.  Short-term Borrowings and Long-term Debt

Short-term borrowings consist of the following: 

(Millions) 2025 2024

Commercial paper � 332 $ 250 
Notes  400  1,150 
Finance leases 32 25 
Other(1) (2) (2) 

Total short-term borrowings � ��2 $ 1,423 
��������������������������������������
(1) Includes unamortized net discount�premium on debt issuances and debt issuance costs.

The weighted-average interest rate of commercial paper, which consisted of U.S. borrowings, was 4.69� as of 
August 3, 2025, and 5.60� as of July 2�, 2024.

As of August 3, 2025, we issued $27 million of standby letters of credit.

On April 16, 2024, we terminated our existing revolving credit facility dated September 27, 2021 (as amended on 
April 4, 2023). On April 16, 2024, we entered into a Five-Year Credit Agreement for an unsecured, senior revolving credit 
facility (the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility Agreement) in an aggregate principal amount equal to $1.�5 billion with a maturity 
date of April 16, 2029, or such later date as extended pursuant to the terms set forth in the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility 
Agreement. On August 5, 2025, we entered into an Extension Agreement to extend the maturity date of the 2024 Revolving 
Credit Facility Agreement by one year from April 16, 2029 to April 16, 2030. The 2024 Revolving Credit Facility Agreement 
remained unused at August 3, 2025, except for $1 million of standby letters of credit that we issued under it. �e may increase 
the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility Agreement commitments up to an additional $500 million, subject to the satisfaction of 
certain conditions. Loans under the 2024 Revolving Credit Facility Agreement will bear interest at the rates specified in the 
2024 Revolving Credit Facility Agreement, which vary based on the type of loan and certain other conditions. The 2024 
Revolving Credit Facility Agreement facility contains customary covenants, including a financial covenant with respect to a 
minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of consolidated adjusted EBITDA to consolidated interest expense of not less 
than 3.25:1.00, and customary events of default for credit facilities of this type. The facility supports our commercial paper 
program and other general corporate purposes. �e expect to continue to access the commercial paper mar�ets, ban� credit lines 
and utilize cash flows from operations to support our short-term liquidity requirements. 

�e have $400 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes maturing in �arch 2026 that we expect to repay and�or 
refinance using available sources, which may include cash on hand, accessing the capital mar�ets, commercial paper and�or 
revolving credit facility.
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Long-term debt consists of the following: 

(Millions) 2025 2024

3.95� Notes due March 15, 2025 � � $ �50 
3.30� Notes due March 19, 2025 �  300 
�ariable-rate term loan due November 15, 2025 �  400 
5.30� Notes due March 20, 2026  400  400 
5.20� Notes due March 19, 2027  500  500 
4.15� Notes due March 15, 202�  1,000  1,000 
5.20� Notes due March 21, 2029  600  600 
2.375� Notes due April 24, 2030  500  500 
5.40� Notes due March 21, 2034  1,000  1,000 
4.75� Notes due March 23, 2035  800 � 
3.�0� Notes due August 2, 2042  163  163 
4.�0� Notes due March 15, 204�  700  700 
3.125� Notes due April 24, 2050  500  500 
5.25� Notes due October 13, 2054  350 � 
Finance leases 38 46 
Other(1)  (56)  (4�) 

Total � 6,4�5 $ 6,911 
Less current portion  400  1,150 

Total long-term debt � 6,0�5 $ 5,761 
��������������������������������������
(1) Includes unamorti�ed net discount�premium on debt issuances and debt issuance costs.

Principal amounts of long-term debt, including finance lease obligations, maturing over the next five years are as follows:

(Millions)

2026 $ 432 
2027 $ 514 
202� $ 1,00� 
2029 $ 606 
2030 $ 503 
Thereafter $ 3,520 

On November 15, 2022, we entered into a delayed draw term loan credit agreement (the 2022 DDTL Credit Agreement) 
totaling up to $500 million scheduled to mature on November 15, 2025. Loans under the 2022 DDTL Credit Agreement bear 
interest at the rates specified in the 2022 DDTL Credit Agreement, which vary based on the type of loan and certain other 
conditions. The 2022 DDTL Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties, affirmative and negative 
covenants, including a financial covenant with respect to a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of consolidated 
adjusted EBITDA to consolidated interest expense (as each is defined in the 2022 DDTL Credit Agreement) of not less than 
3.25:1.00, and events of default for credit facilities of this type. �e borrowed $500 million under the 2022 DDTL Credit 
Agreement on March 13, 2023, and used the proceeds and cash on hand to repay the 3.65� $566 million Notes that matured on 
March 15, 2023. On April 5, 2024, we repaid $100 million of the $500 million outstanding under the 2022 DDTL Credit 
Agreement. The remaining $400 million was repaid in October 2024 and November 2024 as described below.

On October 10, 2023, we entered into the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement totaling up to $2 billion scheduled to mature on 
October �, 2024. Loans under the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement bear interest at the rates specified in the 2024 DDTL Credit 
Agreement, which vary based on the type of loan and certain other conditions. The 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement contains 
customary representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, including a financial covenant with respect to a 
minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of consolidated adjusted EBITDA to consolidated interest expense (as each is 
defined in the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement) of not less than 3.25:1.00, and events of default for credit facilities of this type. 
The proceeds of the loans under the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement could only be used in connection with the acquisition of 
Sovos Brands and the payment of fees and expenses incurred in connection therewith. On March 12, 2024, we borrowed 
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$2 billion under the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement and used the proceeds in order to fund the acquisition of Sovos Brands, 
along with the fees and expenses incurred in connection therewith.

In August 2023, we filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission that registered an 
indeterminate amount of debt securities. Under the registration statement we may issue debt securities from time to time, 
depending on market conditions. 

On March 19, 2024, pursuant to the registration statement, we issued senior unsecured notes of $2.5 billion, consisting of:

� $400 million aggregate principal amount of notes bearing interest at a fixed rate of 5.30� per annum, due 
March 20, 2026, with interest payable semi-annually on each of March 20 and September 20 commencing 
September 20, 2024�

� $500 million aggregate principal amount of notes bearing interest at a fixed rate of 5.20� per annum, due 
March 19, 2027, with interest payable semi-annually on each of March 19 and September 19 commencing 
September 19, 2024�

� $600 million aggregate principal amount of notes bearing interest at a fixed rate of 5.20� per annum, due 
March 21, 2029, with interest payable semi-annually on each of March 21 and September 21 commencing 
September 21, 2024� and 

� $1 billion aggregate principal amount of notes bearing interest at a fixed rate of 5.40� per annum, due 
March 21, 2034, with interest payable semi-annually on each of March 21 and September 21 commencing 
September 21, 2024.

The notes contain customary covenants and events of default. If a change of control triggering event occurs, we will be required 
to offer to purchase the notes at a purchase price equal to 101� of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, 
to the purchase date. �e used the net proceeds from the sale of the notes to repay the $2 billion of outstanding borrowings 
under the 2024 DDTL Credit Agreement used to fund the Sovos Brands acquisition, including fees and expenses in connection 
therewith, and the remainder of the net proceeds to repay commercial paper.

On October 2, 2024, pursuant to the registration statement, we completed the issuance of senior unsecured notes of 
$1.15 billion, consisting of:

� $�00 million aggregate principal amount of notes bearing interest at a fixed rate of 4.75� per annum, due 
March 23, 2035, with interest payable semi-annually on each of March 23 and September 23 commencing March 23, 
2025� and

� $350 million aggregate principal amount of notes bearing interest at a fixed rate of 5.25� per annum, due 
October 13, 2054, with interest payable semi-annually on each of April 13 and October 13 commencing April 13, 
2025.

The notes contain customary covenants and events of default. If a change of control triggering event occurs, we will be required 
to offer to purchase the notes at a purchase price equal to 101� of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, 
to the purchase date. In October 2024, we used a portion of the net proceeds from the issuance of the notes to repay 
$200 million of the $400 million outstanding under the 2022 DDTL Credit Agreement due November 15, 2025 and a portion of 
our outstanding commercial paper. In November 2024, we repaid the remaining $200 million outstanding under the 2022 
DDTL Credit Agreement. In March 2025, we used a portion of the net proceeds from the issuance of the notes along with cash 
on hand and the issuance of commercial paper to repay a $1.15 billion aggregate principal amount of senior notes that matured 
in March 2025.

14.  Financial Instruments

The principal market risks to which we are exposed are changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and 
commodity prices. In addition, we are exposed to price changes related to certain deferred compensation obligations. In order to 
manage these exposures, we follow established risk management policies and procedures, including the use of derivative 
contracts such as swaps, rate locks, options, forwards and commodity futures. �e enter into these derivative contracts for 
periods consistent with the related underlying exposures, and the contracts do not constitute positions independent of those 
exposures. �e do not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes and do not use leveraged instruments. Our 
derivative programs include instruments that qualify for hedge accounting treatment and instruments that are not designated as 
accounting hedges.
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�e are exposed to the risk that counterparties to derivative contracts will fail to meet their contractual obligations. To 
mitigate counterparty credit risk, we enter into contracts only with carefully selected, leading, credit-worthy financial 
institutions, and distribute contracts among several financial institutions to reduce the concentration of credit risk. �e did not 
have credit risk-related contingent features in our derivative instruments as of August 3, 2025, or �uly 2�, 2024.

�e are also exposed to credit risk from our customers. �uring 2025, our largest customer accounted for approximately 
21� of consolidated net sales. Our five largest customers accounted for approximately 47� of our consolidated net sales in 
2025.

�e closely monitor credit risk associated with counterparties and customers.

�e are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk, primarily the Canadian dollar and �uro, related to intercompany 
transactions and third-party transactions. �e utilize foreign exchange forward and option contracts to hedge these exposures. 
The contracts are either designated as cash-flow hedging instruments or are undesignated. �e hedge portions of our forecasted 
foreign currency transaction exposure with foreign exchange forward contracts for periods typically up to 1� months. The 
notional amount of foreign exchange forward contracts accounted for as cash-flow hedges was $1�3 million as of 
August 3, 2025, and $10� million as of �uly 2�, 2024. Changes in the fair value on the portion of the derivative included in the 
assessment of hedge effectiveness of cash-flow hedges are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), until earnings are 
affected by the variability of cash flows. For derivatives that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments, the initial fair 
value of hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness is recognized in earnings under a systematic and 
rational method over the life of the hedging instrument and is presented in the same statement of earnings line item as the 
earnings effect of the hedged item. Any difference between the change in the fair value of the hedge components excluded from 
the assessment of effectiveness and the amounts recognized in earnings is recorded as a component of other comprehensive 
income (loss). The notional amount of foreign exchange forward contracts and option contracts that are not designated as 
accounting hedges was $413 million as of August 3, 2025, and $1�9 million as of �uly 2�, 2024.

�e manage our exposure to changes in interest rates by optimizing the use of variable-rate and fixed-rate debt. From time 
to time, we may use interest rate swaps in order to maintain our variable-to-total debt ratio within targeted guidelines. �e 
manage our exposure to interest volatility on future debt issuances by entering into forward starting interest rate swaps or 
treasury lock contracts to hedge the rate on the interest payments related to the anticipated debt issuance. The forward starting 
interest rate swaps or treasury lock contracts are either designated as cash-flow hedging instruments or are undesignated. 
Changes in the fair value on the portion of the derivative included in the assessment of hedge effectiveness of cash-flow hedges 
are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), and reclassified into Interest expense over the life of the debt issued. The 
change in fair value on undesignated instruments is recorded in Interest expense. In conjunction with the issuance of senior 
unsecured notes on October 2, 2024, due on March 23, 2035, we settled forward starting interest rate swaps with a notional 
value of $700 million at a gain of less than $1 million. �e settled forward starting interest rate swaps with a notional value of 
$1.1 billion in March 2024 at a loss of $11 million. The gains and losses on these instruments were recorded in other 
comprehensive income (loss) and will be recognized in Interest expense over the respective lives of the debt. There were no
forward starting interest rate swaps or treasury lock contracts outstanding as of August 3, 2025 and �uly 2�, 2024.

�e principally use a combination of purchase orders and various short- and long-term supply arrangements in connection 
with the purchase of raw materials, including certain commodities and agricultural products. �e also enter into commodity 
futures, options and swap contracts to reduce the volatility of price fluctuations of wheat, diesel fuel, natural gas, soybean oil, 
cocoa, aluminum, soybean meal and corn. Commodity futures, options and swap contracts are either designated as cash-flow 
hedging instruments or are undesignated. �e hedge a portion of commodity requirements for periods typically up to 1� months. 
There were no commodity contracts designated as cash-flow hedges as of August 3, 2025 or �uly 2�, 2024. The notional 
amount of commodity contracts not designated as accounting hedges was $1�4 million as of August 3, 2025, and $200 million
as of �uly 2�, 2024. The change in fair value on undesignated instruments is recorded in Cost of products sold.

�e have a supply contract under which prices for certain raw materials are established based on anticipated volume 
requirements over a twelve-month period. Certain prices under the contract are based in part on certain component parts of the 
raw materials that are in excess of our needs or not required for our operations, thereby creating an embedded derivative 
requiring bifurcation. �e net settle amounts due under the contract with our counterparty. The notional amount was 
approximately $49 million as of August 3, 2025, and $4� million as of �uly 2�, 2024. The change in fair value on the embedded 
derivative is recorded in Cost of products sold.
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�e enter into swap contracts which hedge a portion of exposures relating to the total return of certain deferred 
compensation obligations. These contracts are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes. Unrealized gains (losses) and 
settlements are included in Administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of �arnings. �e enter into these contracts 
for periods typically not exceeding 12 months. The notional amounts of the contracts as of August 3, 2025, and �uly 2�, 202�, 
were $76 million and $71 million, respectively.

The following tables summarize the fair value of derivative instruments on a gross basis as recorded in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets as of August 3, 2025, and �uly 2�, 202�:
(Millions) Balance Sheet Classification 2025 2024

Asset �eri�ati�es
Derivatives designated as hedges:

Foreign exchange contracts Other current assets � � $ 2 
Total derivatives designated as hedges � � $ 2 
Derivatives not designated as hedges:

Commodity contracts Other current assets � 12 $ 6 
Deferred compensation contracts Other current assets  1  3 
Foreign exchange contracts Other current assets  2  � 

Total derivatives not designated as hedges � 15 $ 9 
Total asset derivatives � 15 $ 11 

(Millions) Balance Sheet Classification 2025 2024

�ia�ilit� �eri�ati�es
Derivatives designated as hedges:

Foreign exchange contracts Accrued liabilities � � $ � 
Total derivatives designated as hedges � � $ � 
Derivatives not designated as hedges:

Commodity contracts Accrued liabilities � 11 $ 16 
Total derivatives not designated as hedges � 11 $ 16 
Total liability derivatives � 14 $ 16 

�e do not offset the fair values of derivative assets and liabilities executed with the same counterparty that are generally 
subject to enforceable netting agreements. �owever, if we were to offset and record the asset and liability balances of 
derivatives on a net basis, the amounts presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of August 3, 2025, and �uly 2�, 202�, 
would be adjusted as detailed in the following table:

2025 2024

(Millions)

Gross Amounts 
Presented in 

the 
Consolidated 
Balance Sheet

Gross Amounts 
Not Offset in 

the 
Consolidated 
Balance Sheet 

Su��ect to 
Netting 

Agreements Net Amount

Gross Amounts 
Presented in 

the 
Consolidated 
Balance Sheet

Gross Amounts 
Not Offset in 

the 
Consolidated 
Balance Sheet 

Su��ect to 
Netting 

Agreements Net Amount

Total asset derivatives � 15 � (5) � 10 $ 11 $ (1) $ 10 
Total liability derivatives � 14 � (5) � � $ 16 $ (1) $ 15 

�e are re�uired to maintain cash margin accounts in connection with funding the settlement of open positions for 
exchange-traded commodity derivative instruments. A cash margin liability balance of less than $1 million at August 3, 2025, 
and an asset balance of $2 million at �uly 2�, 202�, were included in Accrued liabilities and Other current assets, respectively, 
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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The following table shows the effect of our derivative instruments designated as cash-flow hedges in other comprehensive 
income (loss) (OCI) and the Consolidated Statements of Earnings:

Total Cash-Flow Hedge
�CI �cti�it�

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

OCI derivative gain (loss) at beginning of year � (11) $ (5) $ � 
Effective portion of changes in fair value recognized in OCI:

Foreign exchange contracts  (3)  6  5 
Forward starting interest rate swaps  �  (11)  � 

Amount of loss (gain) reclassified from OCI to earnings: Location in Earnings
Commodity contracts Cost of products sold  �  �  (3) 
Foreign exchange contracts Cost of products sold  (3)  (3)  (�) 
Forward starting interest rate swaps Interest expense  3  2  1 

OCI derivative gain (loss) at end of year � (14) $ (11) $ (5) 

Based on current valuations, the amount expected to be reclassified from OCI into earnings within the next 12 months is a 
loss of $6 million.

The following table shows the total amounts of line items presented in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings in which 
the effects of derivative instruments designated as cash-flow hedges are recorded and the total effect of hedge activity on these 
line items:

2025 2024 2023

(Millions)

Cost of 
products 

sold
Interest 
expense

Cost of 
products 

sold
Interest 
expense

Cost of 
products 

sold
Interest 
expense

Consolidated Statements of Earnings � ��134 � 345 $ 6,665 $ 249 $ 6,440 $ 1�� 

Loss (gain) on cash-flow hedges:
Amount of loss (gain) reclassified from OCI to earnings � (3) � 3 $ (3) $ 2 $ (11) $ 1 

The amount excluded from effectiveness testing recognized in each line item of earnings using an amortization approach 
was not material in all periods presented.

The following table shows the effects of our derivative instruments not designated as hedges in the Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings:

(Millions)
Location of Loss (Gain)
�ecogni�ed in Earnings 2025 2024 2023

Foreign exchange contracts Cost of products sold � (3) $ (1) $ � 
Commodity contracts Cost of products sold  (10)  14  (27) 
Deferred compensation contracts Administrative expenses  (9)  (�)  (4) 
Total � (22) $ 5 $ (31) 

15�  Fair �alue Measure�ents

�e categorize financial assets and liabilities based on the following fair value hierarchy:

� Level 1: Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

� Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability through 
corroboration with observable market data.

� Level 3: Unobservable inputs, which are valued based on our estimates of assumptions that market participants would 
use in pricing the asset or liability.

Fair value is defined as the exit price, or the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants as of the measurement date. �hen available, we use unadjusted quoted 
market prices to measure the fair value and classify such items as Level 1. If quoted market prices are not available, we base 
fair value upon internally developed models that use current market-based or independently sourced market parameters such as 
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interest rates and currency rates. Included in the fair value of derivative instruments is an adjustment for credit and 
nonperformance risk.

The following tables present our financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
consistent with the fair value hierarchy:

�ai� �alu�
as of

August 3, 
2025

�ai� �alu� M�asu����nts at
August 3, 2025 Using
�ai� �alu� �i��a���y

�ai� �alu�
as of

July 28, 
2024

�ai� �alu� M�asu����nts at
July 28, 2024 Using

�ai� �alu� �i��a���y
(Millions) ����l 1 ����l 2 ����l 3 ����l 1 ����l 2 ����l 3

Assets
Foreign exchange  
contracts(1) � 2 � � � 2 � � $ 2 $ � $ 2 $ � 
Commodity 
derivative 
contracts(2)  12  1  8  3  6  �  1  5 
Deferred 
compensation 
derivative 
contracts(3)  1  �  1  �  3  �  3  � 
Deferred 
compensation 
investments(4)  1  1  �  �  1  1  �  � 

Total assets at fair 
value � 1� � 2 � 11 � 3 $ 12 $ 1 $ 6 $ 5 

�ai� �alu�
as of

August 3, 
2025

�ai� �alu� M�asu����nts at
August 3, 2025 Using
�ai� �alu� �i��a���y

�ai� �alu�
as of

July 28, 
2024

�ai� �alu� M�asu����nts at
July 28, 2024 Using

�ai� �alu� �i��a���y
(Millions) ����l 1 ����l 2 ����l 3 ����l 1 ����l 2 ����l 3

Liabilities
Foreign exchange  
contracts(1) � 3 � � � 3 � � $ � $ � $ � $ � 
Commodity 
derivative 
contracts(2)  11  �  7  4  16  1  15  � 
Deferred 
compensation 
obligation(4)  102  102  �  �  101  101  �  � 

Total liabilities at 
fair value � 11� � 102 � 10 � 4 $ 117 $ 102 $ 15 $ � 

��������������������������������������
(1) Based on observable market transactions of spot currency rates and forward rates.
(2) Level 1 and 2 are based on quoted futures exchanges and on observable prices of futures and options transactions in the 

marketplace. Level 3 is based on unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which requires 
management’s own assumptions within an internally developed model.

(3) Based on equity and fixed income index swap rates.
(4) Based on the fair value of the participants’ investments.

The following table summarizes the changes in fair value of Level 3 assets:
(Millions) 2025 2024

Fair value at beginning of year � 5 $ 2 
�ains (losses)  (3)  13 
Settlements  (3)  (10) 
Fair value at end of year � (1) $ 5 

In addition to assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, we are also required to measure 
certain items at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. 
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In the fourth quarter of 2024, we recognized impairment charges on certain trademarks in our Snacks segment. In the 
second and third quarters of 2025, we performed interim impairment assessments on certain trademarks in our Snacks segment. 
See also Note 6 for additional information on the impairment charges.

Fair value was determined based on unobservable Level 3 inputs. The fair value of trademarks was determined based on 
discounted cash flow analysis that involves significant management assumptions such as expected revenue growth rates, 
assumed royalty rates and weighted-average costs of capital. 

The following table presents fair value measurements of the trademarks:

March 2025 December 2024 May 2024

(Millions)
Impairment 

Charge �air �al�e
Impairment 

Charges �air �al�e
Impairment 

Charges �air �al�e

Snyder's of Hanover � 150 � 4�0 
Late July � 11 � 4� 
Allied brands � 15 � 2� $ 53 $ 43 
Pop Secret $ 76 $ 2� 

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value. Cash 
equivalents represent fair value as these highly liquid investments have an original maturity of three months or less. There were 
no cash equivalents with fair value based on Level 2 inputs at August 3, 2025. There were $25 million of cash equivalents with 
fair value based on Level 2 inputs at July 2�, 2024.

The fair value of short- and long-term debt was $6.545 billion at August 3, 2025, and $6.�66 billion at July 2�, 2024. The 
carrying value was $6.�57 billion at August 3, 2025, and $7.1�4 billion at July 2�, 2024. The fair value of long-term debt is 
principally estimated using Level 2 inputs based on quoted market prices or pricing models using current market rates.

16. �harehol�ers� ���ity

�e have authorized 560 million shares of Capital stock with $.0375 par value and 40 million shares of Preferred stock, 
issuable in one or more classes, with or without par as may be authorized by the Board of Directors. No Preferred stock has 
been issued.

In September 2021, the Board approved a strategic share repurchase program of up to $500 million (September 2021 
program). The September 2021 program has no expiration date, but it may be suspended or discontinued at any time. 
Repurchases under the September 2021 program may be made in open-market or privately negotiated transactions.

In September 2024, the Board authorized a new anti-dilutive share repurchase program of up to $250 million (September 
2024 program) to offset the impact of dilution from shares issued under our stock compensation programs. The September 2024 
program has no expiration date, but it may be discontinued at any time. Repurchases under the September 2024 program may 
be made in open-market or privately negotiated transactions. The September 2024 program replaced an anti-dilutive share 
repurchase program of up to $250 million that was approved by the Board in June 2021 and has been terminated. 

In 2025, we repurchased 1.303 million shares at a cost of $62 million pursuant to our anti-dilutive share repurchase 
program. In 2024 and 2023, we repurchased 1.56 million shares at a cost of $67 million and 2.6�� million shares at a cost of 
$142 million, respectively. As of August 3, 2025, approximately $1�� million remained available under the September 2024 
program and approximately $301 million remained under the September 2021 program. 

1�.  �toc��base� Compensation

In 2005, shareholders approved the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which authorized the issuance of 6 million shares to 
satisfy awards of stock options, stock appreciation rights, unrestricted stock, restricted stock�units (including performance 
restricted stock) and performance units. In 200�, shareholders approved an amendment to the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan 
to increase the number of authorized shares to 10.5 million and in 2010, shareholders approved another amendment to the 2005 
Long-Term Incentive Plan to increase the number of authorized shares to 17.5 million. In 2015, shareholders approved the 2015 
Long-Term Incentive Plan, which authorized the issuance of 13 million shares. Approximately 6 million of these shares were 
shares that were currently available under the 2005 plan and were incorporated into the 2015 Plan upon approval by 
shareholders. In 2022, shareholders approved the 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which authorized the issuance of 12 million
shares to satisfy awards of stock options, stock appreciation rights, unrestricted stock, restricted stock�units (including 
performance restricted stock) and performance units. The 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan replaced the 2015 Long-Term 

74



Incentive Plan and no new awards can be granted under the 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan and none of the shares that remain 
available under the 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan are available for issuance under the 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan. 

Awards under Long-Term Incentive Plans may be granted to employees and directors. Pursuant to the Long-Term 
Incentive Plan, we adopted a long-term incentive compensation program which provides for grants of total shareholder return 
(TSR) performance restricted stock�units, EPS performance restricted stock�units, strategic performance restricted stock�units, 
time-lapse restricted stock�units, special performance restricted stock�units, free cash flow (FCF) performance restricted stock�
units and unrestricted stock. �nder the program, awards of TSR performance restricted stock�units will be earned by comparing 
our total shareholder return during a three-year period to the respective total shareholder returns of companies in a performance 
peer group. Based upon our ranking in the performance peer group after the relevant three-year performance period, a recipient 
of TSR performance restricted stock�units may earn a total award ranging from 0� to 200� of the initial grant. Awards of EPS 
performance restricted stock�units granted beginning in 2022 will be earned upon the achievement of our adjusted EPS 
compound annual growth rate goal (EPS CA�R performance restricted stock�units), measured over a three-year period. A 
recipient of EPS CA�R performance restricted stock�units may earn a total award ranging from 0� to 200� of the initial grant. 
Awards of EPS performance restricted stock�units granted prior to 2022 were earned based upon our achievement of annual 
earnings per share goals and vested over the relevant three-year period. During the three-year vesting period, a recipient of EPS 
performance restricted stock�units earned a total award of either 0� or 100� of the initial grant. Awards of the strategic 
performance restricted stock units were earned based upon the achievement of two key metrics, net sales and EPS growth, 
compared to strategic plan objectives during a three-year period. A recipient of strategic performance restricted stock units 
earned a total award ranging from 0� to 200� of the initial grant. Awards of FCF performance restricted stock units were 
earned based upon the achievement of free cash flow (defined as Net cash provided by operating activities less capital 
expenditures and certain investing and financing activities) compared to annual operating plan objectives over a three-year
period. An annual objective was established each fiscal year for three consecutive years. Performance against these objectives 
was averaged at the end of the three-year period to determine the number of underlying units that vested at the end of the three 
years. A recipient of FCF performance restricted stock units earned a total award ranging from 0� to 200� of the initial grant. 
Awards of time-lapse restricted stock�units will vest ratably over the three-year period. In addition, we may issue special grants 
of restricted stock�units to attract and retain executives which vest over various periods. Awards are generally granted annually 
in October. 

Stock options are granted on a selective basis under the Long-Term Incentive Plans. The term of a stock option granted 
under these plans may not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The option price may not be less than the fair market value 
of a share of common stock on the date of the grant. Options granted under these plans generally vest ratably over a three-year
period. In 2019, we also granted certain options that vest at the end of a three-year period. �e last issued stock options in 2019.

In 2025, we issued time-lapse restricted stock units, unrestricted stock, TSR performance restricted stock units and EPS 
CA�R performance restricted stock units. �e last issued FCF performance restricted stock units in 2019, EPS performance 
restricted stock units in 201�, strategic performance restricted stock units in 2014 and special performance restricted units in 
2015.

In connection with the Sovos Brands acquisition, in the third quarter of 2024, we issued 1.721 million time-lapse restricted 
stock units (Replacement units) in exchange for certain Sovos Brands restricted stock units and performance restricted stock 
units. The Replacement units are subject to the same terms and conditions of the original Sovos Brands restricted stock units 
and performance restricted stock units. Certain Replacement units were subject to accelerated vesting. The Replacement units 
have a total fair value of $74 million based on the quoted price of our stock on the acquisition date. The portion of Replacement 
units attributed to pre-combination service was $42 million, which was accounted for as part of consideration transferred and 
was recorded in Additional Paid-in Capital in our Consolidated Statements of Equity in the third quarter of 2024. See Note 3 for 
additional information. The portion of the Replacement units attributable to post-combination service will be recognized as 
stock-based compensation expense over the remaining vesting period.

In determining stock-based compensation expense, we estimate forfeitures expected to occur. Total pre-tax stock-based 
compensation expense and tax-related benefits recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings were as follows:

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

Total pre-tax stock-based compensation expense(1) �� 5�� $ 99 $ 63 
Tax-related benefits �� �5� $ 13 $ 12 

��������������������������������������
(1) Includes $26 million of expense related to accelerated vesting of certain Replacement units in 2024.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity:

Options

Weighted-
A�erage
Exercise

Price

Weighted-
A�erage

Remaining
Contractual

Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic

�alue

(In thousands) (In years) (Millions)

Outstanding at July 2�, 2024  779 $ 45.33 
�ranted � $ � 
Exercised � $ � 
Terminated � $ � 
Outstanding at August 3, 2025  779 $ 45.33 2.0 $ � 
Exercisable at August 3, 2025  779 $ 45.33 2.0 $ � 

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2024 and 2023 was $1 million and $3 million, respectively. �e 
measured the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

�e expensed stock options on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, except for awards issued to retirement eligible 
participants, which we expensed on an accelerated basis. As of January 2022, compensation related to stock options was fully 
expensed.

The following table summarizes time-lapse restricted stock units and EPS �A�R performance restricted stock units:

Units

Weighted-
A�erage

Grant-Date
�air �alue

(In thousands)

Nonvested at July 2�, 2024  3,300 $ 43.24 
�ranted  1,496 $ 47.37 
�ested  (1,455) $ 43.19 
Forfeited (406) $ 46.0� 
Nonvested at August 3, 2025  2,935 $ 44.9� 

�e determine the fair value of time-lapse restricted stock units and EPS �A�R performance restricted stock units based on 
the quoted price of our stock at the date of grant. �e expense time-lapse restricted stock units and EPS �A�R performance 
restricted stock units on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, except for awards issued to retirement-eligible participants 
and certain Replacement units, which we expense on an accelerated basis. There were �09 thousand EPS �A�R performance 
target grants outstanding at August 3, 2025, with a weighted-average grant-date fair value of $45.19. The actual number of EPS 
�A�R performance restricted stock units that vest will depend on actual performance achieved. �e estimate expense based on 
the number of awards expected to vest. In connection with the Sovos Brands acquisition, in 2024, our adjusted EPS compound 
annual growth rate goals for the EPS �A�R performance restricted stock units granted in 2024, 2023 and 2022 were revised to 
equitably adjust for the impact of completed acquisitions and divestitures that were not contemplated at the time of approval of 
the original targets. In connection with the divestiture of our Pop Secret popcorn business, in the first quarter of 2025, our 
adjusted EPS compound annual growth rate goals for the EPS performance restricted stock units granted in 2024 and 2023 were 
similarly revised. In connection with the divestiture of our noosa yoghurt business in the third quarter of 2025, our adjusted EPS 
compound annual growth rate goals for the EPS performance restricted stock units granted in 2025, 2024, and 2023 were again 
similarly revised.

As of August 3, 2025, total remaining unearned compensation related to nonvested time-lapse restricted stock units and 
EPS �A�R performance restricted units was $40 million, which will be amortized over the weighted-average remaining service 
period of 1.7 years. In the first quarter of 2025, recipients of EPS �A�R performance restricted stock units earned 100� of the 
initial grants based upon performance achieved during a three-year period ended July 2�, 2024. The fair value of restricted 
stock units vested during 2025, 2024 and 2023 was $69 million, $97 million and $37 million, respectively. The weighted-
average grant-date fair value of the restricted stock units granted during 2024 and 2023 was $41.57 and $47.65, respectively. In 
the first quarter of 2026, recipients of EPS �A�R performance restricted stock units will receive a 4�� payout based upon 
performance achieved during a three-year period ended August 3, 2025.
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The following table summarizes TSR performance restricted stock units:

Units

Weighted-
��erage

Grant-Date
�air �a�ue

(In thousands)

Nonvested at July 2�, 2024 �73 $ 47.40 
�ranted 566 $ 45.23 
�ested  (464) $ 45.52 
Forfeited  (166) $ 46.24 
Nonvested at August 3, 2025 �09 $ 47.20 

�e estimated the fair value of TSR performance restricted stock units at the grant date using a Monte Carlo simulation. 
�eighted-average assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation were as follows:

2025 2024 2023

Risk-free interest rate 3.5�� 4.�4� 4.29�
Expected dividend yield 3.0�� 3.54� 3.09�
Expected volatility 22.43� 22.16� 26.40�
Expected term 3 years 3 years 3 years

�e recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the service period, except for awards issued to retirement 
eligible participants, which we expense on an accelerated basis. As of August 3, 2025, total remaining unearned compensation 
related to TSR performance restricted stock units was $10 million, which will be amortized over the weighted-average 
remaining service period of 1.7 years. In the first quarter of 2025, recipients of TSR performance restricted stock units earned 
175� of the initial grants based upon our TSR ranking in a performance peer group during a three-year period ended July 26, 
2024. As a result, approximately 199 thousand additional shares were awarded. In the first quarter of 2024, recipients of TSR 
performance restricted stock units earned 75� of the initial grants based upon our TSR ranking in a performance peer group 
during a three-year period ended July 2�, 2023. In the first quarter of 2023, recipients of TSR performance restricted stock units 
earned 100� of the initial grants based upon our TSR ranking in a performance peer group during a three-year period ended 
July 29, 2022. The fair value of TSR performance restricted stock units vested during 2025, 2024, and 2023 was $23 million, 
$12 million and $21 million, respectively. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of the TSR performance restricted stock 
units granted during 2024 and 2023 was $44.1� and $53.74, respectively. In the first quarter of 2026, recipients of TSR 
performance restricted stock units will receive a 50� payout based upon our TSR ranking in a performance peer group during a 
three-year period ended August 1, 2025.

The tax benefits on the exercise of stock options in 2024 and 2023 were not material. Cash received from the exercise of 
stock options was $2 million and $22 million for 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is reflected in cash flows from financing 
activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

18.  Commitments and Contingencies

�e are involved in various pending or threatened legal or regulatory proceedings, including purported class actions, arising 
from the conduct of business both in the ordinary course and otherwise. Modern pleading practice in the U.S. permits 
considerable variation in the assertion of monetary damages or other relief. Jurisdictions may permit claimants not to specify 
the monetary damages sought or may permit claimants to state only that the amount sought is sufficient to invoke the 
jurisdiction of the trial court. In addition, jurisdictions may permit plaintiffs to allege monetary damages in amounts well 
exceeding reasonably possible verdicts in the jurisdiction for similar matters. This variability in pleadings, together with our 
actual experiences in litigating or resolving through settlement numerous claims over an extended period of time, demonstrates 
to us that the monetary relief which may be specified in a lawsuit or claim bears little relevance to its merits or disposition 
value.

Due to the unpredictable nature of litigation, the outcome of a litigation matter and the amount or range of potential loss at 
particular points in time is normally difficult to ascertain. Uncertainties can include how fact finders will evaluate documentary 
evidence and the credibility and effectiveness of witness testimony, and how trial and appellate courts will apply the law in the 
context of the pleadings or evidence presented, whether by motion practice, or at trial or on appeal. Disposition valuations are 
also subject to the uncertainty of how opposing parties and their counsel will themselves view the relevant evidence and 
applicable law.
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On March 20, 2024, the United States Department of Justice (DOJ), on behalf of the U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency, and �ational Education Law Center, on behalf of Environment America and Lake Erie �aterkeeper, filed lawsuits in 
the United States District Court for the �orthern District of Ohio � �estern Division concerning alleged violations of the Clean 
�ater Act relating to alleged contaminant discharges from our �apoleon, Ohio wastewater treatment facility in excess of the 
facility�s Clean �ater Act permit limits. �e have and are continuing to take actions to remediate the exceedances and are in 
settlement discussions with the DOJ and the private environmental groups while litigation proceedings are ongoing. �hile we 
cannot predict with certainty the amount of any civil penalty or the timing of the resolution of this matter, we do not expect that 
the ultimate costs to resolve this matter will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or 
cash flows.

�e establish liabilities for litigation and regulatory loss contingencies when information related to the loss contingencies 
shows both that it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. It is possible 
that some matters could require us to pay damages or make other expenditures or establish accruals in amounts that could not 
be reasonably estimated as of August 3, 2025. �hile the potential future charges could be material in a particular quarter or 
annual period, based on information currently known by us, we do not believe any such charges are likely to have a material 
adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations or financial condition.

�e guarantee approximately 4,500 bank loans made to independent contractor distributors by third-party financial 
institutions for the purchase of distribution routes. The maximum potential amount of the future payments under existing 
guarantees we could be required to make is $570 million as of August 3, 2025. Our guarantees are indirectly secured by the 
distribution routes. �e do not expect that we will be required to make material guarantee payments as a result of defaults on the 
bank loans guaranteed. The amounts recognized as of August 3, 2025, and July 2�, 2024, were not material. 

�e have provided certain indemnifications in connection with divestitures, contracts and other transactions. Certain 
indemnifications have finite expiration dates. Liabilities recognized based on known exposures related to such matters were not 
material at August 3, 2025, and July 2�, 2024.

19.  Supplier Finance Program Obligations

To manage our cash flow and related liquidity, we work with our suppliers to optimize our terms and conditions, including 
the extension of payment terms. Our current payment terms with our suppliers, which we deem to be commercially reasonable, 
generally range from 0 to 120 days. �e also maintain agreements with third-party administrators that allow participating 
suppliers to track payment obligations from us, and, at the sole discretion of the supplier, sell those payment obligations to 
participating financial institutions. Our obligations to our suppliers, including amounts due and scheduled payment terms, are 
not impacted. Supplier participation in these agreements is voluntary. �e have no economic interest in a supplier�s decision to 
enter into these agreements and no direct financial relationship with the financial institutions. �e have not pledged assets as 
security or provided any guarantees in connection with these arrangements. The payment of these obligations is included in 
cash provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The rollforward of our outstanding 
obligations confirmed as valid under our supplier finance program, which are included in Accounts payable on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets, for the year ended August 3, 2025 is as follows:

(Millions) 2025

Confirmed obligations outstanding at beginning of the year � 2�� 
Invoices confirmed during the year  1,052 
Confirmed invoices paid during the year  (1,056) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment  1 

Confirmed obligations outstanding at end of the year � 2�0 
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20. Supplemental Financial Statement Data

(Millions) 2025 2024

Accounts receivable
Customer accounts receivable � 558 $ 602 
Allowances  (17)  (15) 
Subtotal � 541 $ 5�7 
Other  42  43 

� 583 $ 630 

(Millions) 2025 2024

Inventories
Raw materials, containers and supplies � 407 $ 376 
Finished products  1,017  1,010 

� 1,424 $ 1,3�6 

(Millions) 2025 2024

Plant assets
Land � 74 $ 74 
Buildings  1,779  1,702 
Machinery and equipment  4,473  4,32� 
Projects in progress  344  314 
Total cost � 6,670 $ 6,41� 
Accumulated depreciation(1)  (3,903)  (3,720) 

� 2,767 $ 2,69� 
������������������������������������������
(1) Depreciation expense was $366 million in 2025, $33� million in 2024 and $339 million in 2023. Buildings are depreciated 

over periods ranging from 7 to 45 years. Machinery and equipment are depreciated over periods generally ranging from 2
to 20 years.

(Millions) 2025 2024

Other assets
Investments � 5 $ � 
Operating lease ROU assets, net of amortization  326  333 
Pension  128  143 
Other  91  7� 

� 550 $ 554 

(Millions) 2025 2024

Accrued liabilities
Accrued compensation and benefits � 189 $ 212 
Fair value of derivatives  14  16 
Accrued trade and consumer promotion programs  159  1�6 
Accrued interest  109  103 
Restructuring  19  24 
Operating lease liabilities  96  90 
Other  102  �9 

� 688 $ 720 
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(Millions) 2025 2024

Other liabilities
Pension benefits � 88 $ 93 
Postretirement benefits  111  12� 
Operating lease liabilities  259  26� 
Deferred compensation  88  92 
Unrecognized tax benefits  14  17 
Restructuring  14  12 
Other  64  66 

� 638 $ 676 

(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

Other expenses � (income)
Amortization of intangible assets(1) � 68 $ 73 $ 4� 
Net periodic benefit expense (income) other than the service cost  11  26  (35) 
Impairment of intangible assets(2)  176  129  � 
Loss on sales of businesses(3)  25  �  13 
Costs associated with acquisition(4)  �  35  5 
Transition services fees  (4)  (2)  (1) 
Other  (3)  �  2 

� 273 $ 261 $ 32 

Advertising and consumer promotion expense(5) � 400 $ 350 $ 365 

Interest expense
Interest expense � 353 $ 259 $ 192 
Less: Interest capitalized  8  10  4 

� 345 $ 249 $ 1�� 
������������������������������������������
(1) Includes accelerated amortization expense related to customer relationship intangible assets of $20 million, $27 million and 

$7 million in 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
(2) See Note 6 for additional information.
(3) See Note 4 for additional information.
(4) Related to the acquisition of Sovos Brands. See Note 3 for additional information.
(5) Included in Marketing and selling expenses.
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(Millions) 2025 2024 2023

��s� �lo�s ��o� ������in� ���i�i�i�s
Other non-cash charges to net earnings

Operating lease ROU asset expense � �� $ 90 $ �0 
Amorti�ation of de�t issuance costs�de�t discount  10  �  4 
Benefit related expense  4  12  4 
Other  7  2�  12 

� 11� $ 13� $ 100 

Other
Benefit related payments � (3�) $ (40) $ (47) 
Other  (5)  (37)  (4) 

� (41) $ (77) $ (51) 

Other Cash Flow Information
Interest paid � 330 $ 194 $ 193 
Interest received � 17 $ 6 $ 4 
Income taxes paid, net of refunds � 2�� $ 252 $ 26� 

�on���s� �n��s�in� ���i�i�i�s
Accrued and unpaid capital expenditures � 14� $ 109 $ 122 
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The management of The Campbell's Company (the Company) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate 
internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America. 

The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: 

� pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company�

� provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and �irectors of the Company� and

� provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition 
of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, any system of internal control over financial reporting, no matter how well defined, may 
not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate. 

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
August 3, 2025. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in . Based on this 
assessment using those criteria, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was 
effective as of August 3, 2025. 

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of August 3, 2025 has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which appears on the 
next page.

�s� Mick J. Beekhuizen
Mick J. Beekhuizen
President and Chief Executive Officer

�s� Carrie L. Anderson
Carrie L. Anderson
Executive �ice President and Chief �inancial Officer

�s� Stanley Polomski
Stanley Polomski
Senior �ice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

September 1�, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of The Campbell's Company

�e have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Campbell's Company and its subsidiaries (the 
"Company") as of August 3, 2025 and �uly 2�, 202�, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, of comprehensive 
income, of equity and of cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended August 3, 2025, including the related notes 
and schedule of valuation and qualifying accounts for each of the three years in the period ended August 3, 2025 appearing on 
page �2 (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). �e also have audited the Company's internal 
control over financial reporting as of August 3, 2025, based on criteria established in 
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of August 3, 2025 and �uly 2�, 202�, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended August 3, 2025 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over 
financial reporting as of August 3, 2025, based on criteria established in  (2013) issued 
by the COSO.

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included 
in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express 
opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting 
based on our audits. �e are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities 
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

�e conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. 
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal 
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the 
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. �e believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company� (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company� and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
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The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial 
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or 
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate 
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

�ndefinite��ived �ntan�i�le �ssets ���air�ent �ests for �ertain �rade�ar�s

As described in Notes 1 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s indefinite-lived trademarks were $3.67� 
billion as of August 3, 2025. Of the carrying value of all indefinite-lived trademarks, $1.470 billion related to the Rao’s
trademark, $470 million related to the Snyder's of Hanover trademark, $31� million related to the Kettle Brand trademark, and 
$2�0 million related to the Pacific Foods trademark. Management conducts a test at least annually in the fourth quarter for 
impairment, or more often if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may be impaired. 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of the asset to the carrying value. Fair 
value is determined using a relief from royalty valuation method based on discounted cash flow analyses that include significant 
assumptions such as revenue growth rates, weighted average costs of capital and assumed royalty rates. If the carrying value 
exceeds fair value, an impairment charge will be recorded to reduce the asset to fair value. In the third quarter of 2025, based on 
recent performance of the Snyder’s of Hanover brand, management lowered its long-term outlook and recognized an 
impairment charge of $150 million on the trademark.

he principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the indefinite-lived intangible assets 
impairment tests for certain trademarks is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when 
developing the fair value estimate of certain trademarks� (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in 
performing procedures and evaluating management’s significant assumptions related to the revenue growth rates and weighted 
average costs of capital for the Rao’s and Snyder’s of Hanover trademarks and the assumed royalty rates for the Rao’s, Snyder's 
of Hanover, Kettle Brand, and Pacific Foods trademarks� and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with 
specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to 
management’s indefinite-lived intangible assets impairment tests for certain trademarks. These procedures also included, among 
others (i) testing management’s process for developing the fair value estimate of certain trademarks� (ii) evaluating the 
appropriateness of the relief from royalty valuation method� (iii) testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used 
in the relief from royalty valuation method� and (iv) evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by 
management related to the revenue growth rates and weighted average costs of capital for the Rao’s and Snyder’s of Hanover 
trademarks and the assumed royalty rates for the Rao’s, Snyder's of Hanover, Kettle Brand, and Pacific Foods trademarks. 
Evaluating management’s assumptions related to the revenue growth rates and the assumed royalty rates involved evaluating 
whether the assumptions used by management were reasonable considering (i) the current and past performance of the certain 
trademarks� (ii) the consistency with external market and industry data� and (iii) whether the assumptions were consistent with 
evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in the 
evaluation of the appropriateness of the relief from royalty valuation method and the reasonableness of the weighted average 
costs of capital and assumed royalty rate assumptions.

�s� PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

�eptember 1�, 2025

�e have served as the Company’s auditor since 1�54.
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Item 9. 

None. 

Item 9A. 

�e, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the President and Chief Executive 
Officer and the Executive �ice President and Chief Financial Officer, have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure 
controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of August 3, 2025 (the 
Evaluation Date). Based on such evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive �ice President and 
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective. 

The annual report of management on our internal control over financial reporting is provided under "Financial Statements 
and Supplementary Data" on page �2. The attestation report of PricewaterhouseCoopers ��P, our independent registered public 
accounting firm, regarding our internal control over financial reporting is provided under "Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data" on pages �3-��.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that materially affected, or were likely to materially 
affect, such internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended August 3, 2025.

Item 9B. 

During the quarter ended August 3, 2025, none of our directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange 
Act) adopted or terminated any contract, instruction or written plan for the purchase or sale of our securities that was intended 
to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) or any "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" in accordance 
with Item �0� of Regulation S-� of the Securities Act.

Item 9C. 

Not applicable.

PART III

Item 10. 

The sections entitled "Item 1 � Election of Directors" and "�oting Securities and Principal Shareholders � Ownership of 
Directors and Executive Officers" in our Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the 2025 Proxy) are 
incorporated herein by reference. The information presented in the section entitled "Corporate �overnance Policies and 
Practices � Board Meetings and Committees � Board Committee Structure" in the 2025 Proxy relating to the members of our 
Audit Committee and the Audit Committee’s financial experts is incorporated herein by reference. The information presented in 
the section entitled "Compensation Discussion and Analysis � �ow Do �e Manage Risks Related to Our Compensation 
Program� � Trading Campbell's Securities" in the 2025 Proxy relating to the company's Insider Trading Policy is incorporated 
herein by reference.

Certain of the information required by this Item relating to our executive officers is set forth under the heading 
"Information about our Executive Officers" in this Report.

�e have adopted a Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers that applies to our Chief 
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Controller and members of the Chief Financial Officer’s financial leadership team. 
The Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers is posted on the Investor portion of our 
website, www.thecampbellscompany.com (under the "About �s�Investors��overnance��overnance Documents" caption). 
�e intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement regarding any amendment to, or a waiver of, a provision of the Code of Ethics 
for the Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers by posting such information on our website. 

�e have also adopted a separate Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to the Board of Directors, our officers 
and all of our employees. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on the Investor portion of our website, 
www.thecampbellscompany.com (under the "About �s�Investors��overnance��overnance Documents" caption). Our 
Corporate �overnance Standards and the charters of our four standing committees of the Board of Directors can also be found 
at this website. Printed copies of the foregoing are available to any shareholder requesting a copy by:

� writing to Investor Relations, The Campbell's Company, 1 Campbell Place, Camden, N� 0�103-1����

� calling �56-3�2-60�1� or

� e-mailing our Investor Relations Department at IR�campbells.com.

Item 11. 

The information presented in the sections entitled "Compensation Discussion and Analysis," "Executive Compensation 
Tables," "Corporate �overnance Policies and Practices � Compensation of Directors," "Corporate �overnance Policies and 
Practices � Board Meetings and Committees � Board Committee Structure � Compensation and Organi�ation Committee 
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Interlocks and Insider Participation" and "Compensation �iscussion and Analysis � Compensation and �rgani�ation 
Committee Report" in the 2025 Proxy is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. 

The information presented in the sections entitled "�oting Securities and Principal Shareholders � �wnership of �irectors 
and Executive �fficers" and "�oting Securities and Principal Shareholders � Principal Shareholders" in the 2025 Proxy is 
incorporated herein by reference. 

Securities �uthori�ed for Issuance Under E�uity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information about the stock that could have been issued under our equity compensation plans 
as of August 3, 2025:

Plan Category

Number of
Securities to be

Issued Upon
Exercise of

Outstanding
Options, Warrants 

and Rights (a)

Weighted-
��erage

Exercise Price of
Outstanding

Options,
Warrants and 

Rights (b)

Number of Securities
Remaining ��ailable

For
Future Issuance Under
E�uity Compensation

Plans
(Excluding Securities
Reflected in the First 

Column) (c)

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Security �olders (1)  6,142,160 $ 45.33  �,5��,1�4 
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Security �olders N�A N�A N�A
Total  6,142,160 $ 45.33  �,5��,1�4 

�����������������������������������
(1) Column (a) represents stock options and restricted stock units outstanding under the 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan, the 

2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan, the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan and replacement equity awards in settlement of 
certain Sovos Brands equity awards previously issued pursuant to the Sovos Brands, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, 
which the company assumed in connection with the acquisition of Sovos Brands on March 12, 2024. Column (a) includes 
3,236,544 TSR performance restricted stock units and EPS performance restricted stock units based on the maximum 
number of shares potentially issuable under the awards, and the number of shares, if any, to be issued pursuant to such 
awards will be determined based upon performance during the applicable three-year performance period. No additional 
awards can be made under either of the 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan or 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan. Future equity 
awards under the 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan may take the form of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, 
stock appreciation rights (SARs), restricted stock, restricted performance stock, unrestricted Campbell stock, restricted 
stock units and performance units. Column (b) represents the weighted-average exercise price of the outstanding stock 
options only� the outstanding restricted stock units are not included in this calculation. Column (c) represents the maximum 
number of future equity awards that can be made under the 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan as of August 3, 2025.

Item 13. 

The information presented in the sections entitled "Corporate �overnance Policies and Practices � Transactions with 
Related Persons," "Item 1 � Election of �irectors," "Corporate �overnance Policies and Practices � �irector Independence" 
and "Corporate �overnance Policies and Practices � Board Meetings and Committees � Board Committee Structure" in the 
2025 Proxy is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. 

The information presented in the sections entitled "Item 2 � Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm � Audit Firm Fees and Services" and "Item 2 � Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm � Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy" in the 2025 Proxy is incorporated herein by reference.

P�R� I�

Item 15.

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report: 

Consolidated Statements of Earnings for 2025, 2024 and 2023

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for 2025, 2024 and 2023

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of August 3, 2025 and �uly 2�, 2024

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for 2025, 2024 and 2023
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Consolidated Statements of Equity for 2025, 2024 and 2023

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered �ublic �ccounting Firm (�C�O� I� 23�)

II � �aluation and �ualifying �ccounts for 2025, 2024 and 2023

Reference is made to Item 15(b) below.

(b) ��hi�its. The Exhibit Index, which immediately precedes the signature page, is incorporated by reference into this Report.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules. Reference is made to Item 15(a)(2) above.

Item 16. 

None.
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IN�E� T� E��IBITS

2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated August 7, 2023, by and among Sovos Brands, Inc., Campbell Soup 
Company and Premium Products Merger Sub, Inc., is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Campbell’s 
Form �-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on August 7, 2023.

3(a) Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended through November 19, 2024, is incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.1 to Campbell’s Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal quarter ended �ctober 27, 2024.

3(b) By-Laws of The Campbell's Company, amended and restated effective November 19, 2024, are incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Campbell’s Form �-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on November 20, 
2024.

4(a) Indenture, dated November 24, 200�, between Campbell and The Bank of New York Mellon, as Trustee, is 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(a) to Campbell’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (SEC file 
number 333-155�2�) filed with the SEC on November 24, 200�.

4(b) Form of First Supplemental Indenture, dated August 2, 2012, among Campbell, The Bank of New York Mellon 
and �ells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Series Trustee, to Indenture dated November 24, 200�, is 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Campbell's Form �-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on 
August 2, 2012.

4(c) Form of Subordinated Indenture between Campbell and �ells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee, is 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Campbell's Registration Statement on Form S-3 (SEC file number 
333-249174) filed with the SEC on September 30, 2020.

4(d) Indenture dated as of March 19, 2015, between Campbell and �ells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, 
is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Campbell's Form �-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC 
on March 19, 2015.

4(e) Form of Subordinated Indenture between the Campbell Soup Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National 
Association, as trustee, is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Campbell’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-3 (SEC file number 333-27404�) filed with the SEC on August 17, 2023.

4(f) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 17, 2023, between Campbell Soup Company, Computershare 
Trust Company, N.A. (as successor in interest to �ells Fargo Bank, National Association), as retiring trustee, and 
U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as successor trustee, is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 
to Campbell’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (SEC file number 333-27404�) filed with the SEC on August 
17, 2023.

4(g) Form of 3.�00� Notes due 2042 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Campbell's Form �-� (SEC file 
number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on August 2, 2012.

4(h) Form of 4.150� Note due 202� is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2.� to Campbell's Form �-� (SEC file 
number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on March 1�, 201�.

4(i) Form of 4.�00� Note due 204� is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2.7 to Campbell's Form �-� (SEC file 
number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on March 1�, 201�.

4(j) Form of 2.375� Note due 2030 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2.1 to Campbell's Form �-� (SEC file 
number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on April 24, 2020.

4(k) Form of 3.125� Note due 2050 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2.2 to Campbell's Form �-� (SEC file 
number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on April 24, 2020.

4(l) �escription of securities incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(p) to Campbell's Form 10-� (SEC file number 
1-3�22) filed with the SEC on September 2�, 2019.

4(m) Form of 202� Note, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.1 to Campbell’s Current Report on Form �-� (SEC 
file number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on March 21, 2024.

4(n) Form of 2027 Note, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.2 to Campbell’s Current Report on Form �-� (SEC 
file number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on March 21, 2024.

4(o) Form of 2029 Note, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.3 to Campbell’s Current Report on Form �-� (SEC 
file number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on March 21, 2024.

4(p) Form of 2034 Note, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.4 to Campbell’s Current Report on Form �-� (SEC 
file number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on March 21, 2024.

4(q) Form of 2035 Note, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.1 to Campbell’s Current Report on Form �-� (SEC 
file number 1-3�22) filed on �ctober 2, 2024.

4(r) Form of 2054 Note, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.2 to Campbell’s Current Report on Form �-� (SEC 
file number 1-3�22) filed on �ctober 2, 2024.
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10(a)� Campbell Soup Company 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference to Campbell’s 2015 Proxy 
Statement (SEC file number 1-3�22) filed �ith the SEC on October 9, 2015.

10(b)� Campbell Soup Company 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan, is incorporated by reference to Appendix B to 
Campbell’s 2022 Proxy Statement (SEC file number 1-3�22) filed �ith the SEC on October 1�, 2022.

10(c)� Campbell Soup Company Annual Incentive Plan, as amended on November 19, 2014, is incorporated by 
reference to Campbell’s 2014 Proxy Statement (SEC file number 1-3�22) filed �ith the SEC on October 1, 2014.

10(d)� Campbell Soup Company Supplemental Employees’ Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective January 
1, 2009, is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(c) to Campbell’s Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the 
fiscal quarter ended February 1, 2009.

10(e)� First Amendment to the Campbell Soup Company Supplemental Employees’ Retirement Plan, effective as of 
�ecember 31, 2010, is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(c) to Campbell’s Form 10-� (SEC file number 
1-3�22) for the fiscal quarter ended January 30, 2011.

10(f)� Form of 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement is incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10(dd) to Campbell's Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2016. 

10(g)� Form of 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan Performance Stock Unit Agreement (Earnings Per Share) is 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(b) to Campbell's Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal 
quarter ended October 30, 2016.

10(h)� Form of 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan Performance Stock Unit Agreement (Total Shareholder Return) is 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(ff) to Campbell’s Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal year 
ended July 31, 2016.

10(i)� Form of 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan Time-Lapse Restricted Stock Unit Agreement is incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10(c) to Campbell's Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal quarter ended 
October 30, 2016.

10(�)� Form of 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan Time-Lapse Restricted Stock Unit Agreement incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10(s) to Campbell's Form 10-�(SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal year ended August 1, 2021.

10(k)� Form of 2015 Long-Term Incentive Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement is incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10(t) to Campbell's Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal year ended August 1, 2021.

10(l)�

Form of 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan Time-Lapse Restricted Stock Unit Agreement is incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10(�) to Campbell's Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal year ended July 30, 
2023.

10(m)�

Form of 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Earnings Per Share) is 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(x) to Campbell's Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal year 
ended July 30, 2023.

10(n)� Form of 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Total Shareholder 
Return) is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(y) to Campbell's Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the 
fiscal year ended July 30, 2023.

10(o)� 2025 Non-Employee �irector Fees are incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Campbell’s Form 10-� (SEC 
file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal quarter ended October 2�, 2024. 

10(p)� Campbell Soup Company Executive Severance Pay Plan is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Campbell's 
Form �-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) filed �ith the SEC on April 2, 2019.

10(q)� First Amendment to the Campbell Soup Company Executive Severance Pay Plan, effective September 1, 2023 is 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(hh) to Campbell's Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal 
year ended July 30, 2023.

10(r) �oting Agreement, dated August �, 2023, by and among certain funds associated �ith Advent International 
Corporation and Campbell Soup Company, is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Campbell’s Form �-� 
(SEC file number 1-3�22) filed �ith the SEC on August �, 2023. 

10(s) Five-Year Credit Agreement, dated April 16, 2024, by and among Campbell Soup Company, the Eligible 
Subsidiaries party thereto from time to time, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the other 
lenders named therein, is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Campbell’s Current Report on Form �-� 
(SEC file number 1-3�22) filed �ith the SEC on April 16, 2024.

10(t)� Form of Amended and Restated Change in Control Severance Protection Agreement, is incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10(ee) to Campbell's Annual Report on Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal year ended 
July 2�, 2024.
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10(u)� Form of 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Earnings Per Share) is 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Campbell�s Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal 
quarter ended October 27, 2024.

10(v)� Form of 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Total Shareholder 
Return) is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Campbell�s Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the 
fiscal quarter ended October 27, 2024.

10(w)� Campbell Soup Company Supplemental Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective October 1, 2024, is 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Campbell’s Form 10-� (SEC file number 1-3�22) for the fiscal 
quarter ended October 27, 2024.

10(x) Extension Agreement, dated as of August 5, 2025, by and among The Campbell’s Company, the Eligible 
Subsidiaries party thereto from time to time, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the other 
lenders named therein, is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Campbell�s Current Report on Form �-� 
(SEC file number 1-3�22) filed with the SEC on August 5, 2025.

10(y)� Form of 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Fiscal Year 2026 - 
Ad�usted Earnings Per Share �rowth).

10(z)� Form of 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Fiscal Year 2026 - 
Organic Sales �rowth).

19 Insider Trading Policy.

21 Subsidiary List.

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

24 Powers of Attorney.

31(a) Certification of Mick J. Beekhuizen pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

31(b) Certification of Carrie L. Anderson pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

32(a) Certification of Mick J. Beekhuizen pursuant to 1� U.S.C. Section 1350.

32(b) Certification of Carrie L. Anderson pursuant to 1� U.S.C. Section 1350.

97 Amended and Restated Incentive Compensation Clawback Policy.

101.INS Inline �BRL Instance Document

101.SC� Inline �BRL Schema Document

101.CAL Inline �BRL Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF Inline �BRL Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB Inline �BRL Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE Inline �BRL Presentation Linkbase Document

104 The cover page from this Annual Report on Form 10-�, formulated in Inline �BRL (see exhibit 101)

�This exhibit is a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, Campbell has 
duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

September 1�, ���5
THE CAMPBELL'S COMPANY

By: �s� Carrie L. Anderson
Carrie L. Anderson

Executive �ice President and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by 
the following persons on behalf of Campbell and in the capacities indicated on September 1�, ���5.

Signatures

�s� Mick J. Beekhuizen �
Mick J. Beekhuizen Maria �eresa �ilado

President and Chief Executive Officer and Director Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

�s� Carrie L. Anderson �
Carrie L. Anderson �rant �. �ill

Executive �ice President and Chief Financial Officer Director
(Principal Financial Officer)

�s� Stanley Polomski �
Stanley Polomski Sarah �ofstetter

Senior �ice President and Controller Director
(Principal Accounting Officer)

� �
�eith R. McLoughlin Marc B. Lautenbach

Chair and Director Director

� �
Fabiola R. Arredondo Mary Alice D. Malone, Jr.

Director Director

� �
�oward M. Averill �urt �. Schmidt

Director Director

� �
Bennett Dorrance, Jr. Archbold D. van Beuren

Director Director

� By:  �s� Charles A. Brawley, III
Name: Charles A. Brawley, III
�itle:   Executive �ice President, �eneral Counsel 
and Corporate Secretary,
as Attorney-in-fact
(pursuant to powers of attorney)
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Schedule II

THE CAMPBELL'S COMPANY
�aluation and �ualifying Accounts

For the Fiscal Years ended August 3, 2025, July 28, 2024, and July 30, 2023

(Millions)

Balance at 
Beginning of 

Period

Charged to�
(Reduction in) 

Costs
and

Expenses Deductions

Balance at
End of
Period

Fiscal year ended August 3, 2025
Cash discount $ 4 � 115 � (115) � 4 
Bad debt reserve  �  4  (2)  10 
Returns reserve(1)  3  �  �  3 
Total Accounts receivable allowances $ 15 � 11� � (11�) � 1� 

Fiscal year ended July 2�, 2024
Cash discount $ 6 $ 115 $ (117) $ 4 
Bad debt reserve  10  (2)  �  � 
Returns reserve(1)  3  �  �  3 
Total Accounts receivable allowances $ 19 $ 113 $ (117) $ 15 

Fiscal year ended July 30, 2023
Cash discount $ 5 $ 117 $ (116) $ 6 
Bad debt reserve  4  7  (1)  10 
Returns reserve(1)  3  �  �  3 
Total Accounts receivable allowances $ 12 $ 124 $ (117) $ 19 

���������������������������������������
(1) The returns reserve is evaluated quarterly and adjusted accordingly. During each period, returns are charged to Net sales in 

the Consolidated Statements of Earnings as incurred. Actual returns were approximately $109 million in 2025 and 2024, 
and $105 million in 2023, or less than 2� of Net sales.
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EXHIBIT 31(a)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT
TO RULE 13a-14(a)

I, Mick J. Beekhuizen, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Campbell's Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report 
financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 18, 2025

By: /s/ Mick J. Beekhuizen
Name: Mick J. Beekhuizen
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31(b)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT
TO RULE 13a-14(a)

I, Carrie L. Anderson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Campbell's Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report 
financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 18, 2025

By: /s/ Carrie L. Anderson
Name: Carrie L. Anderson
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer



EXHIBIT 32(a)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of The Campbell's Company (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
August 3, 2025 (the “Report”), I, Mick J. Beekhuizen, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my 
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.

Date: September 18, 2025

By: /s/ Mick J. Beekhuizen
Name: Mick J. Beekhuizen
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the 
Report or as a separate disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement required under Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained 
by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 32(b)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of The Campbell's Company (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
August 3, 2025 (the “Report”), I, Carrie L. Anderson, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, 
hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, 
to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.

Date: September 18, 2025
By: /s/ Carrie L. Anderson

Name: Carrie L. Anderson
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the 
Report or as a separate disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement required under Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained 
by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



In fiscal 2025, shareholders approved  
the change of the company’s name to

This subtle yet important change retains the iconic name 
recognition, reputation and equity the company has built over  

156 years while reflecting the full breadth of its portfolio.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The papers utilized in the production of this  
Annual Report are all certified for Forest 
Stewardship Council (FSC®) standards, which 
promote environmentally appropriate,  
socially beneficial and economically viable 
management of the world’s forests.  
This annual report was printed at a landfill- 
free, Sustainable Green Printing partnership  
(SGP)-certified facility.

Headquarters
The Campbell’s Company  
1 Campbell Place, Camden, NJ 08103-1799 
(856) 342-4800 • (856) 342-3878 (Fax)

Stock Exchange Listing
The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC  
Ticker Symbol: CPB

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare Trust Company, N.A. 
P.O. Box 43006 
Providence, RI 02940-3006 
1-800-780-3203

Independent Accountants 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Two Commerce Square 
2001 Market Street, Suite 1800 
Philadelphia, PA 19103-7042

Dividends
We have paid dividends since the company became public  
in 1954. Dividends are normally paid quarterly, near the end  
of January, April, July and October.

A dividend reinvestment plan is available to shareholders. For 
information about dividends or the dividend reinvestment 
plan, write to Dividend Reinvestment Plan Agent, The Campbell’s 
Company, P.O. Box 43006, Providence, RI 02940-3006.  
Or call: (781) 575-2723 or 1-800-780-3203.

Publications
For copies of the Annual Report, the SEC Form 10-K or other 
financial information, visit investor.thecampbellscompany.com.

For copies of Campbell’s Corporate Responsibility Report,  
write to Stewart Lindsay, Chief Sustainability Officer  
at csr_feedback@campbells.com.

Information Sources
Inquiries regarding our products may be addressed to 
Campbell’s Consumer Response Center at the Headquarters 
address or call 1-800-257-8443.

Investors and financial analysts may contact Rebecca Gardy, 
Senior Vice President, Chief Investor Relations Officer,  
at the Headquarters address or call (856) 342-6081.

Media and public relations inquiries should be directed  
to James Regan, Director of External Communications,  
at the Headquarters address or call (856) 219-6409.

Communications concerning share transfer, lost certificates, 
dividends and change of address, should be directed  
to Computershare Trust Company, N.A., 1-800-780-3203.

Shareholder Information Service
For the latest quarterly business results or other information 
requests such as dividend dates, shareholder programs  
or product news, visit investor.thecampbellscompany.com.

Campbell’s Brands
Product trademarks owned or licensed by The Campbell’s 
Company and/or its subsidiaries appearing in the narrative text 
of this report are italicized.

Impact. To read our Corporate Responsibility Report  
and learn more about our sustainability strategy, go  
to thecampbellscompany.com/our-impact.

Careers. To explore career opportunities, visit us at: 
careers.thecampbellscompany.com.

On the Web. Visit us at: thecampbellscompany.com 
for company news and information.

Instagram. Follow us: @TheCampbellsCo for stories  
about our company, programs and brands.

LinkedIn. For stories about our company and brands, follow 
us at: Linkedin.com/company/the-campbells-company
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